

Eye Disorders

Effective Date: April 1, 2017

Contributors

Editor-in-Chief: Kurt T. Hegmann, MD, MPH, FACOEM, FACP

Evidence-based Practice Eye Panel Chair: Bernard R. Blais, MD, FAAO, FACOEM, FACS

Evidence-based Practice Eye Panel Members:

Panel members represent expertise in ophthalmology, optometry, occupational medicine, medical toxicology (preventive medicine), and law. Identities are blinded for external peer-review.

Methodology Committee Consultant:

Kurt T. Hegmann, MD, MPH, FACOEM, FACP

Research Conducted By:

Kurt T. Hegmann, MD, MPH, FACOEM, FACP Jeremy J. Biggs, MD MSPH Kristine Hegmann, MSPH, CIC Matthew A. Hughes, MD, MPH Matthew S. Thiese, PhD, MSPH Ulrike Ott, PhD, MSPH Atim C. Effiong, MPH Brenden Ronna Leslie Cepeda Echeverria Dillon Fix Austen James Knudson Jeremiah Lafayette Dortch Zachary Cooper Arnold Alzina Koric Ninoska De Jesus Katherine Anne Schwei Louise Juliet

Specialty Society and Society Representative Listing:

ACOEM acknowledges the following organizations and their representatives who served as reviewers of the "Eye Disorders Guideline." Their contributions are greatly appreciated. By listing the following individuals or organizations, it does not infer that these individuals or organizations support or endorse the eye treatment guidelines developed by ACOEM. An additional organization wished to remain anonymous.

American Association of Occupational Health Nurses

Kim Olszewski, DNP, CRNP, COHN-S/CM, FAAOHN

American College of Emergency Physicians Charles J. Gerardo, MD, MHS Richard D. Shih, MD

Table of Contents

Summary of Recommendations	5
Overview Definitions	8 9
Impact	9
Risk and Causation	10
General Approach and Basic Principles	12
Initial Care	15
Initial Assessment Presenting Symptoms	
History	15
Red Flags	17
Examination	
Diagnostic Approach	21
Diagnostic Criteria	21
Management Approach Follow-up Visits	24 24
Screening and Diagnostic Recommendations Vision Screening	25 25
Color Vision Testing	26
Peripheral Vision Testing	28
Depth Perception	29
Foreign Bodies, Rust Rings, and Corneal Abrasions Related Terms	
Overview	32
Risk and Causation	
Signs and Symptoms	
Red Flags	
Job Analysis and Prevention	
Diagnosis	
Diagnostic Recommendations	
Treatment Recommendations	45
Follow-Up Visits	61
Traumatic Injuries Overview	61 61
Infections and Corneal Ulcers Related Terms	65 65
Overview	65
Risk and Causation	65
Signs and Symptoms	66
Red Flags	66

Diagnosis	67
Diagnostic Recommendations	69
Treatment	71
Blepharoconjunctivitis Overview	
Treatment Recommendations	78
Allergic Disorders Related Terms	80
Overview	
Risk and Causation	
Signs and Symptoms	81
Red Flags	81
Diagnosis	81
Treatment	84
Keratoconjunctivitis	91
Chemical Burns	91
Overview	91
Prevention	91
Education	91
Treatment Recommendations	91
Thermal Burns Overview	99
Treatment Recommendations	
Pterygium Overview	
Treatment Recommendations	
References	

Summary of Recommendations

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation	
	Adenovirus Screening, Routine Use for Infectious Conjunctivitis	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Adenovirus Screening	Adenovirus Screening, Select Patients for Infectious Conjunctivitis	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Anesthetics, Topical	Topical Anesthetics for Corneal Abrasions, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)	
	Antibiotics for Bacterial Conjunctivitis and Bacterial Infections Complicating Corneal Ulcers	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)	
	Antibiotics for Blepharoconjunctivitis	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Antibiotics	Antibiotics for Viral Conjunctivitis	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Prophylactic Ophthalmic Antibiotics for Organic Matter Injuries	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Prophylactic Ophthalmic Antibiotics for Simple Corneal Abrasion, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Antifungal Medications for Fungal Conjunctivitis and Fungal Infections Complicating Corneal Ulcers	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Antifungals	Prophylactic Ophthalmic Antifungals for Routine Prophylaxis of Simple Corneal Abrasions, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Antinene	High Molecular Weight Specific Antigens	Strongly Recommended, Evidence (A)	
Antigens	Low Molecular Weight Specific Antigens	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Antihistamines Antihistamine and/or Mast Cell Stabilization Medications for Allergic Diseases		Strongly Recommended, Evidence (A)	
	Artificial Tears or Lubrication for Chemical Ocular Burns	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Artificial Tears	Artificial Tears or Lubrication for Extensive Corneal Abrasions, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Artificial Tears or Lubrication for Thermal Ocular Burns	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Computed Tomography	CT for Evaluation of Ocular Foreign Body and Possible Orbital Fracture	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Contact Lenses	Therapeutic Contact Lens for Corneal Abrasions, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies	Not Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	Depth Perception Screening for Periodic Surveillance Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)	
Depth Perception	Depth Perception Screening for Preplacement Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)	
Screening	Depth Perception Screening for Select Post-injury Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)	
	Depth Perception Screening for Select Postoperative Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)	

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation	
Education	Education for Allergic Conditions	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Education	Education for Potential Eye Injuries	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Epidermal Growth Factor	Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF) for Corneal Abrasions, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies	Not Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Exposure Reduction	Management of Allergic Eye Symptoms without Asthma (Reduction of Exposure)	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Eye Patching for Chemical Ocular Burns	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Evo Patching	Eye Patching for Corneal Abrasion	Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B)	
Eye Fatching	Eye Patching for Thermal Ocular Burns	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Eye Patching for Welder's Flash	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Foreign Body Removal	Foreign Body Removal of Superficial Foreign Body(les) with Cotton Swab, Needle or Magnet	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Adjuvant Glucocorticosteroids for Bacterial Conjunctivitis and Bacterial Infections Complicating Corneal Ulcers	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Glucocorticosteroid Drops for Chemical Ocular Burns	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Glucocorticosteroids	Glucocorticosteroid Drops for Inflamed Pterygia or Pingueculae	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	Glucocorticosteroid Eye Drops for Allergic Diseases	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Glucocorticosteroids for Symptoms of Viral Conjunctivitis	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Gram Stain, Potassium Iodide (KOH) Preparation, Culture and Sensitivity of Eye Infections (Routine)	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Gram Stain, KOH	Gram Stain, Potassium Iodide (KOH) preparation, Culture and Sensitivity of Eye Infections (Select Patients)	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Immunological Testing	IgG Specific Immunological Testing for High Molecular Weight Specific Antigens	Not Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	Copious Irrigation for Chemical Eye Exposures	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Copious Irrigation for Removal of Superficial Foreign Body(ies)	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Copious Irrigation for Thermal Eye Exposures	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Irrigation	Irrigating Systems (e.g., Morgan Lens) for Chemical Eye Exposures	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Irrigating Systems (e.g., Morgan Lens) for Thermal Eye Exposures	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Lid Hygiene	Daily Lid Hygiene for Blepharoconjunctivitis	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Magnetic Resonance Imaging	MRI for Diagnosis of Foreign Body and Corneal Abrasion	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Bevacizumab for Prevention of Pterygia Recurrence	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Medications, Other	Topical Aminocaproic Acid for Traumatic Hyphema	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)	
	Tranexamic Acid for Traumatic Hyphema	Recommended, Evidence (C)	

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation	
Mydriatic Medications	Mydriatic Medications for Simple Corneal Abrasions, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies	Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B)	
	Non-steroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs for Symptoms of Viral Conjunctivitis	Not Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	NSAID Drops after Removal of Rust Ring or Foreign Body Removal	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)	
NSAIDS	NSAID Drops for Chemical Ocular Burns	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	NSAID Drops for Inflamed Pterygia or Pingueculae	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	NSAID Drops for Thermal Ocular Burns	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	NSAID Drops for Welder's Flash	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	NSAID Eye Drops for Allergic Diseases	Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)	
Opioids, Topical	Topical Opioids for Analgesia of Corneal Abrasions, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies	Not Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	Protective Eyewear for Prevention of Eye Injuries	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	Safety Glasses in Most Employment Settings	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Protective Eyewear	Safety Goggles, Face Shields and/or Splash Guards in High-Risk Jobs for Penetrating Eye Trauma or Chemical Splashes	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Rust Ring Removal	Removal of Rust Ring	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Slit Lamp	Use of Slit Lamp and Fluorescein Stain for Evaluation and Diagnosis of Foreign Body and Corneal Abrasion	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Surgery	Pterygium Excision for Pterygia	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	Amniotic Membrane Transplantation for Chemical Ocular Burns	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	Amniotic Membrane Transplantation with Medical Therapy for Thermal Ocular Burns	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
Transplantation	Corneal Transplantation for Blindness or Other Corneal Scarring/Defects after Chemical Eye Exposures	Strongly Recommended, Evidence (A)	
	Standalone Amniotic Membrane Transplantation for Acute Ocular Burns	No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
	Color Vision Screening for Periodic Surveillance Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	Color Vision Screening for Preplacement Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (C)	
	Color Vision Screening for Select Post-injury Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)	
vision Screening	Color Vision Screening for Select Postoperative Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)	
	Peripheral Vision Screening for Periodic Surveillance Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)	
	Peripheral Vision Screening for Preplacement Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)	

Test/Procedure/Treatment	Details	Recommendation
	Peripheral Vision Screening for Select Post-injury Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)
	Peripheral Vision Screening for Select Postoperative Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)
	Vision Screening for Periodic Surveillance Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (C)
	Vision Screening for Post-injury Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)
	Vision Screening for Postoperative Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (I)
	Vision Screening for Preplacement Examinations	Recommended, Evidence (C)
Visual Acuity Screening	Visual Acuity Screening When Evaluating Eye Conditions	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
V mou	X-Ray for Evaluation for Simple Abrasions, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies	Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
A-ray	X-ray for Evaluation of Ocular Foreign Bodies and Concerns about Orbital Fracture	Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Overview

The Eye Disorders treatment guideline is designed to provide health care providers with evidence-based guidance on the treatment of working-age adults with potentially work-related eye disorders, whether acute, subacute, chronic, or postoperative. While the primary patient population target is working-age adults, the principles may apply more broadly.

This treatment guideline discusses the initial assessment and diagnosis of patients with eye injuries and disorders that are potentially work-related, identification of red flags that may suggest the presence of a serious underlying medical condition, initial management, diagnostic considerations and special studies to identify clinical pathology, work-relatedness, modified duty and activity, and return to work, as well as further management considerations including delayed recovery. Algorithms for patient management are also included and schematize how to generally manage eye disorders. This guideline does not address certain eye disorder categories such as congenital disorders or malignancies. It also does not address specific intraoperative procedures. For those patients with allergies who also have work-related asthma, the <u>Occupational/Work-Related Asthma Guideline</u> may be of assistance. This includes recommendations on exposure management of sensitizer-induced asthma, irritant-induced asthma, and criteria for removal from exposure.

The objectives of this guideline include baseline evaluations, diagnostic tests and imaging, return to work, medications, patching, injections, and operative procedures. Comparative effectiveness is addressed where available. To be more inclusive, this guideline includes some disorders that may not be considered work-related by certain jurisdictions. It excludes disorders that are considered to be entirely nonoccupational. It is recognized that there are differences in workers' compensation systems [1] and regional differences in treatment approaches.[2-4]

The Evidence-based Practice Eye Panel and the Research Team have complete editorial independence from the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine and Reed Group, neither of which influenced the guidelines. The literature is routinely monitored and searched at least annually for evidence that would overturn this guidance. The guideline is planned to be comprehensively updated at least every five years, or more frequently should evidence require it.

A detailed methodology document used for guideline development including evidence selection, scoring, incorporation of cost considerations, [5, 6] and formulation of recommendations is available <u>online</u> as a full-length document [7] and has also been summarized elsewhere. [8, 9]

The health questions for acute, subacute, chronic, and postoperative eye disorders addressed by this guideline include:

- 1. What diagnostic studies have been used for pre/placement examinations? Screening examinations?
- 2. What evidence supports the initial assessment and diagnostic approach?
- 3. What red flags signify serious underlying condition(s)?
- 4. What diagnostic approaches and special studies identify clinical pathology?
- 5. What initial treatment approaches have evidence of efficacy?
- 6. What is the evidence of work-relatedness for various diagnoses?
- 7. When is patching appropriate?
- 8. What modified duty limitations are effective and recommended?
- 9. When is return to work status recommended?
- 10. When initial treatment options fail, what evidence supports other interventions?
- 11. When and for what conditions are injections and other invasive procedures recommended?
- 12. When and for what conditions is surgery recommended?
- 13. Which surgeries are recommended for which conditions?

All evidence in the prior eye disorders guideline garnered from four databases (Cochrane, PubMed, CINAHL, and Scopus) was included in this guideline. Additionally, new comprehensive searches for evidence were performed in those databases up through 2016 to help assure complete capture. There was no limit on year of publication. Search terms are listed with each table of evidence. Guidance was developed with sufficient detail to facilitate the assessment of compliance[5] and auditing/ monitoring.[6] Alternative options to manage conditions are provided.

Because few studies solely evaluate patients with work-related eye disorders, studies that include different populations were used to develop the recommendations. In addition, most studies that focus on pharmaceuticals, appliances, and specific devices are industry sponsored. In certain areas, this may have made little difference as the comparisons were between the medication and placebo and the results may be stark. However, in other studies, the comparison groups may have been suboptimally treated and produced a bias in favor of the medication or device. In addition, industry-sponsored studies have been shown to frequently have better results and lower complication rates than studies conducted by independent investigators.

This guideline has undergone extensive external peer review. This guideline includes all criteria for the AGREE[6], IOM criteria[5] AMSTAR [10], [11] [12] and GRADE II [13] criteria. In accordance with the IOM's Trustworthy Guidelines, detailed records are kept, including responses to external peer reviewers.[5]

Definitions

The classifications of *acute* (<1 month), *subacute* (1 to 3 months), and *chronic* (>3 months) are used in this guideline where appropriate and are based on commonly accepted durations.

Rationales for recommendations may refer to costs, which are defined as *low* (<\$100), *moderate* (\$100-\$500), and *high* (>\$500).

Impact

Based on population-based data, it is estimated that 3.5-7.7% of the general US population does not have binocular visual correction of at least 20/50, with considerable differences based on race/ethnicity (Lee 00). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention estimated that 3% of adults over 40 years are either blind, have visual fields less than 20 degrees, and/or have visual impairment (20/40 or less) [14]. Approximately

16% of adults over age 40 have cataract(s), 3% are blind (20/200 or less), and 2% have glaucoma [14]. Adequacy of visual acuity is a major criterion for many jobs, and visual impairments have been associated with increased risks of injuries [15]. Color deficiencies are common but highly variable, affecting approximately 8% of the male population with European ancestry [16]. Color perception is a requisite criterion for numerous occupations; specific requirements vary widely depending on job requirements. The workplace is a common source of ocular injury [17-20] and emergency department surveillance data indicate males in their third decade of life have the highest incidence rates (64.8% *cf* females) [21]. Eye injury claims at the largest US workers compensation insurer constituted 5% of all workers compensation claims [22]. Some permanent eye disability cases are also occupationally related. For example, disabling ocular injuries (8.5%) are reportedly the second most common injury in construction workers after low back pain (14.8%) [23].

The average cost of an occupationally-related eye injury has been estimated at \$1,463 (OSHA), although this is likely an underestimate due to inadequate inclusion of indirect costs to employers for rehiring and retraining replacement workers, the loss of productivity, reduced quality work, administrative costs, and losses to the patient and patient's family (including productivity at home).

Risk and Causation

The etiology of most ocular injuries is noncontroversial. The eye is well innervated with nociceptors (pain sensation). The mechanism of injury and onset of symptoms is thus acute, noticeable, and readily discernible. Ocular diseases are naturally more challenging, with many factors producing ocular diseases such as pterygia and cataracts (see <u>Work-Relatedness Guideline</u>).

Acute Trauma

Determining the work-relatedness of ocular injuries (e.g., foreign bodies, rust rings, corneal lacerations, abrasions, contusions, hyphemas, burns) is not difficult because the mechanism of injury and acuity of symptom onset generally begets a straightforward determination of work-relatedness [22, 24-46]. Chemical injuries are common [47-60].

The construction industry has many reported risks for ocular injuries [47, 61-66]. Manufacturing is also a common industry with reportedly elevated risks [47, 50, 67, 68].

Welding-related tasks constituted an estimated 8.2% of all workers' compensation claims at the largest US workers' compensation insurer, with actual welding as the most common cause of occupational eye injury (38.5%), followed by grinding (17.5%), multiple tasks (3.8%), standing/walking/observing (3.4%), cleaning/brushing (3.3%), manual material handling (2.6%), and numerous other activities [22]. Employment in that study was most commonly in manufacturing (60.7%), construction (13.7%), services (12.1%), and wholesale/retail trade (5.9%).

Eyewear is believed to be strongly protective for eye injuries, although quality studies are sparse (likely largely due to the ease of implementation of eyewear programs) [26, 68-77]. Barriers to eyewear usage and/or injury reportedly include younger age [78], lack of comfort/fit [79], fogging [79], scratching of the eyewear [79], being rushed [80], fatigue [80], faulty equipment [80], foreign workforces [56, 81-84], and lack of safety training [78, 79, 85]. A case-crossover trial found unfamiliar work to be a considerable risk for ocular injury [80]. An ecological study found an inverse relationship between unemployment conditions and risks of report of ocular injury [86].

Enucleation is a sequellae of severe work-related eye injuries [24, 87]. A university-based case series reported occupational causes in 13.5% of cases and motor vehicle crashes in 13.5% of cases [24]. Open globe injuries are similarly reported to commonly arise from occupational injuries [27, 32, 40, 56, 63, 75, 88-95].

Welder's Flash (Photokeratitis)

Acute, unprotected ultraviolet radiation exposures (UV-A, UV-B) are known to burn the cornea and conjunctiva [96-101]. Welding is the most commonly reported exposure. Other reported examples include ultraviolet lamps for poultry abattoir disinfection [102], germicidal medical lamps [103], and damaged protective covers on mercury vapor lamps [104].

Pterygia

The worldwide prevalence of pterygia is estimated at 10%. Men have an approximately 7% higher risk for pterygia compared with women [105, 106]. For individuals in their 40s to 60s, the risk for pterygia approximately doubles [105]. Cigarette smoking is estimated to *reduce* risk of pterygia by 18% [107]. Conjunctival tumors are more common among farmers compared with controls [108]. Outdoor activity has been associated with 76% higher risk of pterygia [105, 109-116]. There is a 3.6-fold higher risk of pterygia among those living at latitudes of 0°-10° compared with those at 40°-50° [105]. Other reported risks include alcohol [117], low educational status [117-119], high systolic blood pressure [120], dry eyes [117, 119], not using sunglasses [117, 119], not using a hat [117, 119], light complexion [110], and dark complexion [112]. Use of sunglasses has been estimated to reduce risk up to 5.6-fold [110].

Retinal Laser-Induced Damage

Lasers are highly variable in their intensity and ability to damage tissue [121-123]. Reports include associated retinal and other ocular damage [124-133] among military [134-136] and commercial pilots [137, 138].

Cataracts

A cataract is a lens opacity that obscures vision. Cataracts are typically subdivided according to their anatomic location (i.e., nuclear, cortical, posterior subcapsular) and severity (size and intensity) of visual impairments by various classification systems [139-148]. The different anatomic locations may occur simultaneously in one patient. Elderly individuals are most susceptible to nuclear cataracts, whereas younger patients are more susceptible to posterior subcapsular cataracts.

Age is a robust risk factor for cataracts [149-162], with National Health Interview Survey data suggesting that individuals older than 75 years have a 10-fold greater risk compared with young adults [163]. Low educational status is a risk for cataracts [163]. Genetic factors are reported risks [164-167].

Age-related and cortical cataracts have been associated with increased carbohydrate intake and glycemic index [168]. Microvascular retinal changes associated with hypertension reportedly predict the risk of nuclear cataracts [169], as does hypertensive status [170]. Diabetes mellitus increases cataract risk by approximately 67-80% [149, 163, 170-173]. Oral hypoglycemic agents and insulin have been associated with 2-fold and 3.4-fold increased risks, respectively, which appear to be markers for diabetes rather than additional independent risks [166]. Use of glucocorticosteroids also increases risk [166, 174].

Smoking and alcohol have both reportedly increased risk of cataracts [177]. Obesity has been found to increase the risk of age-related cataracts, particularly posterior subcapsular cataracts [166, 175]. Lipids have been associated with increased risk [171]. Statins have been found to reduce the risk of nuclear cataracts by 29% [171] and cataract extractions by 34% [176]. Kidney disease is a reported risk for cataracts [160].

Aspirin and thiazide diuretic use have been associated with reduced risk of cataracts [166]. Dietary lutein and zeaxanthin have been found to reduce the risk of cataracts [178]. Dietary but not supplemental vitamin E has been associated with a reduced risk of age-related cataracts [179, 180], although reductions of 9-60% in cataract risk associated with multivitamin use have been reported [181, 182]. Glutathione S-transferases polymorphisms have been associated with cataracts [183]. Cataracts have been associated with subsequent age-related maculopathy [150], as well as elevated mortality [170, 184, 185].

Ultraviolet (UV) radiation, especially UVB, has been associated with cataracts [186-189]. This risk may be limited to cortical cataracts [190-192]. Steelworkers and other open hearth workers exposed to heat on the job may have an increased risk of cataracts [193-195]. Airline pilots and astronauts are reportedly at increased risk [196, 197]. A large cohort study suggested that all three types of cataracts were interestingly less common in rural residents than urban or suburban residents [198].

Cataracts may be associated with acute exposures to radiation of 2 Grays [199, 200]. Chronic cumulative exposures above 1 Gray are associated with cortical but not nuclear cataracts [201]. Healthcare workers exposed to ionizing radiation are also reportedly at increased risk of cataracts [202-205]. Work with trinitrotoluene has been associated with cataracts [206].

Post-traumatic cataracts occur, although there is no classification system for these more heterogeneous cataracts. The outcomes are more varied, largely because of the diversity and severity of causes [207-209]. Prospective cohort data suggest that a recalled history of ocular injury was associated with increased risk of posterior subcapsular and cortical cataracts [210].

General Approach and Basic Principles

The principal recommendations for assessing and treating patients with eye symptoms are as follows:

- The initial assessment focuses on detecting indicators of potentially serious injury or disease, termed *red flags*, which require urgent assessment and treatment as indicated.
- The foci for the treatment of patients with eye symptoms include optimal medical care, monitoring for complications, facilitating the healing process, assisting stay at work or early return to work in a modified or full-duty capacity, and surgical intervention(s) when indicated.
- Patients recovering from eye problems may usually stay at work or consider early return to modified work as their condition permits.
- Occupational factors should be addressed when the disorder is believed to be caused by work.
- Prevention measures should be addressed when the injury or disorder has a means of ready prevention.
- Nonphysical factors (e.g., psychosocial, workplace, or socioeconomic problems) should be addressed in an effort to resolve delayed recovery (see <u>Cornerstones of Disability Prevention and Management</u>).

Blunt Trauma: Ocular contusions are caused by blunt trauma to the eye or periorbital structures that may cause contusion of the globe and/or periorbita. Although there may be no symptoms, most patients have local pain, visual loss, diplopia, or a red eye. The clinician may observe any of the following: eyelid ecchymosis, corneal edema, subconjunctival hemorrhage, hyphema, reduced visual acuity, abnormal visual fields, lens dislocation, lens subluxation, retinal tears, retinal edema, retinal detachment, and/or restricted ocular motion (e.g., if extraocular muscles are trapped in a blowout fracture).

Retrobulbar Hemorrhage: A retrobulbar hemorrhage may increase the pressure on the globe such that the intraocular pressure may become greater than the perfusion pressure of the eye, leading to total ischemia of the retina. A relaxing incision at the lateral canthus must be completed within 10 minutes of the rise in IOP or the eye may be irreversibly damaged secondary to the high IOP.

Orbital Floor Fractures: Orbital floor fractures are susceptible to causing diplopia, which may or may not resolve without surgery [183, 211-215]. The initial treatment foci are on understanding the mechanisms of diplopia and enophthalmos in orbital floor fractures, the best way to evaluate a patient, and the best way to restore maximal function and appearance [215].

Diplopia caused by orbital floor blowout fractures is one of the major complications of orbital injuries. However, diplopia may also resolve without surgery. When ongoing vertical movement of the eye is impaired, surgery is indicated and is performed after complete resolution of orbital hemorrhage and edema. The maximal time before the first surgical procedure is often considered to be 2 weeks [216], and waiting is particularly indicated when there has been some improvement in diplopia over the first week.

This guideline addresses the following eye injuries and disorders that may be encountered by health care providers.

Better prognoses for non-surgical management include lack of diplopia, lack of entrapment of muscle, lack of enophthalmos, and lack of marked hypo-ophthalmos. Nonresolving oculocardiac reflex, the "whiteeyed" blowout fracture, and early enophthalmos or hypoglobus are indications for immediate surgical repair. Surgery within 2 weeks is recommended in cases of symptomatic diplopia with positive forced ductions and evidence of orbital soft tissue entrapment on computed tomographic (CT) scan or large orbital floor fractures that may cause latent enophthalmos or hypo-ophthalmos [183, 211-215]. Hyphema: Traumatic hyphema involves an acute, most often blunt, injury sufficient to produce blood behind the cornea in the aqueous humor. Complications of traumatic hyphema include increased intraocular pressure, peripheral anterior synechiae, optic atrophy, corneal blood staining, secondary hemorrhage, and accommodative impairment. The reported incidence of secondary anterior chamber hemorrhage, i.e., rebleeding, in the setting of traumatic hyphema ranges from 0 to 38%. The risk of secondary hemorrhage may be higher among Black/African Americans than among whites. Secondary hemorrhage is generally thought to convey a worse visual prognosis, although the outcome may depend more directly on the size of the hyphema and the severity of associated ocular injuries. Some issues involved in managing a patient with hyphema are using various medications (e.g., cycloplegics, systemic or topical steroids, antifibrinolytic agents, analgesics, and antiglaucoma medications), the patient's activity level, use of a patch and shield, outpatient versus inpatient management, and medical versus surgical management. Special considerations are widely accepted in managing children, patients with hemoglobinopathies (e.g., hemoglobin S), and patients with hemophilia). It is important to identify and treat ocular injuries that often accompany traumatic hyphema. Consider the following general recommendations:

- 1. Advise routine use of topical cycloplegics and corticosteroids, consider systemic antifibrinolytic agents or corticosteroids, and use a rigid shield.
- Recommend activity restriction (quiet ambulation). If compliance (with medication use or activity restrictions), follow-up, or increased risk for complications (e.g., history of sickle cell disease or hemophilia) is a concern, inpatient management may be needed.
- 3. Indications for surgical intervention include the presence of corneal blood staining or dangerously increased IOP despite maximum tolerated medical therapy, among others.

Thermal Burns of the Eye: Thermal burns of the eye are caused by exposure to hot gases, liquids, or solids. Unless there is local contact only with the eye, the periocular structures are typically also involved. Damage may range from superficial burns of the lids and surrounding structures to superficial destruction of the cornea, conjunctiva, or sclera, to greater destruction including exposure of the globe. If damage exceeds superficial burns of the lids and surrounding structures, prompt intervention by a specialist is imperative. **Electromagnetic Radiation Injury to the Eye:** Patients with electromagnetic radiation injuries to the eye may have no initial symptoms. Severe cases may show a marked decrease in central visual acuity, but there may be severe delayed consequences. Depending on the exact electromagnetic spectrum, the symptoms or signs may be localized to the anterior segment, lens, retina, and choroid. These types of injuries may cause scarring of the cornea or retina or cataracts. Visual field disorders also may result from damage to the retina or choroid. Burns from the blue end of the visible spectrum and ultraviolet A are discussed under nonionizing radiation exposure.

Chemical Burns: Toxic substances often begin to cause damage immediately upon contact with ultrasensitive eye tissues. Damage is related to the substance's properties, concentration, duration of exposure and speed of irrigation. Aside from general tissue damage, acids and alkalis can change the pH in the eye itself. From this detrimental change, severe eye damage, including blindness, may result. A history of significant chemical exposure is an emergency, and examination should be delayed until after the eye is flushed to dilute the chemical (see Overview). It is imperative that emergency flushing begin immediately. To ensure the best chances for a minimal amount of eye damage, correct emergency equipment, proper placement, and knowledge of its use are necessary. The requirements governing medical services and first aid are covered in OSHA 1910.151(a)(b), whereas ANSI Z-358.1, Emergency Eyewash and Shower Equipment, provides guidance. At the site, water is the initial dilution agent to flush the eye or body. Subsequently, an isotonic saline or balanced Ringer's solution is preferred and should be used, if available (otherwise, use sterile intravenous fluids), until a tear pH of about 7 is obtained after ceasing irrigation for

approximately 10 minutes. Proper flushing usually takes at least 15 minutes, but can take as long as 24 hours.

Irrigation technique. ANSI Z-358.1, Emergency Eyewash and Shower Equipment, identifies guidance for having the facilities to dilute a chemical within 10 seconds of undergoing an industrial eye chemical hazard. Once at the site of an industrial injury, emergency medical personnel or first responders may resolve pain and blepharospasm by applying a topical ophthalmic anesthetic (proparacaine hydrochloride). If needed, the interpalpebral fissure may be widened by means of a lid retractor (e.g., Demarres). The eye should be irrigated directly with isotonic saline, Ringer's lactate or other ocular solutions. A contact lens should be removed to facilitate irrigation of the eyeball. The irrigation is not completed until the upper lid is double everted so that all cul-de-sacs (recesses) of the conjunctiva are thoroughly irrigated and visualized. Irrigation should continue until the conjunctival secretions show a consistent pH of approximately 7 after ceasing irrigation for 10 minutes.

Contact lenses. In the event of a contact lens, remove contact lenses as soon as practical. Do not delay irrigation while waiting for contact lens removal because the lens may come out with the irrigation or can be removed when irrigation is complete. Contact lenses adhere to the cornea and sometimes the paralimbal conjunctiva, depending on the type, and they have been shown to protect the cornea and/or conjunctiva beneath the lens. However, they do not fulfill the requirements of PPE. If a contact lens has not been washed out during the irrigation, it(they) may be removed following completion of irrigation. Alkali burns. Alkali burns of the eye typically cause pain initially and may have disastrous consequences if not treated immediately. Alkali exposure can cause corneal ulceration or conjunctival, scleral, and/or anterior segment degeneration that is manifested as a blanched or "marbleized" appearance. The cornea may become opacified. The diagnosis is usually based on a history of exposure to alkaline chemicals, but occasionally testing the pH of tears or residual liquid is required. Immediate and copious irrigation should be performed. Irrigation in most cases should be continued until the patient is seen by the ophthalmologist on an emergency referral basis. The primary exception is a very minor amount of mildly alkaline material that may be addressable without ophthalmological evaluation. A casual examination of the eye may reveal that the globe is white because there is severe ischemia of the conjunctiva or episcleral vessels, a finding that would be noted during a slit-lamp examination.

Acid burns. Acid burns of the eye, caused by acid splashes or vapors, may have immediate effects of corneal erosion, corneal necrosis, and decreased visual acuity unless irrigation is accomplished immediately. In patients with acid burns, the eye appears inflamed immediately, unlike alkali burns, where the eye typically appears white due to necrosis of the superficial ocular vessels. Delayed effects are unusual in patients with acid burns, although hydrofluoric (HF) acid burns are the exception.

Hydrofluoric acid burns. Hydrofluoric acid causes delayed tissue destruction out of proportion to the apparent exposure. With an HF acid concentration of less than 20%, the onset of symptoms may be delayed up to 24 hours. With high concentrations, symptoms may begin relatively quickly. The patient's main complaint is severe eye pain out of proportion to the apparent exposure. HF acid penetrates tissue remarkably well and causes deep as well as superficial necrosis. HF acid exposure must be treated immediately with copious irrigation with water or isotonic saline solution for 5 minutes and then by calcium gluconate 1% solution or Ringer's lactate solution providing Ca2+ and Mg+ atoms to the cell replacing the Ca⁺⁺ and Mg⁺⁺ atoms that were incorporated into insoluble calcium and magnesium fluoride molecules. Immediate referral to an ophthalmologist after emergency care is recommended while calcium gluconate is irrigated into the eye.

Corneal Ulceration: Corneal ulcers are considered an ophthalmologic emergency. They may result in permanent visual impairment. They may be bacterial, viral, fungal, or parasitic in origin and may occur following corneal lacerations, abrasions, and intrusion of foreign bodies. They may result from poorly fitted or inadequately cleaned contact lenses. Patients with corneal ulcers present with complaints of changes in visual acuity, photophobia and/or eye pain, tearing, and a sensation that a foreign body is in the eye. The presence of corneal ulcers can be determined by direct visualization, but magnified viewing with fluorescein staining is needed to completely rule out their presence.

Open Globe Eye Injury: Direct trauma to the eye from high-velocity objects can cause laceration or perforation of the globe. The trauma can be perforating or penetrating. Patients with damage to the integrity of the globe can present with decreased visual acuity, local pain, and bleeding. The cardinal sign is

distortion of the globe with loss of tension or IOP; the pupil is not round, but rather is distorted and/or nonreactive. In addition, ecchymosis or other signs of damage to periorbital structures are usually evident. The clinician may observe subconjunctival hemorrhage, distortion of the iris or pupil, or herniation of the iris through the cornea. There also may be retinal damage. The injured eye should be protected with a metallic or plastic shield. Transfer by stretcher is recommended.

Initial Care

The principal recommendations for initial assessment and approach to the treatment of patients with eye injuries and disorders are as follows:

- Initial assessment should focus on detecting indications of potentially serious ocular pathology, termed red flags, and determining an accurate diagnosis. For these purposes, red flags are defined as a sign or symptom of a potentially serious condition indicating that further definitive care, support, consultation and/or specialized treatment may be necessary.
- In the absence of red flags, eye disorders may be safely and effectively treated in experienced primary care settings. Conservative treatment should generally proceed for 48 to 72 hours for superficial foreign bodies, corneal abrasions, conjunctivitis, and ultraviolet radiation burns. Normally, eye tissues heal rapidly. If eye damage is not well on the way to resolution within 48 to 72 hours, additional care and/or referral is indicated particularly if the provider is inexperienced with more complex care. Nonspecific eye disorders are often monitored for considerably longer periods of time while evaluations, ergonomic and other adjustments are made. The foci are on providing the most effective treatment(s), monitoring for complications, facilitating the healing process, and determining fitness for return to work in a modified- or full-duty capacity.
- Corneal discomfort can be relieved with a topically applied ophthalmic nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID) or an oral analgesic. Intramuscular or intravenous opioids are rarely needed, typically for some severe ocular/face injuries. Topical anesthetics are generally avoided other than diagnosis or brief treatment because they may obscure worsening pathology and thus inadvertently cause further injury.
- Visual acuity should be assessed and documented carefully at each examination prior to other examinations or treatment, except for cases of chemical burns where immediate copious irrigation should be administered without delay.
- Patients recovering from acute eye injury or infection should be encouraged to return to modified work as their condition permits.

Nonphysical factors, such as psychosocial, workplace, or socioeconomic problems, should be addressed in an effort to resolve delayed recovery.

Initial Assessment

Presenting Symptoms

The patient will typically present with either: (i) an acute injury or event or (ii) an ocular disease. Acute injury or events generally have fairly simple mechanisms of injury that often beget a straightforward treatment approach (e.g., immediate irrigation for a chemical splash). If immediate treatment is not required, then a careful history and physical examination will commence to identify the most likely diagnosis of the patient's symptoms and signs.

History

Information obtained from a careful history and examination directs the approach to management. This section is separated into history elements for acute, ocular injury and for ocular diseases. However, it is recognized that there are many cases where both sets of questions are needed.

Elements of the History of Ocular Injury

While a detailed, accurate history is essential in all injuries, it is especially important to obtain a detailed history of an ocular injury because incorrect or misleading information may lead to blindness. Such information may be obtained from a variety of sources, including the patient, the first responder(s), and others involved in or associated with the accident. Information for acute trauma should include the four Ws:

- 1. Where: Location of the accident
- 2. When: Time and date
- 3. Who: Other individuals involved
- 4. What: A detailed description of the accident circumstances, including force and load. If chemical exposure was involved, seek available Safety Data Sheet (SDS) information. Critical data include:
 - i. What chemical (SDS information[‡])
 - ii. Type of chemical (alkali, acid, solvent)
 - iii. Type of exposure (liquids, solids, fumes)
 - iv. Dose of exposure
 - v. pH of the material
 - vi. Concentration of the material
 - vii. Solubility of the material
 - viii. Contact time
- 5. Emergency medical care provided by first responder(s), with information from:
 - i. Product manufacturer
 - ii. Availability of chemical data
 - iii. Safety Data Sheets
 - iv. Regional poison control center
 - v. Internet

Elements of the History of Ocular Diseases

Asking open-ended questions generally allows the clinician to assess the primary focus for the visit, diagnose the condition more accurately, and identify a preferred treatment approach.

- 1. What are your symptoms?
 - a. Are you experiencing pain? Sensitivity to light? Blurry vision? Loss of vision? Headache?
 - b. Is your problem located primarily in the eye or near the eye? Do you have pain or other symptoms elsewhere? Nose? Sinus? Throat? Ear? Head?
 - c. Are your symptoms constant? Intermittent?
 - d. What makes the problem worse or better?
- 2. How do these symptoms limit you?
 - a. How long can you look at something?
 - b. Can you see clearly?
- 3. When did your current limitations begin?
 - a. How long has your vision been limited? More than a day or two?
 - b. Have your symptoms changed? How?
- 4. Have you had similar episodes previously?
- 5. Have you had any previous testing or treatment? With whom?
- 6. What do you think caused the problem?
- 7. What are your specific job duties? How long do you spend performing each duty?
- 8. Do you have other medical problems? Diabetes? High blood pressure? Glaucoma?
- 9. What do you hope to accomplish during this visit?

The onset of a red eye, duration of the redness, and clinical course should be noted to help to distinguish the causative agents (see Table 1, below). The patient's chief complaint often identifies or suggests the cause of the red eye. For example, itching may signify allergies. A scratchy or burning sensation suggests lid,

conjunctival, or corneal disorders, including foreign bodies, in-turning eyelashes, and dry eyes. Localized lid pain or tenderness is a common presenting complaint of a stye or an acute chalazion of the lid. Deep, non-localizing, intense, aching pain may reflect disorders such as iritis, or acute glaucoma, as well as sinusitis, cluster headache, or ocular migraine. Photophobia suggests problems arising from the anterior segment of the eye, such as corneal abrasions, iritis, and acute glaucoma. A halo effect around lights is a sign of corneal edema commonly seen in acute glaucoma. Individuals who have corneal edema associated with contact lens wear may also experience halo vision.

Symptom	Acute Glaucoma	Acute Iridocyclitis	Keratitis	Bacterial Conjunctivitis	Viral Conjunctivitis	Allergic Conjunctivitis
Blurred vision	3	1-2	3	0	0	0
Pain	2-3	2	2	0	0	0
Photophobia	1	3	3	0	0	0
Colored halos	2	0	0	0	0	0
Exudation	0	0	0-3	3	2	1
Itching	0	0	0	0	0	2-3

Table 1. Symptoms of Red Eye

Note: The range of severity of the symptom is indicated by 0 (absent) to 3 (severe). Modified from Bradford CA, ed. Basic Ophthalmology. 7th ed. San Francisco, Calif: American Academy of Ophthalmology; 1999.

Red Flags

For potentially occupationally-related eye injuries, the mechanism of injury usually provides the most important information regarding the potential for a "red flag" (see Table 2, below). Potentially serious eye conditions are listed below. Depending on the provider's training and experience in dealing with the particular disorder, early consultation with an eye specialist may be needed.

In general, sudden onset of loss of vision, loss of visual acuity, photophobia, flashing lights, painful eye, and trauma are all red flags. Other red flags include systemic symptoms such as loss of function of the face, a hand, or a leg; speech alterations; accompanying new headache; and scalp tenderness.

Table 2.	Red	Flags	for	Potentially	Serious	Eye	Conditions	Requiring	Immediate
Ophthalı	molo	gic Exa	amir	nation					

Disorder	Medical History	Physical Examination
Ocular injury, open globe	 Trauma due to high-velocity foreign-body injury Visual loss Bleeding Local pain 	 Visible foreign body in globe; deformity of globe Loss of globe pressure Distorted pupil and/or iris Subconjunctival hemorrhage
Ocular injury, closed globe	 Direct blow Visual loss Diplopia 	 Eyelid ecchymosis Subconjunctival hemorrhage Vitreous hemorrhage Lens dislocation Retinal edema and/or tear Decreased visual acuity Hyphema Retrobulbar hemorrhage Extraocular motion deviation

Disorder	Medical History	Physical Examination
Thermal burns	 Exposure of eyes to hot material/extreme heat Superficial eye pain Photophobia 	 Burns of lids and/or surrounding structures Damage to cornea, conjunctiva, and/or sclera Decreased visual acuity
Radiation injury	 Exposure of eyes to ultraviolet, laser, or bright light Delayed severe superficial eye pain (4-6 hours) Tearing Photophobia 	 Blepharospasm Tearing Corneal punctate staining and/or sloughing of epithelium Retinal damage
Chemical burns	 Alkali, acid, solvent splash Painless visual loss 	 Corneal erosion Conjunctival chemosis Necrosis of anterior segment of tissues and vessels Decreased visual acuity Circumcorneal vascular ischemia Necrosis of cornea and/or conjunctiva Glaucoma
Hydrofluoric (HF) acid burns	HF acid splashDelayed damage	Necrosis of cornea and/or conjunctivaDecreased visual acuity
Corneal ulcer	 Abrasion or infection Superficial pain Foreign-body sensation Photophobia Visual loss 	 Corneal infiltrates and ulcers Decreased visual acuity Ulceration on slit-lamp exam and fluorescein staining

Examination

The eye examination differs somewhat based on whether the presenting problem is an acute, discrete injury or an occupational disease (including red eye not due to trauma).

A comprehensive examination is preferred in patients with ocular diseases. A more abbreviated and focused examination is typically initially performed for obvious, acute injuries. At a minimum, a visual acuity assessment is performed prior to any treatment. The main exception is with chemical injuries, where immediate irrigation is mandated.

Ocular Examination for Eye Injury

For chemical exposures, this examination occurs after decontamination or while it is in progress, if that is feasible. Otherwise, initial ocular (visual) screening is extremely useful as the initial test of choice. The examination of the injured eye should include the following:

- 1. Visual acuity (each eye separately) with best correction or pinhole
- 2. Inspection of the ocular structure (If an open globe is suspected, no pressure should be exerted on the globe.)
- 3. Position of the eyes and eye movements (six cardinal positions) if the globe is intact
- 4. Examination of the pupils for size and reaction to light
- 5. Gross visual fields by confrontation
- 6. Ophthalmoscopy
- 7. Intraocular pressure (IOP) determination if the globe is intact
- 8. Injury to lid(s) or other adnexal structures

It is important for make immediate referrals to the closest specialist when eye injuries exceed the treating provider's capability. Make the patient comfortable (with intravenous analgesics, if necessary) and protect

the eye from further injury by applying a rigid Fox shield or equivalent. Depending on the type of injury, transport the patient on a stretcher.

How to Examine for Ocular Disease, including Red Eye

Visual complaints from diseases, including red eye, are initially evaluated with a visual acuity chart, a penlight (slit lamp preferred), a tonometer, a sterile fluorescein dye strip, topical anesthetic drops, and an ophthalmoscope. Many clinics use a vision screening device screener, a noncontact "puff" tonometer, and a slit lamp or biomicroscope. A systematic approach to the examination is recommended, beginning by examining the face, orbital area, and lids and ending with a close view of the eyeball. The preferred method for examining the eyeball is with a slit-lamp biomicroscope and the ophthalmoscope.

The American Academy of Ophthalmology specifies nine diagnostic steps to use when evaluating a patient with a red eye (Bradford):

- 1. Determine whether visual acuity is normal or decreased using a Snellen chart or (preferred) ETDRS chart at 20 feet or 6 meters, or the 1 meter ETDRS chart if required.
- 2. Inspect the pattern of redness present and determine whether it is due to subconjunctival hemorrhage, conjunctival hyperemia, ciliary flush, or a combination of these.
- 3. Ascertain the presence of conjunctival discharge and categorize it as to amount (profuse or scant) and character (purulent, mucopurulent, serous, or hemorrhagic).
- 4. Identify opacities of the cornea, including large keratitic precipitates, or irregularities of the corneal surface, such as corneal edema, corneal leukoma (a white opacity caused by scar tissue), and irregular corneal reflection. Conduct the examination using a slit lamp biomicroscope, or at least penlight and transilluminator. Biomicroscopy is the practice standard.
- 5. Search for disruption of the full thickness of the corneal epithelium by staining the cornea with fluorescein. Search for a lack of corneal epithelium vitality by staining with rose bengal.
- 6. Use a slit lamp (biomicroscope) to estimate the depth of the anterior chamber as normal or shallow and to detect any microscopic blood or white blood cells, which would indicate either hyphema or hypopyon, respectively. (A hypopyon is indicated by the presence of protein and white blood cells in the anterior chamber [e.g., when a corneal ulcer is present] and a hyphema is indicated by protein and red blood cells in the anterior chamber. These typically "layer" out in the inferior cornea.)
- Detect irregularity of the pupils and determine whether one pupil is larger than the other. Observe the reactivity of the pupils to light to determine whether one pupil is more sluggish than the other or is nonreactive.
- Determine whether the intraocular pressure is high, normal, or low by performing tonometry. This
 is especially important if acute angle closure glaucoma is suspected. (Tonometry is
 contraindicated when external infection or lack of globe integrity is obvious.)
- 9. Detect the presence of proptosis, lid malfunction, or any limitations of eye movement.

Methods of Testing

Visual Acuity: Quantitative Bilateral Tests. Acuity is measured at infinity (as a minimum) and near and intermediate distances (based on job description) and is performed with and without corrective devices (e.g., glasses or contact lenses) and without removing other corrective devices (e.g., intraocular lenses). Slit-Lamp Biomicroscopy. Slit-lamp examination is the standard method of examining the eye. The slit lamp uses intense illumination and magnification. The general findings noted in a slit-lamp examination (biomicroscope) and their clinicopathologic correlations appear at the end of this Guideline under "Additional Resources."

How to Interpret the Findings of Red Eye. The associated signs and symptoms (see Table 1. Symptoms of Red Eye and Table 3. Signs of Red Eye) of various disorders overlap to some extent. Although many conditions may cause a red eye, several signs and symptoms signal greater concerns. The presence of one or more of these signals (i.e., a red flag) alerts the physician that the patient may have a disorder requiring definitive care that often includes referral if the examiner has insufficient experience with that particular condition. See Table 4. Differential Diagnosis – Red Eye.

	0	,				1	
Symptom	Referral Advisable if Present	Acute Glaucoma	Acute Iridocyclitis	Keratitis	Bacterial Conjunctivitis	Viral Conjunctiviti s	Allergic Conjunctivitis
Ciliary Flush	Yes	1	2	3	0	0	0
Conjunctival Hyperemia	No	2	2	2	3	2	1
Corneal Opacification	Yes	3	0	1-3	0	0-1	0
Corneal Epithelial Disruption	Yes	0	0	1-3	0	0-1	0
Pupillary Abnormalities	Yes	Mid-dilated, nonreactive	Small; may be irregular	Normal or small	0	0	0
Shallow Anterior Chamber Depth	Yes	3	0	0	0	0	0
Elevated Intra- Ocular Pressure	Yes	3	-2 to +1	0	0	0	0
Proptosis	Yes	0	0	0	0		0
Discharge	No	0	0	Sometim es	2-3	2	1
Preauricular Lymph Node Enlargement	No	0	0	0	0	1	0

Table 3. Signs of Red Eye

Note: The range of severity of the symptom is indicated by 0 (absent) to 3 (severe). Modified from Bradford CA, ed. Basic Ophthalmology. 7th ed. San Francisco, Calif: American Academy of Ophthalmology; 1999.

Table 4. Differential Diagnosis – Red Eye

Illness	Details	Severity and Incidence
Acute angle-closure glaucoma	A form of glaucoma due to sudden and complete occlusion of the anterior chamber angle by iris tissue.	Uncommon, serious (The more common chronic open-angle glaucoma causes no redness of the eye.)
Iritis or iridocyclitis	An inflammation of the iris alone or of the iris and ciliary body; often manifested by ciliary flush.	Serious
Herpes simplex keratitis	An inflammation of the cornea caused by the herpes simplex virus.	Common, potentially serious; can lead to corneal ulceration
Conjunctivitis	Hyperemia of the conjunctival blood vessels; may be bacterial, viral, allergic, or irritative.	Common, often not serious
Episcleritis	An inflammation (often sectorial) of the episclera (the vascular layer between the conjunctiva and the sclera), without discharge; possibly allergic, occasionally painful	Uncommon, not serious

Modified from Berson FG. Basic Ophthalmology for Medical Students and Primary Care Residents. 6th ed. San Francisco, Calif: American Academy of Ophthalmology; 1993.

¥ Fluorescein, applied primarily as a 2% alkaline solution and with impregnated paper strips, is used to examine the integrity of the conjunctival and corneal epithelia. Defects in the corneal epithelium will appear green in ordinary light and bright yellow when a cobalt blue filter is used in the light path. Similar lesions of the conjunctiva appear bright

orange or yellow in ordinary illumination. Fluorescein also has been used in the fitting of rigid contact lenses, although it cannot be used for soft lenses, which absorb the dye. Prepared sterile ophthalmic strips are used diagnostically for staining the anterior segment of the eye when: 1) delineating a corneal injury, herpetic ulcer, or foreign body; 2) determining the site of an intraocular injury; 3) fitting contact lenses; 4) making the fluorescein test to ascertain postoperative closure of a sclerocorneal (also referred to as corneoscleral) wound in delayed anterior chamber reformation; and 5) making the lacrimal drainage test. Avoid using fluorescein while the patient is wearing soft contact lenses because the lenses may become stained. Whenever fluorescein is used, flush the eyes with sterile normal saline solution and wait at least 1 hour before replacing the lenses. Rose Bengal Ophthalmic Strips are particularly useful for demonstrating abnormal conjunctival or corneal epithelium; devitalized cells stain bright red, whereas normal cells show no change; the abnormal epithelial cells present in dry eye disorders are effectively revealed by this stain). ± A slit lamp features an oblique (condensed) illumination and a magnifying system. With refinements, this system is used in current slit lamps. All detail is seen by the viewer by reflected light. Substances that do not reflect light are not visible; they are termed optically empty, such as normal tears and the aqueous humor. Structures that transmit light, but can be seen in the beam, are termed reluctant, such as the cornea, lens, and vitreous. Structures that do not transmit light are opaque. The examiner must use special techniques for illumination and focusing that enhance the examination. The methods include: 1) diffuse illumination; 2) direct or focal illumination (the most useful and important type of slit-lamp illumination, whereby tissues such as the cornea are seen as an optical section or a block of tissue known as a parallelepiped); 3) retro-illumination, where the area is being illuminated by reflected rays (e.g., a corneal foreign body or corneal ulcer); and 4) indirect illumination.

Diagnostic Approach

If the patient does not have red flags for serious conditions, the clinician may then determine which other eye disorder is present. The criteria presented in Figure 1 follow the clinical thought process from the mechanism of illness or injury to unique symptoms and signs of a particular disorder and finally to test results, if any tests were needed to guide treatment at this stage.

Several symptoms and signs are common to a number of eye injuries or disorders (see Table 1. Symptoms of Red Eye and Table 3. Signs of Red Eye). Therefore, accurate diagnosis depends on linking the mechanism of injury or pathogenesis, symptoms, signs, and findings of the eye examination with findings on magnification and, if necessary, with fluorescein staining of the eye. In the following lists, an asterisk (*) after a symptom or sign indicates a red flag.

Special Studies and Diagnostic and Treatment Considerations

Special studies are not generally indicated during the first 2 to 3 days of treatment, except for in red flag conditions. Most patients with eye problems improve quickly once any red flag issues are ruled out. The clinical history and physical findings generally are adequate to diagnose the problem and provide treatment. If the patient's limitations due to eye symptoms, other than nonspecific symptoms, do not improve in 3 to 5 days, reassessment is recommended. After again reviewing the patient's limitations, history, and physical findings, the clinician may consider referral for further diagnostic studies and discuss these options with the patient. For patients with limitations after 3 to 5 days and unexplained physical findings, such as localized pain or visual disturbance, referral may be indicated to clarify the diagnosis and assist recovery.

Selection of Special Studies

Radiography of the globe may be indicated if the patient's history indicates the possibility of injury by a penetrating high-speed radiopaque foreign body. Ultrasonography can be used to locate non- and radiopaque foreign bodies. Computed tomographic (CT) scan of the orbit may be indicated in cases of significant blunt trauma and associated fractures at the time of initial evaluation and treatment. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is never indicated when there may be a possibility of a metallic foreign body. Table 5 compares (generally) the abilities of different techniques to identify physiologic insult and define anatomic injury.

Technique	Identify Physiologic Insult	Identify Anatomic Defect
History	+ + +	+
Physical examination, including visual acuity testing and fundoscopy	++++	++++
Fluorescein staining	0	++++
Slit-lamp examination	0	+ + + +
Tonometry	+ + +	0
Imaging studies		
Plain-film radiography	0	+a
Ultrasonography	0	+ + + +b
CT scan	0	+ + + +a
MRI	0	+ + + +C

Table 5. Ability of Various Techniques to Identify and Define Ocular Pathology

Note: Specificity and repetitiveness from 0 (absent) to (maximum).

^aFor evaluating suspected periorbital and other depressed fractures.

^bFor evaluating suspected retinal detachment, chamber dimensions, and intraocular foreign bodies. ^cFor evaluating foreign body and intracranial pathology.

If the patient does not have red flags for serious conditions, the clinician may then determine which other eye disorder is present. The criteria presented in Table 5 follow the clinical thought process from the mechanism of illness or injury to unique symptoms and signs of a particular disorder and finally to test results, if any tests were needed to guide treatment at this stage.

The clinician must be aware that several symptoms and signs are common to a number of eye injuries or disorders (see Table 1. Symptoms of Red Eye and Table 3. Signs of Red Eye). Therefore, accurate diagnosis depends on linking the mechanism of injury or pathogenesis, symptoms, signs, and findings of the eye examination with findings on magnification and, if necessary, with fluorescein staining of the eye.

Diagnostic Criteria

In the following lists, an asterisk (*) after a symptom or sign indicates a red flag.

Symptoms of Red Eye (see Table 1. Symptoms of Red Eye)

- **Blurred Vision.** Blurred vision often indicates serious ocular disease. Blurred vision that improves with blinking suggests a discharge or mucus on the ocular surface.
- **Severe pain.*** Pain may indicate keratitis, ulcer, iridocyclitis, or acute glaucoma. Patients with conjunctivitis may complain of a scratchiness or mild irritation, but do not have severe pain.
- **Photophobia.*** Photophobia is an abnormal sensitivity to light that accompanies iritis. It may occur either alone or secondary to corneal inflammation. Patients with conjunctivitis have normal light sensitivity.
- **Colored halos.*** Rainbow-like fringes or colored halos seen around a point of light are usually a symptom of corneal edema, often resulting from an abrupt rise in intraocular pressure. Therefore, colored halos are a danger symptom suggesting acute glaucoma as the cause of a red eye.
- Exudation. Exudation, also called mattering, is a typical result of conjunctival or eyelid inflammation and does not occur with iridocyclitis or glaucoma. Patients often complain that their lids are "stuck together" on awakening. Corneal ulcer is a serious condition that may or may not be accompanied by exudate. Mucoid discharge generally is related to allergic conditions. Watery discharge may occur with viral conditions, and a purulent discharge is related to bacterial conditions.
- **Itching.** Although a nonspecific symptom, itching most commonly indicates an allergic conjunctivitis.

Signs of Red Eye (see Table 3. Signs of Red Eye)

- **Reduced visual acuity.*** Reduced visual acuity suggests a serious ocular disease, such as an inflamed cornea, iridocyclitis, glaucoma, or vitreous hemorrhage. It never occurs in simple conjunctivitis unless the associated cornea is involved. Acceptable of passable visual acuity for driving and injuries without a known baseline is considered 20/40 or better in each eye separately and both eyes together.
- **Ciliary flush.*** Ciliary flush is an injection of the deep conjunctival and episcleral vessels surrounding the cornea. It is seen most easily in daylight and appears as a faint violaceous ring in which individual vessels cannot be seen by the unaided eye. These engorged vessels, whose origin is the ciliary body, are a manifestation of inflammation of the ciliary body and the anterior segment of the eyeball. Ciliary flush is a danger sign often seen in eyes with corneal inflammations, iridocyclitis, or acute glaucoma. Usually ciliary flush is not present in conjunctivitis.
- **Conjunctival hyperemia.** Conjunctival hyperemia is an engorgement of the larger and more superficial bulbar conjunctival vessels. A nonspecific sign, it may be seen in almost any of the conditions causing a red eye.
- **Corneal opacification.*** In a patient with a red eye, corneal opacities always denote disease. These opacities may be detected by direct illumination with a penlight, or they may be seen with a direct ophthalmoscope (with a plus lens in the viewing aperture) outlined against the red fundus reflex. Several types of corneal opacities may occur, including:
 - Keratic precipitates, or cellular deposits on the corneal endothelium, usually too small to be visible. Occasionally forming large clumps, these precipitates can result from iritis or chronic iridocyclitis.
 - A diffuse haze obscuring the pupil and iris markings. This may be characteristic of corneal edema. It is frequently seen in acute glaucoma.
 - Localized opacities. These may be due to keratitis or ulcer.
- **Corneal epithelial disruption.*** Disruption of the corneal epithelium, which occurs in corneal inflammations and trauma, can be detected in two ways. The first method uses fluorescein vital stain, which detects disruption of the epithelium.
 - The examiner should be positioned in such a way as to observe the reflection from the cornea of a single light source (e.g., window or penlight) as the patient moves his or her eye into various positions. Epithelial disruptions cause distortion and irregularity of the light reflected by the cornea. Apply fluorescein to the eye. Areas denuded of cells of the epithelium will stain a bright green with a blue filter.
 - The second method uses rose bengal vital stain, which detects degeneration or absence of one or more layers of the epithelium. The examiner should be positioned in the same manner as described above. Apply rose bengal vital stain. Diseased epithelium will stain a reddish purple color.
- **Pupillary abnormalities.*** The pupil in an eye with iridocyclitis typically is somewhat smaller than that of the other eye due to reflex spasm of the iris sphincter muscle. The pupil is also distorted occasionally by posterior synechiae, which are inflammatory adhesions between the lens and the iris. In acute glaucoma, the pupil is usually fixed, mid-dilated (about 5 to 6 mm), and slightly irregular. Conjunctivitis does not affect the pupil.
- Shallow anterior chamber depth.* In a red eye, a shallow anterior chamber (especially related to acute ocular pain, nausea, and sometimes vomiting) suggests the possibility of acute angle-closure glaucoma. Anterior chamber depth can be grossly estimated through side illumination with a penlight. The most exact technique and practice standard involves using a slit lamp with or without a diagnostic anterior segment contact lens. Intraocular pressure (IOP) is then measured.
- Elevated IOP.* IOP is unaffected by common causes of red eye other than iridocyclitis and glaucoma. In any red eye without obvious infection, IOP can be measured to rule out glaucoma as clinically indicated (routinely at the time of all eye screening examinations generally after age 40); however, under some circumstances, routine screening for IOP should be part of the examination.
- **Proptosis.*** Proptosis is a forward displacement of the globe. Proptosis of sudden onset suggests

serious trauma, orbital infection, or tumor. The most common cause of chronic proptosis is thyroid disease, especially Grave's disease, and is bilateral. Orbital mass lesions also result in proptosis and should be considered. Proptosis may be accompanied by conjunctival hyperemia or limitation of eye movement. Small amounts of proptosis are detected most easily by standing behind a seated patient and looking downward to compare the positions of the two corneas. Acute orbital proptosis secondary to trauma is an ophthalmologic emergency because it may cause severe pressure on the eyeball, which may lead to central retinal artery occlusion.

• **Preauricular nodes.** The type of ocular discharge may be an important clue to the cause of conjunctivitis. Preauricular node enlargement can be a prominent feature of common viral as well as some unusual varieties of chronic granulomatous conjunctivitis, known collectively as Parinaud's oculoglandular syndrome. Usually, such enlargement does not occur in acute bacterial conjunctivitis. The adenovirus is found most commonly, especially in epidemic keratoconjunctivitis, which generally is readily spread by direct contact with the secretions of affected individuals.

Management Approach

The principal recommendations for assessing and treating patients with eye complaints are as follows:

- Initial assessment should focus on detecting indications of potentially serious ocular pathology, termed red flags, and determining an accurate diagnosis. For these purposes, red flags are defined as a sign or symptom of a potentially serious condition indicating that further consultation, support, or specialized treatment may be necessary.
- In the absence of red flags, experienced healthcare providers can safely and effectively handle
 most work-related eye injuries. Conservative treatment can proceed for 48 to 72 hours for
 superficial foreign bodies, corneal abrasions, conjunctivitis, and ultraviolet radiation damage.
 Normally, eye tissues heal rapidly. If eye damage is not well on the way to resolution within 48 to
 72 hours and the provider is not experienced with the condition, referral to a specialist is
 indicated.
- Ocular diseases and nonspecific eye complaints usually require longer treatment timelines.
- The treatment focus is on assuring optimal treatment, monitoring for complications, facilitating the healing process, and determining fitness for return to work in a modified- or full-duty capacity.

Follow-up Visits

The frequency of follow-up visits is determined by the diagnosis, stage and severity of the problem. After successful treatment for simple corneal abrasions or minor foreign bodies, follow-up may be on a daily basis until the problem has resolved. As healing is rapid and minor abrasions do not generally require follow-up, it is also acceptable to schedule follow-up for such cases as needed. The larger, deeper and more extensive the injury, the more likely follow-up will need to be scheduled.

Photokeratitis (e.g., welder's flash) is generally readily treated and resolves in 1 or 2 days. It frequently requires no follow-up appointments or at most one appointment the next day.

For chemical burns, daily follow-up is generally required until the problem has resolved. For minor volumes of non-acidic, non-alkaline insults, it is acceptable to schedule follow-up as needed.

Thermal burns depend on the severity and involvement of other structures. Minor cases may require one follow-up appointment within a day or two. More severe cases may need follow-up every one to two days until the burns are resolved.

Blunt trauma injuries that include orbital blowout fractures without red flags for immediate surgery require follow-up approximately every 3 to 5 days to ascertain improvements and resolution of diplopia or other problems.

Traumatic hyphema requires close follow-up that is generally determined by IOP on presentation. The larger the extent of the hyphema and the higher the IOP, the more frequently the follow-up is needed. Corneal ulcers require follow-up initially every 1 to 2 days until the epithelium has healed and then every 1 to 6 months depending on the severity and frequency of the episode when multiple.

Screening and Diagnostic Recommendations

Vision Screening

Vision screening is performed for a wide range of purposes. Categories of vision screenings include preplacement, periodic surveillance, post-injury and postoperative [217, 218](AOA). It is also performed for motor vehicle driver licensure.

Vision Screening for Preplacement Examinations

Recommended.

Preplacement vision screening is recommended for jobs that require visual acuity.

Indications – Occupations that require visual acuity for performance. **Generally, most safety sensitive and safety critical jobs require corrected visual acuity of at least 20/40 in both eyes and each eye separately.**

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – High

Vision Screening for Periodic Surveillance Examinations

Recommended.

Periodic vision screening is recommended for jobs that require visual acuity.

Indications – Occupations that require visual acuity for performance. More frequent examinations are indicated for jobs with higher visual demands and/or higher risks and/or among those at higher risks for incident visual impairments. **Generally, most safety sensitive and safety critical jobs require corrected visual acuity of at east 20/40 in both eyes and each eye separately.**

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** Level of Confidence – High

Vision Screening for Post-injury Examinations

Recommended.

Vision screening is recommended for post-injury examinations.

Indications – All post-injury examinations, including subsequent follow-up examinations.

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (I)** Level of Confidence – High

Vision Screening for Postoperative Examinations

Recommended.

Vision screening is recommended for postoperative examinations.

Indications – All postoperative examinations, including subsequent follow-up examinations.

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (I)** Level of Confidence – High

Rationale for Recommendations

Vision screening is widely performed as a component of essentially all eye-related examinations, most commonly with either a Snellen chart or a vision screening device that is comparable to a Snellen chart. For preplacement examinations, there are data to suggest increased risk of motor vehicle crashes with reduced visual acuity that is usually worse with 20/40 corrected [219-222], thus indirect evidence that both preplacement examinations and surveillance examinations are likely successful. There are many protocols for screening, with the most frequent interval typically being either annual or biennial. For specific occupations, there is an absence of evidence of efficacy of visual screening, but strong belief it is successful. Occupation-specific visual acuity testing beyond Snellen tests is recommended for specific occupations. For

post-injury and postoperative examinations, vision screening is used to track the recovery, but there are naturally no studies without vision screening being performed to assess its comparable utility. Vision screening is not invasive, is without adverse effects, is low cost and is thus recommended for preplacement, periodic surveillance, post-injury and postoperative examinations.

Color Vision Testing

Color vision screening is commonly performed as a component of preplacement and periodic examinations. It is sometimes performed prior to return to work for post-injury and postoperative patients, particularly for those in safety critical jobs.

Color vision is critical for countless occupations that require varying degrees of color detection. Color vision testing is also performed for motor vehicle driver licensure. Color detection is commonly segregated into several discrete categories including normal, deutranopia (difficulty detecting red/purple from green/purple), protanopia (difficulty detecting blue/green from red/green), tritanopia (difficulty detecting yellow/green from blue/green), and achromatopsia (absence of ability to detect colors) [223]. Although often categorized into these categories, there is an unappreciated and tremendous degree of heterogeneity within these groups. This heterogeneity has functional impacts such that some individuals within a given group can accurately perform a given occupation's tasks while others cannot [224, 225]. An added complication is that, there is a widespread misconception that color signals are of uniform color

An added complication is that, there is a widespread misconception that color signals are of uniform color hue when they are not. This produces further difficulties with determining safety to perform a given job. There is yet another a common misperception that color detection is fixed for life, but multiple retinal intracranial diseases, metabolic disorders and pharmaceuticals all may result in serious, functional color vision impairments [226-231]. Such examples include diabetic retinopathy [230], multiple sclerosis, [232, 233], chloroquine, and amiodarone [234-236]. There also are some decrements in color vision discrimination ability with aging [237], mercury toxicity [238], and use of petroleum-based solvents [239]. As an example of the consequences of failure to detect color vision deficiencies, acquired color vision deficiencies have resulted in transportation injury fatalities [240-242]. Yet, color vision deficiency is also associated with advantages in discerning camouflaged objects, animals or humans [243, 244].

Color Vision Screening for Preplacement Examinations

Recommended.

Preplacement color vision screening is recommended for jobs that require color vision detection.

Indications – Occupations that require color visual detection for accurate performance. Generally, most safety sensitive and safety critical jobs require some degree of color detection, although the discrimination requirements vary widely. These include almost all jobs requiring commercial operation of motorized equipment. Pseudochromatic plates are generally the most efficient way to screen a population and are thus recommended. Functional tests (e.g., on-the-job test) are of unclear validity and, if used, must test a wide array of circumstances (e.g., array of hues to be encountered, time of day/night, varying backgrounds) to have the potential to be valid. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** *Level of Confidence* – High

Color Vision Screening for Periodic Surveillance Examinations

Recommended.

Periodic color vision screening is recommended for jobs that require color vision detection.

Indications – Occupations that require color visual detection for accurate performance. Generally, most safety sensitive and safety critical jobs require some degree of color detection, although the discrimination requirements vary widely. These include almost all jobs requiring commercial

operation of motorized equipment. Pseudochromatic plates are generally the most efficient way to screen a population and are thus recommended. Functional tests (e.g., on-the-job test) are of unclear validity and, if used, must test a wide array of circumstances (e.g., array of hues to be encountered, time of day/night, varying backgrounds) to have the potential to be valid. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** *Level of Confidence* – High

Color Vision Screening for Select Post-injury Examinations

Recommended.

Color vision screening is recommended for select post-injury examinations.

Indications – Post-injury examinations for safety critical jobs that also require color vision detection. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (I)**

Level of Confidence – Moderate

Color Vision Screening for Select Postoperative Examinations

Recommended.

Color vision screening is recommended for postoperative examinations.

Indications – Postoperative examinations for safety critical jobs that also require color vision detection.

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (I)** Level of Confidence – Moderate

Rationale for Recommendations

Color vision deficiency is well associated with increased failures on signal detection [224, 225]. Fatalities in the transportation sector have been attributed to operator color vision deficiencies [240-242]. Thus, this is a strong basis for screening for color vision deficiency. There is also a potential basis for screening in favor of those with color vision deficiency for jobs requiring superior camouflage or animal detection [243, 244]. There are many color vision screening tests used, including: Ishihara, Farnsworth Panel D-15, Farnsworth Munsell 100 Hue (FM-100), Roth 28-hue desaturated, L'Anthony's desaturated D-15/D-15DS, Medmont C100, Color Assessment and Diagnosis Test; Nagel anomaloscope, Bowman's Color Confusion Index, Cambridge Colour Test (CCT), Color Assessment and Diagnosis test (CAD), Vingrys test, King-Smith's test, SPP-2, Nagel anomaloscopre, Color Vision Testing Made Easy (CVMET); City University Colour Vision Test (CUT); Waggoner computerized color vision test (CCVT) Richmond Hardy-Rand-Rittler (HRR), American Optical Hardy-Rand-Rittler (AO-HRR), Malbrel's chromatometer and luminance perception; Lantern test [237] [245-249] [236, 238, 250-255] [256-266] Cole 06a,b,c [267-269] [270-273] [218, 274, 275]. Pseudoisochromatic plates are the most commonly administered tests used to screen for color deficiency, with Ishihara b eing the most widely used. Functional tests, such as the lantern test, a signal detection test, or on-the-job function tests are often used to attempt to ascertain sufficient discriminant abilities to perform a job after failure on pseudoisochromatic plate testing.

Functional tests have not been validated for determination of ability to both accurately perform the job tasks and prevent injuries/fatalities. Thus, they are generally of unclear ability to properly determine safe and accurate job performance. Carefully performed, functional testing that includes the array of circumstances likely to be encountered (e.g., array of hues to be encountered, time of day/night, season of year, varying backgrounds) may be sufficiently accurate for some jobs. The use of unvalidated functional tests is particularly concerning for safety critical jobs. Validated functional tests should be validated for both accuracy under a wide array of performance circumstances (e.g., array of hues to be encountered, time of

day/night, season of year, varying backgrounds), as well as for ability to perform without elevated accident crash or other critical outcome performance measure(s).

Color vision screening is recommended for pre-placement and periodic screening for all jobs that require color vision detection. For safety sensitive and safety critical jobs, greater frequency of periodic screening is recommended, generally either annually or biennially. For safety critical jobs, screening post-injury and postoperative is also recommended. For those with risks for acquired color vision deficiency, greater frequency of color vision screening may be considered.

Color vision screening is not invasive, is without adverse effects, is low cost and is thus recommended for pre-placement, periodic surveillance, as well as select post-injury and postoperative examinations.

Peripheral Vision Testing

Peripheral vision is particularly required to appreciate objects that are approaching the person or for situations where the person is moving and thus needing peripheral vision for accident avoidance. This is necessary for motor vehicle accident avoidance, avoidance of injury from a forklift driven by another worker, avoidance of injury from moving parts (e.g., suspended parts from an overhead crane), operation of overhead cranes, etc. Some safety sensitive and non-safety sensitive jobs require full visual fields to function.

Peripheral Vision Screening for Preplacement Examinations

Recommended.

Preplacement peripheral vision screening is recommended for jobs that require peripheral vision.

Indications – Occupations that require peripheral vision, generally including most safety sensitive and safety critical jobs. Optimum means for testing are unclear. Screening the temporal field of vision with simple equipment that can measure degrees of visual field is a reasonable option. Confirmatory testing with standard automated perimetry testing equipment is required for definitive determinations, particularly those with reductions in visual fields or glaucoma. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (I)** *Level of Confidence* – Moderate

Peripheral Vision Screening for Periodic Surveillance Examinations

Recommended.

Periodic peripheral vision screening is recommended for jobs that require peripheral vision.

Indications – Occupations that require peripheral vision, generally including most safety sensitive and safety critical jobs. Frequency is generally every year or biennially. Optimum means for testing are unclear. Screening the temporal field of vision with simple equipment that can measure degrees of visual field is a reasonable option. Confirmatory testing with standard automated perimetry testing equipment is required for definitive determinations, particularly those with reductions in visual fields or glaucoma.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Moderate

Peripheral Vision Screening for Select Post-injury Examinations

Recommended.

Peripheral vision screening is recommended for select post-injury examinations.

Indications – Post-injury examinations for jobs that also require peripheral vision. This is particularly needed where the injury may have reduced peripheral vision capabilities. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (I)**

Level of Confidence - Low

Peripheral Vision Screening for Select Postoperative Examinations

Peripheral vision screening is recommended for select postoperative examinations.

Indications – Postoperative examinations for jobs that also require a peripheral vision. This is particularly needed where the injury may have reduced peripheral vision capabilities. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Rationale for Recommendations

Peripheral vision is necessary for most safety sensitive and safety critical jobs and job tasks, although unsurpringly, there are no studies identified that address risks in those occupations. Cohort and longitudinal studies reported elevated crash risks among subjects with reduced useful field of view [276-278]. Other study designs have suggested visual field and/or useful field of vision [279, 280] are associated with crashes [279, 281-283]. Yet, multiple studies suggest no increased risk for peripheral vision [221, 276, 284, 285]. Driving simulator studies [286, 287] [288-290] and road tests [291, 292] suggest performance problems with one finding participants with bilateral central scotomas had higher risks of failing to detect pedestrians, slower and missed responses [287]. Another found performance impairments associated with peripheral vision impairments [288].

The degree of peripheral vision required varies among occupations. The most common screening tests used in primary care are manual kinetic testing (typically, "finger wiggle" moving from the lateral side forward) and confrontation fields. There are multiple tests that have been used mostly in comparative studies, including: Standard automated perimetry, Short-wavelength automated perimetry (SWAP), Frequency-doubling technology perimetry (FDT), High-pass resolution perimetry (HPRP), Scanning Laser Polarimetry (SLP, GDx VCC), Optical coherence tomography (OCT), pattern-electroretinography (PERG), Pattern Electrand Heidelberg Retina Tomography (HRT), Octopus tendency-oriented perimetry (TOP), and the Humphrey Swedish Interactive Threshold Algorithm (SITA)-fast (HSF), SITA 24-2 SAP, and Humphrey Matrix perimetry [293-309] [310-313] [314-330] [92, 320, 331-350]. There are no validated tests that demonstrate a given test is able to predict both inability to accomplish normal peripheral vision as well as to not successfully avoid crashes or accidents. Thus, the means to accomplish screening are unclear. Automated equipment is commonly used for confirmatory testing (or for monitoring glaucoma) and Wagner is most commonly used.

Peripheral vision screening is nevertheless recommended for pre-placement and periodic screening for jobs that require peripheral vision. This includes most safety sensitive and safety critical jobs. When injuries or surgeries potentially impair peripheral vision, peripheral vision screening of post-injury and postoperative patients is also recommended. For those in jobs requiring peripheral vision who also have risks for acquired or progressive loss of peripheral vision (e.g., glaucoma), greater frequency of peripheral vision screening is recommended.

Peripheral vision screening is not invasive, is without adverse effects, is low cost and is thus recommended for select pre-placement, periodic surveillance, as well as select post-injury and postoperative examinations.

Depth Perception

Depth perception is the ability of the eye to help ascertain three dimensions and be able to judge the distance of an object. Depth perception is also involved in ascertaining the length, width, and the height of an object. When the head is held steady and the body is not moving, both eyes are required to ascertain depth perception, known as stereopsis. While depth perception is commonly thought to require both eyes, this is not completely correct. When the head and/or body is moving (e.g., moving the head or traveling by vehicle), some depth perception is possible based on experiences, the relative changes in the size and position of objects. Still, people with stereopsis will use these clues much less frequently.

Overall, there were two review articles that partially included the condition of monocular vision as a risk factor for occupational injury. One review found that balance issues related to problems of depth perception and visual ambiguity caused by monocular vision increased the risk of falling off a roof for roofers [351]. The second review showed little evidence that visual impairment increased risks for occupational injury and no studies were found that directly assessed monocular vision as a risk factor for occupational injury [352]. Overall, the lack of evidence for monocular vision as a risk factor for occupational injury seems to be related to not properly defining eye pathology in current research [352].

Depth Perception Screening for Preplacement Examinations

Recommended.

Preplacement depth perception screening is selectively recommended for jobs that require depth perception.

Indications – Occupations that require a high degree of depth perception for accurate performance. Optimum means for testing are unclear. A functional test that either accomplishes the required job functions or one that mimics the required job task(s) may be best. Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (I)** Level of Confidence – Low

Depth Perception Screening for Periodic Surveillance Examinations

Recommended.

Periodic depth perception screening is recommended for select jobs that require depth perception.

Indications – Occupations that require a high degree of depth perception for accurate performance. Optimum means for testing are unclear. A functional test that either accomplishes the required job functions or one that mimics the required job task(s) may be best. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Depth Perception Screening for Select Post-Injury Examinations

Recommended.

Depth perception screening is recommended for select post-injury examinations.

Indications – Post-injury examinations for jobs that also require a high degree of depth perception. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (I)** *Level of Confidence* – Low

Depth Perception Screening for Select Postoperative Examinations

Recommended.

Depth perception screening is recommended for select postoperative examinations.

Indications – Postoperative examinations for jobs that also require a high depth perception. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Evidence (I)** *Level of Confidence* – Low

Rationale for Recommendations

Depth perception is necessary for select jobs and job tasks. The degree of depth perception required varies widely. There are multiple tests that have been used mostly in comparative studies, including: Polarized Stereoscopic Monitor, Distance Randot Stereotest, Titmus stereo test (static depth perception), Frisby stereotest, Randot circles and FNS, Wirt Fly Stereotest, TNO test, steroacuity, stereogram [353-360] Leske 06. There are no validated tests that demonstrate a given test is able to predict both inability to accomplish

normal depth perception as well as to not successfully perform job tasks. Thus, the means to accomplish the testing are unclear.

Depth perception screening is nevertheless recommended for select pre-placement and periodic screening for jobs that require a high degree of depth perception. For jobs that require a high degree of depth perception, depth perception screening of post-injury and postoperative patients is also recommended. For those in jobs requiring depth perception who also have risks for acquired or progressive loss of depth perception (e.g., keratoconus), greater frequency of depth perception screening may be considered. Depth perception screening is not invasive, is without adverse effects, is low cost and is thus recommended for select pre-placement, periodic surveillance, as well as select post-injury and postoperative examinations.

Foreign Bodies, Rust Rings, and Corneal Abrasions

Related Terms

- Corneal Abrasion
- Corneal Injury
- Corneal Scratch
- Corneal Laceration (not same as an abrasion)
- Corneal Foreign Body
- Adherent Corneal Foreign Body
- Embedded Corneal Foreign Body
- Metallic Foreign Body
- Rust ring
- Ferrous ring

Overview

Foreign bodies and corneal abrasions are the most commonly reported occupational ophthalmological conditions [59, 83, 361]. In experienced hands, they are usually relatively simple to manage. However, complications such as infections and other adverse sequella occasionally occur.

Risk and Causation

Risk Factors

Risks differ widely across occupational groups. Both foreign bodies in the eye and corneal abrasions may occur in nearly any occupational workgroup. Yet, those at highest risk tend to be employed in construction and metalworking occupations, especially where high impact and/or grinding occur. ([362], [363-368]. Work-related injury was the most common cause, accounting for 70% - 72% of all eye injuries [83]). More than 90% of injuries at work were by workers who worked with grinding/buffing, welding, working in dusty atmospheres, and drilling/hammering [83]. Those exposed to windy environments are also particularly susceptible. Protective eye wear reduces, but does not eliminate risks [72, 83, 369, 370]. In some studies, most workers were not wearing eye protection even though it was available [83, 370].

Causation

Causation is rarely at issue as the onset of symptoms is generally quite acute. When the onset is acute, the event at hand determines the cause.

Prevalence/Incidence

Population-based incidence data are not available. Males between the ages of 20-40 were more likely to be seen with ocular trauma than were women [83, 370, 371]. In an Australian metropolitan area, corneal abrasions were among the top five ocular emergencies [361]. US data are spares and eports from Korea, Singapore and Nigeria found work was the most common causative factor for ocular traumatic emergencies [59, 83, 372]. Corneal abrasions are well known to occur in the peri-operative and intensive care settings due to lack of protective reflexes [373-377], but are beyond the scope of this guideline.

Work Relatedness

Work-relatedness is determined by whether the ocular event occurred out of, or in the course of employment. As these are acute events, such determinations of work-relatedness are rarely difficult or controversial.

Signs and Symptoms

Medical History

Symptoms of corneal abrasions, foreign bodies and rust rings both commonly include:

- A foreign body sensation.
- Acute onset of symptoms (usually)
- Pain. May be severe, especially if large foreign body or extensive abrasion(s).
- Tearing
- Redness
- Photophobia, especially if more severe
- Visual acuity usually preserved unless visual axis affected

Onset

• Symptom onset is sudden and timed with a known event such as metalworking. Abrasions often involve rubbing the eye, with or without a prior foreign body sensation.

Current treatments used

• Usually none, although may have included flushing of the eye.

Prior injuries and prior treatments

- Risk Factors
- Workers with corneal foreign bodies often have had the same in the past, as they tend to hold atrisk jobs (e.g., metalworking).

Red Flags

Red flags for potentially more serious injuries include [378, 379]:

- History of penetrating trauma or high impact metalworking without eye protection
- Suspected penetration of the globe
- Lacerated cornea
- Lacerated globe
- Ruptured globe
- Impaled globe
- Impaired extraocular eye movements
- Gradual onset of photophobia without an inciting event
- Systemic symptoms or diseases, especially rheumatological
- Purulence
- Abnormal visual acuity without objective foreign body and/or abrasion in the visual axis

Job Analysis and Prevention

The employer's roles include primary prevention as well as facilitating secondary and tertiary prevention. Primary prevention activities include engineering interventions such as machine guarding to prevent exposure to the generation of projectiles from hammering, grinding, drilling, and use of other high-speed machines [371].

Education is an important component of prevention [371]. Most often, in higher risk settings, eye protection is still required after consideration of engineering controls to prevent ocular injuries. Safety eye wear, includes glasses, goggles face shields and splash guards, and should be selected based on the exposure(s) to adequately prevent work-related eye injuries.

The employer's roles include eyewear provision, education and promotion of the use of appropriate eye safety wear [368]. Employer's roles also include facilitating appropriate medical care for eye injuries that

are incurred at the workplace. Employers sometimes also facilitate consultations when suboptimal clinical results occur.

One role of an employer is education of the susceptible workforce regarding ocular hazards [380, 381].

Education for Potential Eye Injuries Recommended.

Education is recommendation for workers who have potential for eye injuries, e.g., from chemical splashes, impacting metal and/or wind-blown objects.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	All workers should be trained if they have potential for eye
	injuries, e.g., from chemical splashes, impacting metal and/or
	wind-blown objects.
Benefits:	Reduction in risk of injury
Harms:	Negligible
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Pre-placement, periodic and post-injury
Indications for Discontinuation:	Lack of exposure
Rationale:	Behavioral and education training on injury prevention has been shown to be successful in a few studies, although it is combined with protective eye wear [73, 380, 381]. Training to prevent eye injuries is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is of negligible cost, has demonstrated efficacy and is thus recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits.

Protective Eyewear for Prevention of Eye Injuries Recommended.

Behavioral and Psychological Interventions

Protective eyewear is recommended for prevention of eye injuries. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Moderate and high risk occupations and at-risk workforces. The employer should educate the workers regarding the potential for ocular injury and the means of protection [71]. Especially in high-risk settings, it is recommended that this should then be followed by enforcement.
Benefits:	Proactive reductions in risks of injury
Harms:	Time to educate
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally at baseline and at least annually in moderate and high risk settings.
Indications for Discontinuation:	At-risk exposure(s) have been engineered out

Rationale:	Protective eyewear promotion (PEP) has been shown to be effective for improving compliance, although not in some studies for reducing the rate of injuries [71, 381, 382], for which studies are likely underpowered. Other studies combining education and protective eyewear have shown reductions in injuries [380]. In one study, there was a 2.4-fold odds of wearing appropriate eyewear compared with controls. [382] Education is low cost, without adverse effects and likely effective and thus is recommended. This may require (re)inforcement for efficacy.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Educational interventions for the prevention of eye injuries, eye controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 4 articles in PubMed, 665 in Scopus, 1 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library and 2 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 2 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 2
	randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

Safety Glasses in Most Employment Settings Recommended.

Devices

Safety glasses suffice for most employment settings and are recommended for most low to moderate-risk exposure situations.

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Workers at risk of penetrating trauma, hammering/pounding
	metal, chemical splashes or performing work that previously
	resulted in foreign bodies.
Benefits:	Injury Prevention
Harms:	Minor discomfort
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	Removal from at-risk task
Rationale: Safety glasses and/or safety eyewear have been shown to be effective for reductions in	
	eye injuries [380]. Safety glasses are recommended for
	prevention of eye injuries and the specific type of protection is
	ideally selected to address the worker(s) specific job task(s).
	Safety glasses suffice for most employment settings. Where

there are high-risks of penetrating eye trauma or chemical splashes, safety goggles, face shields and/or splash guards are generally preferable.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: eye, safety glasses, safety eyewear, safety goggles, eye protective devices, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 117 articles, and considered 3 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 2,782 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 40 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 10 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion zero articles from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Safety Goggles, Face Shields and/or Splash Guards in High-Risk Jobs for Penetrating Eye Trauma or Chemical Splashes Recommended.

Devices

Evidence:

Where there are high-risks of penetrating eye trauma or chemical splashes, safety goggles, face shields and/or splash guards are Recommended, Insufficient Evidence.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Workers at risk of penetrating trauma, hammering/pounding metal, chemical splashes or performing work that previously resulted in foreign bodies.
Benefits:	Injury Prevention
Harms:	
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	
Indications for Discontinuation:	Removal from at-risk task
Rationale:	There are no quality studies. There are no quality comparative trials. In settings were exposures risks and/or consequences of exposures are higher, safety goggles, face shields, and/or splash guards are recommended for prevention of eye injuries. However, Safety glasses likely prevent ocular injuries from
splashes and injuries associated with penetrating eye trauma. Goggles, face shields and/or splash guards may be preferable where risk of splashes is high or where risks of projectile metal is quite high. Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: eye, safety glasses, safety eyewear, safety goggles, eye protective devices, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 117 articles, and considered 3 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 2,782 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 40 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 10 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion zero articles from other sources. Of the 3 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. Comments: Goggles may be preferable where risk of splashes is high. Goggles may also be Indicated where risks of projectile metal is

quite high. However, they are typically less well tolerated.

Diagnosis

Initial Assessment

Visual acuity should be assessed in all patients. It may be impaired, particularly if the visual axis is involved with the injury or the injury is extensive, e.g., with heavy tearing. This is followed by a careful history of the event(s), including duration of the condition. An eye history should be obtained that includes prior trauma and diseases. A history of systemic diseases should be sought. Prior treatment should be recorded. An eye exam should ensue. Findings on inspection typically include redness, tearing and difficulty using the eye. Larger foreign bodies are visible on direct inspection. Unless large, abrasions are usually not visible without staining. Direct inspection may provide initial identification of larger foreign bodies. Magnification should identify foreign body(ies) and, if present, rust rings. Slit lamp examination is best. Fluorescein staining should be performed after the initial eye examination has occurred.

Prompt referral for definitive care is recommended for cases with penetrating wounds, lacerations, impaired ocular movements, new pupillary defects, signs of infection, loss of visual acuity (unless a minor abrasion is in the visual axis), and signs of iritis.

Diagnostic Criteria

Corneal abrasion:

• Linear uptake on fluorescein staining, may be multiple. May have identifiable parallel linear streaks of uptake. May also have one large defect.

Foreign body:

- Visible foreign matter in the eye, either upon inspection or with slit lamp examination
- Foreign matter does not move with eyelid movement if it is embedded or fixed

Rust ring:

• Generally requires a ferrous foreign body in the eye for at least 3-4 hours and, most commonly, overnight. Often visible without magnification, however small rust rings may require slit lamp examination to observe

Classification

Minor abrasions, rust rings and foreign bodies are not commonly classified.

History

The history should include a careful ascertainment of the event(s), including duration of the condition. Particularly important aspects are whether high-impact was used to attempt to estimate the impact and probability of a penetrating foreign body. For example, hammering a nail or metal stamping have higher potential for penetrating trauma, while looking up under a car for routine muffler work with debris dropping in the eye does not. Use of eye protection (glasses, goggles) should be ascertained, and generally (re)recommended if the exposure is ongoing. An eye history should be obtained that includes prior trauma, diseases especially affecting the eye(s). Systemic disease should be sought. Prior treatment should be recorded, including whether the eye has been irrigated or otherwise treated.

Physical Exam

In general, physical examination for simple corneal abrasions, rust rings and foreign bodies should include the following elements:

- Distant visual acuity, usually Snellen
- Inspection, appearance (sclera, conjunctiva, blood)
- Signs of other potential foreign bodies in the eyelids, eye brows and on the skin
- Periorbital appearance
- Extraocular movements
- Pupillary reactivity, iris and appearance
- Slit lamp examination
- Fluorescein staining

Other physical examination components that are sometimes used for apparent work-related foreign body eye injuries include pinhole testing (particularly if there is a reduction in visual acuity), direct ophthalmoscopy, and occasionally, ocular pressure/manometry.

Diagnostic Recommendations

Visual Acuity Testing

Distance visual acuity screening is performed at the initial visit to document current visual acuity, guide clinical management, and as a baseline for follow-up visits. The Snellen chart test is considered the gold standard in visual acuity testing. Most tests are conducted at a distance of 20 feet away, however smaller letters may be used when the chart or card is less than 20 feet away ([383]

https://medlineplus.gov/ency/article/003396.htm). There are many other acuity tests that have been used including the Randot Stereoacuity test (RSA) [384], the Early Treatment Diabetic Retinopathy Study [385, 386], the Functional Acuity Contrast Test [387] and the Tritan Contrast Threshold test [388].

VISUAL ACUITY SCREENING WHEN EVALUATING EYE CONDITIONS Recommended.

Vision screening is recommended for evaluation of eye function, including foreign body and corneal abrasion injuries.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Benefits:	Provides clinical assessment of vision
Harms:	None
Indications:	For the evaluation of eye function after eye injury from foreign
	bodies and corneal abrasions.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies to directly address the utility of
	visual acuity testing. However, it is the primary screening test
	for all injured eye patients, serving as the main basis for
	evaluating visual acuity, and as it also is not invasive and has
	negligible costs is thus recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Visual Acuity Testing, Snellen Test, E-Chart, Titmus test, Eye Exam, Snellen Test, Titmus test eye, eyes, disorders, sensitivity, specificity, predictive value of tests, gold standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise, and test. We found and reviewed 824 articles in PubMed, 49 in Scopus, 292 in CINAHL, 20 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 16 from PubMed, 5 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 21 articles considered for inclusion, 12 articles met the inclusion criteria.

Use of SLIT LAMP AND FLUORESCEIN STAIN FOR EVALUATION AND DIAGNOSIS OF FOREIGN BODY AND CORNEAL ABRASION Recommended.

Slit lamp with fluorescein staining is recommended.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)	
Level of Confidence – High	

Benefits:	Provides identification of foreign body and corneal epithelial	
	defect. Observation of Seidel's sign indicates possible anterior	•
	chamber leakage or globe perforation.	
Harms:	None. Rare allergies	
Indications:	The slit lamp examination is the most common method for	
	visualizing corneal abrasions and other ocular defects. It is also	D
	the preferred method for visualizing uptake with fluorescein	
	staining.	
Rationale:	There are no quality trials comparing use of slit lamp with and without fluorescein staining. Some foreign bodies may be observed without a microscope or slit lamp. This technique requires modest practitioner skill. The procedure is moderatel expensive, has no adverse effects for diagnostic purposes, is highly effective, and therefore is recommended.	ly

Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: slit lamp examination, slit lamp exam, eye, disorders, sensitivity, specificity, predictive value of tests, gold standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise, and test. We found and reviewed 1577 articles in PubMed, 0 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 0 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 0 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Zero articles met the inclusion criteria.

X-ray

Roentgenograms (X-Rays) use x-ray beams to detect radiolucent objects, particularly metallic or calcified. They have been used to assess the eye's structural components and can be used to detect intraorbital foreign bodies (IOFBs), orbital and intraorbital fractures, orbital floor blow-outs and retinoblastomas [389-392].

X-RAY FOR EVALUATION OF ORBITAL FRACTURE **Recommended.**

Recommended.

X-rays have been used for evaluation of potential fractures, and penetrating eye trauma particularly if metallic [390].

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Benefits: Harms: Indications: Rationale:	Detection of orbital fractures Mild radiation exposure Trauma sufficient to produce orbital fracture(s). There are no quality studies of X-rays for the detection of orbital fracture, although they have been widely used. X-rays are not invasive, have no significant adverse effects and are low to moderate cost and are thus recommended for evaluation of notential orbital fracture
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Eye, Efficacy, Efficiency, Diagnostic, Sensitivity and Specificity, Predictive Value of Tests, Positive predictive value, Negative predictive value, Radiography, X-ray, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 225 articles in PubMed, 271 in Scopus, 3 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered for inclusion 7 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, zero from CINAHL,
	zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the

8 articles considered for inclusion, 0 trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

X-RAY FOR EVALUATION OF OCULAR FOREIGN BODIES

Recommended.

X-rays have been used for evaluating the presence of ocular metallic bodies.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – High

Benefits:	Detection of intraocular foreign bodies
Harms:	Mild radiation exposure
Indications:	High impact tool use likely to produce penetrating projectile(s)
	and thus risk of intraocular foreign bodies.
Rationale:	There are 2 moderate quality studies that included using x-rays
	for detection of intraocular foreign bodies. Clear superiority of
	one imaging method over another (e.g., CT, xray) has not been
	shown, and there is some evidence (i) CT is superior to xray for
	evaluation of trauma [393]; and (ii) MRI is superior to xray or
	CT to determine foreign body composition if non-ferrous [390].
	X-rays are not invasive, have no significant adverse effects and
	are low to moderate cost and are thus recommended for
	evaluation of intraocular foreign bodies (especially metallic).
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date
	limits using the following terms: Eye, Efficacy, Efficiency,
	Diagnostic, Sensitivity and Specificity, Predictive Value of Tests,
	Positive predictive value, Negative predictive value,
	Radiography, X-ray, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials,
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies,
	prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological
	research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and
	reviewed 225 articles in PubMed, 271 in Scopus, 3 in CINAHL, 1
	in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered
	for inclusion 7 from PubMed, 1 from Scopus, zero from CINAHL,
	zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the
	8 articles considered for inclusion, 0 trials and zero systematic
	studies met the inclusion criteria.

X-RAY FOR EVALUATION FOR SIMPLE ABRASIONS, RUST RINGS, AND NON-PENETRATING FOREIGN BODIES Not Recommended.

X-rays are not recommended for routine evaluation of ocular abrasions, rust rings and foreign bodies. Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Benefits:	None for routine use
Harms:	Radiation exposure, cost
Indications:	Not indicated for simple abrasions, rust rings or foreign bodies.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies comparing use of xrays with evaluations without xray to ascertain differences in patient outcomes for simple abrasions, rust rings and/or foreign bodies. Xrays have no clear use for routine evaluation of foreign bodies that do not penetrate and thus are not recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Eye, Efficacy, Efficiency, Diagnostic, Sensitivity and Specificity, Predictive Value of Tests, Positive predictive value, Negative predictive value, Radiography, X-ray, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 225 articles in PubMed, 271 in Scopus, 3 in CINAHL, 1 in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered
	zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the 8 articles considered for inclusion, 3 trials and zero systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Computed Tomography (CT)

Computerized tomograms use x-rays but provide more detailed images with greater resolution [394]. It is considered superior to MRI for imaging fractures [395]. Its purported uses are similar to, but more extensive than xrays including detecting intraorbital foreign bodies (IOFBs), orbital fractures, orbital sepsis and traumatic optic neuropathy [39][396, 397].

CT FOR EVALUATION OF OCULAR FOREIGN BODIES **Recommended.**

CT imaging is selectively indicated for evaluation of penetrating and/or evaluation of potentially retained intraocular foreign bodies.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Benefits:	Improved diagnostic accuracy and potentially altered
	treatment plans
Harms:	Higher radiation exposure than x-rays, cost
Indications:	Selective use only in cases of 1) penetrating globe injuries, 2)
	penetrating corneal abrasions, with 3) concerns for potentially
	retained intraorbital foreign bodies (IOFBs).
Rationale:	There are no quality studies comparing use of CT scans with evaluations without CT scans to ascertain differences in patient outcomes. One small comparative study reported superiority of

helical CT scans to conventional scans in the pre-operative setting (Lakits 1998). CT scans have been suggested to be helpful for evaluating intraorbital foreign bodies (IOFBs) [394, 396, 397] and thus are recommended for selective use. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: computed tomography, orbit injury, eye injury, eye foreign bodies, penetrating eye injuries, eye fractures, trauma, corneal abrasion, rust ring, hyphemia, conjunctivitis, bacterial infection, fungal infection, pterygium, surfer's eye, transplants, cataracts; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, predictive value of tests, efficacy, efficiency, review. We found and reviewed 847 articles in PubMed, 13 in Scopus, 49 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 10 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 10 articles considered for inclusion, 2 diagnostic studies and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. Of these, 2 were of moderate quality.

CT FOR EVALUATION OF POSSIBLE ORBITAL FRACTURE **Recommended.**

Evidence:

CT imaging is selectively indicated for evaluation of penetrating globe injuries and/or abrasions accompanied by concerns for orbital fractures unaddressed by radiographs. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Moderate

Benefits:	Improved diagnostic accuracy and potentially altered
	treatment plans
Harms:	Higher radiation exposure than x-rays, cost
Indications:	Selective use only in cases of suspected fractures not seen on
	simple X-ray, suspected orbital sepsis or traumatic optic
	neuropathy or penetrating globe injuries. May be indicated for
	likely fractures with complications (e.g., impaired visual
	function). Simple orbital fractures without complications do
	not require CT (e.g., no impaired extraocular movements,
	normal visual function). (Pasman 95; Lakits 98)
Rationale:	There are no quality studies comparing use of CT scans with
	evaluations without CT scans to ascertain differences in patient
	outcomes. There is one large trial with a risk tool suggesting
	efficacy with CT for blunt trauma (Bodanapally 2014). CT scans
	have been suggested to be helpful for evaluating orbital
	fractures, orbital sepsis and traumatic optic neuropathy [394,
	396, 397] and thus are recommended for selective use.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date

limits using the following terms: computed tomography, orbit injury, eye injury, eye foreign bodies, penetrating eye injuries, eye fractures, trauma, corneal abrasion, rust ring, hyphemia, conjunctivitis, bacterial infection, fungal infection, pterygium, surfer's eye, transplants, cataracts; diagnostic, diagnosis, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, predictive value of tests, efficacy, efficiency, review. We found and reviewed 847 articles in PubMed, 13 in Scopus, 49 in CINAHL, 4 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 10 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 10 articles considered for inclusion, 2 diagnostic studies and 1 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. Of these, 2 were of moderate quality.

Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)

Magnetic Resonance Imagery (MRI) has been used especially for soft tissue imaging [398-402] that includes intraocular, non-ferrous foreign bodies [403, 404].

MRI FOR DIAGNOSIS OF FOREIGN BODY AND CORNEAL ABRASION Not Recommended.

MRI is not recommended for routine evaluation of eye foreign body or corneal abrasion, particularly if there is concern of ferrous-metallic object penetration of the globe. MRI may be a reasonable option to evaluate intraocular foreign bodies when there is assurance that an intraocular foreign body is non-ferrous [390, 403] and/or there are concerns for fracture with visual impairment

Stre	eng	th o	f Evidence	e – Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I)
		-		

Level of Confidence – High

Benefits:	Identification of foreign body(ies)
Harms:	Contraindicated with ferrous-metal foreign body due to potential further trauma, costs
Indications:	Not recommended for most ocular events. Rarely
	recommended for soft tissue injuries. However, MRI is useful
	for evaluation of other conditions including orbital fractures,
	and trauma with visual impairment.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies comparing use of MRIs with evaluations without MRIs to ascertain differences in patients outcomes. MRI may be a reasonable option to evaluate intraocular foreign bodies if they are known to be non-ferrous [403]. MRIs have been shown to be helpful for evaluating soft tissues, including retinal imaging, evaluating staphyloma [405]. Workers are usually unable to identify whether a potential metal foreign body is ferrous or not, providing further concerns about the use of MRI in that setting. When there is concern
	regarding detection of orbital fractures, CT is generally preferable.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed Scopus CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date

limits using the following terms: Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI), eye, orbit, eye foreign bodies, eye injuries, penetrating, sensitivity and specificity, predictive value of tests, gold-standard, accurate, accuracy, precision, precise and test. We found and reviewed 275 articles in PubMed, 5 in Scopus, 5 in CINAHL, 9 in Cochrane Library and zero in other sources. We considered for inclusion 9 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 1 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 10 articles considered for inclusion, 3 articles met the inclusion criteria.

Treatment Recommendations

Foreign Body Removal

Depending on size and degree of embedding, foreign bodies are commonly removed through irrigation, cotton swab, hypodermic needle tip, burr tool, and natural tears [406-408]. Magnets are also successfully used for ferrous foreign body `removals [409, 410]. Rust rings also occur and are generally easily removed [411, 412].

COPIOUS IRRIGATION FOR REMOVAL OF SUPERFICIAL FOREIGN BODY(IES) Recommended.

Surgical Considerations

Copious irrigation (e.g., approximately 200mL to 1L) is recommended for removal of superficial foreign body(ies) in some circumstances. The use of a Morgan Lens is not recommended for simple foreign bodies and may cause (additional) abrasions unless there is concern related to chemical or other substance that may result in rapid corneal injury through pH imbalance or other mechanism. Copious irrigation after removal of a foreign body (see below) is often included as an adjunct to attempt to assure removal of foreign body(ies).

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Level of Confidence – High	

Indications:	Foreign body sensation, especially with mechanism suspected to result in unembedded foreign body(ies), such as fiberglas, windblown debris. Also selectively used after foreign body removal particularly if the foreign body fragments
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Irrigation with from approximately 200mL to 1L of either sterile saline or lactated Ringer's solution is recommended [413]. Experimental evidence suggests solution choice is unimportant [413].
Benefits:	Removal of foreign body or irritants.
Harms:	Negligible when irrigated without an appliance. May have minor irritation
Indications for Discontinuation:	After completion. May repeat until symptoms resolved.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies comparing irrigation with no irrigation for foreign bodies of the eye. Irrigation is low cost, minimally invasive, associated with negligible risks, is successful and is recommended.

Evidence:

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: nonpenetrating, superficial, ocular, corneal, penetrating, foreign body, eye foreign bodies, "rust ring, eye, eyes, removal, extraction, leaving in the eye, mydriatics, cycloplegic, meidiatric effect, extraction size, extraction location, woods lamp, slit lamp, fibrin tissue adhesive, fibrin sealant, autologous fibrin tissue adhesive, fibrin klebe system immune, transglutine, crosseal, tisseel, tissel, tussucol, beriplast, seal fibrin, eye irrigation, irrigation, morgan lens, morgan lenses, patching, patch, treatment, eye magnet, eye burr, diamond burr, alger brush, ophthalmic burr, aaron burr, burr, contusion, Acuvail, acular LS, acular PF, acuvil, bromday, bromfenac ophthalmic, diclofenac ophthalmic, flurbiprophen ophthalmic, llevro, ketorolac ophthalmic, phenylephrine ophthalmic, nepafenac ophthalmic, nevanac, ocufen, omidria, prolensa, voltaren ophthalmic, ketoroloac tromethamine, topical NSAID, "Anti-Inflammatory Agents, Non-Steroidal", Gentamicin, tobramycin, besifloxacin, ciproflaxin, gatifloxacin, levofloxacin, moxifloxacin, ofloxacin, azithromycin, erythromycin, bacitracin, polymyxin, natamycin, neomycin, gramicidin, trimethoprim, sulfacetamide, Neosporin, polytrim, natacyn, romycin, Azasite, ocuflox, vigamox, Iquix, quixin, Zymar, Ciloxan, besivance, tobrex, Anti-Bacterial Agents, Anti-Bacterial, Agents, antibiotic ointment, antibacterial ointment, anesthetics, lidocaine, tetracaine, proparacaine, fluress, topical anesthetic, prednisolone, fluorometholone, steroids, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 85 articles, and considered 13 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 10,342 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 137 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 173 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 4 articles from other sources. Of the 18 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

FOREIGN BODY REMOVAL OF SUPERFICIAL FOREIGN BODY(IES) WITH COTTON SWAB, NEEDLE OR MAGNET Recommended. Surgical Considerations Foreign body removal is recommended. The device used (e.g., needle, tool, magnet, swab) is recommended to be based on expected foreign body composition, depth of embedding and clinician's experience. Copious irrigation after removal of a foreign body (see above) may also be included as an adjunct to attempt to assure removal of foreign body(ies) especially if fragmentation occurs on attempted removal. Use of slit-lamp examination is usually helpful, but is optional for simple removals, especially when the foreign body is visible without magnification and removal is easy (e.g., use of magnet). Slit-lamp is essential if prior removal attempts fail. [406]

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications: Benefits:	Foreign body visualized, and non-mobile. Removal of foreign body
Harms:	Negligible in experienced hands. Rare infections, although that risk may not be associated with the foreign body removal, and instead is more associated with embedded organic matter.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	With resolution of issue
Rationale:	Foreign body removal has not been evaluated in quality comparative trials. Use of a magnetized tool tip is quite simple and may result in less corneal damage, but its use is limited to ferrous bodies. Quality data do not clearly define that a slit- lamp examination is required [406], although for some removals it is essential. Foreign body removal is moderate cost, minimally invasive, associated with negligible risks, is highly successful and is recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and
	Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:
	nonpenetrating, superficial, ocular, corneal, penetrating,
	foreign body, eye foreign bodies, "rust ring, eye, eyes, removal,
	extraction, leaving in the eye, mydriatics, cycloplegic, meidiatric
	effect, extraction size, extraction location, woods lamp, slit
	lamp, fibrin tissue adhesive, fibrin sealant, autologous fibrin
	tissue adhesive, fibrin klebe system immune, transglutine.
	crosseal, tisseel, tissel, tussucol, beriplast, seal fibrin, eve
	irrigation, irrigation, morgan lens, morgan lenses, patching,
	natch treatment eve magnet eve burr diamond burr alger
	brush ophthalmic burr aaron burr burr contusion Acuvail
	acular IS acular PE acuvil bromday bromfenac onbthalmic
	diclofenac onthalmic flurbinronten onthalmic llevro
	ketorolac ophthalmic, narbipropried ophthalmic, newo,
	onhthalmic nevanac ocufen omidria prolensa voltaren
	ophthalmic, nevanac, ocuren, omuna, projensa, voicaren
	Inflammatory Agents, Non-Steroidal", Contamicia, tobramycia
	horiflovacia ciproflavia gatiflovacia lovoflovacia moviflovacia
	of avaging anithromy sing anythromy sing basitraging anythromy single anyt
	onoxacin, azitirromycin, erythromycin, bacitracin, polymyxin,
	natamycin, neomycin, gramicioin, trimetnoprim, suiracetamide,
	Neosporin, polytrim, natacyn, romycin, Azasite, ocuflox,

vigamox, Iquix, quixin, Zymar, Ciloxan, besivance, tobrex, Anti-Bacterial Agents, Anti-Bacterial, Agents, antibiotic ointment, antibacterial ointment, anesthetics, lidocaine, tetracaine, proparacaine, fluress, topical anesthetic, prednisolone, fluorometholone, steroids, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 85 articles, and considered 13 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 10,342 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 137 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 173 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 4 articles from other sources. Of the 18 articles considered for inclusion, 12 randomized trials and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

Comments:

[Can include harms, benefits, advantages, limitations, etc.]

REMOVAL OF RUST RING **Recommended.**

Surgical Considerations

Removal of a corneal rust ring is recommended. Rust rings can develop in as little as three to four hours after ferrous metal adheres to, or penetrates the cornea [56-58]. Due to its insolubility in the corneal tissues, oxidation occurs and rust infiltrates the surrounding corneal tissue [56-58]. However, it is usually readily removed [57, 58].

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Presence of rust ring with or without foreign body. If foreign body visualized, it must be removed and by definition, use of a magnet for an initial tool to attempt to remove the foreign body is preferred. For rust ring removal, use of a burr under slit lamp examination is the preferable procedure. [412] Use of a hypodermic needle may be adequate to successfully remove
	some tiny rust rings.
Benefits:	Removal of rust ring. Improvement in visual acuity if rust ring is in the visual axis. Removal is thought to also reduce scarring.
Harms:	Negligible in experienced hands.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Rationale:	There is no trial comparing rust ring removal with non-removal. Rust ring removal has been evaluated in one moderate quality trial that compared manual rust ring removal with use of an electric drill and found the drill superior [412]. A low quality

trial found comparative results with an electric drill compared with a burr [412]. Delayed and/or inadequate rust ring removal has been associated with worse ocular rehabilitation. [414] Rust ring removal is minimally invasive, associated with negligible risks, generally quite successful, moderately costly, and thus is recommended. Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: Rust ring removal, cornea, corneal, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 12 articles in PubMed, 5 in Scopus, 0 in CINAHL, 2 in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 4 from PubMed, 0 from Scopus, 0 from CINAHL, 0 from Cochrane Library and 0 from other sources. Of the 4 articles considered for inclusion, 2 clinical trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Eye Patching

Eye patching has been used as a treatment for corneal abrasion injuries related to foreign body or traumatic injury of the corneal epithelium [362, 415-419]. Patching for 24 hours has been traditionally prescribed to purportedly reduce pain and a theory of promoting healing through reducing eyelid movement across the wound [417].

EYE PATCHING FOR CORNEAL ABRASION Moderately Not Recommended.

Devices

Eye patching for simple corneal abrasions is moderately not recommended, including after removal of foreign bodies or rust rings.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:NoneBenefits: None demonstratedHarms: Inability to use the eye, elimination of binocular vision, reduced depth
perception.Frequency/Dose/Duration:Indications for Discontinuation:Rationale:There are five moderate quality trials that compared the use of
an eye patch with no patch for simple corneal abrasions. [362,
416-419] There are no quality trials comparing patch to non-
patching without cointerventions, as each of the trials utilized
other treatments in addition to patching, including mydriatics,
ophthalmic antibiotic drops or ointments, which may also have
had some therapeutic effect. However, the trial results

uniformly found no clinically significant differences demonstrated between the groups in healing times, pain control or adverse outcomes. The use of an eye patch did not demonstrate altered increased risk of infection in any of the trials. Use of an eye patch may be problematic for activities requiring binocular vision and good depth perception. Evidence is consistent that an eye patch does not provide faster healing or fewer complications, and therefore patching is not recommended for simple abrasions. There are 8 low quality trials comparing the use of an eye patch with no patch concomitant in the appendix, with mostly comparable results. [417, 418, 420-425]

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: nonpenetrating, superficial, ocular, corneal, penetrating, foreign body, eye foreign bodies, "rust ring, eye, eyes, removal, extraction, leaving in the eye, mydriatics, cycloplegic, meidiatric effect, extraction size, extraction location, woods lamp, slit lamp, fibrin tissue adhesive, fibrin sealant, autologous fibrin tissue adhesive, fibrin klebe system immune, transglutine, crosseal, tisseel, tissel, tussucol, beriplast, seal fibrin, eye irrigation, irrigation, morgan lens, morgan lenses, patching, patch, treatment, eye magnet, eye burr, diamond burr, alger brush, ophthalmic burr, aaron burr, burr, contusion, Acuvail, acular LS, acular PF, acuvil, bromday, bromfenac ophthalmic, diclofenac ophthalmic, flurbiprophen ophthalmic, llevro, ketorolac ophthalmic, phenylephrine ophthalmic, nepafenac ophthalmic, nevanac, ocufen, omidria, prolensa, voltaren ophthalmic, ketoroloac tromethamine, topical NSAID, "Anti-Inflammatory Agents, Non-Steroidal", Gentamicin, tobramycin, besifloxacin, ciproflaxin, gatifloxacin, levofloxacin, moxifloxacin, ofloxacin, azithromycin, erythromycin, bacitracin, polymyxin, natamycin, neomycin, gramicidin, trimethoprim, sulfacetamide, Neosporin, polytrim, natacyn, romycin, Azasite, ocuflox, vigamox, Iquix, quixin, Zymar, Ciloxan, besivance, tobrex, Anti-Bacterial Agents, Anti-Bacterial, Agents, antibiotic ointment, antibacterial ointment, anesthetics, lidocaine, tetracaine, proparacaine, fluress, topical anesthetic, prednisolone, fluorometholone, steroids, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 85 articles, and considered 13 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 10,342 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 137 articles,

Evidence:

and considered 0 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 173 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 4 articles from other sources. Of the 18 articles considered for inclusion, 5 randomized trials and 5 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Medications

The use of ophthalmic antibiotic solutions or ointments have been prescribed following traumatic corneal abrasion. The incidence of bacterial keratitis following corneal abrasion is thought to be low, however there may be increased risk with injuries associated with vegetative or organic matter. [72-74]. There also is a reportedly higher incidence of keratitis from foreign body injuries in the developing world than industrialized countries [75][426].

Topical nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medications (NSAIDs) function as local analgesics and are administered to provide relief from pain associated with corneal abrasions [76], postoperative pain from various surgical procedures [77] and pain associated with many other disorders.

Topical antifungal medications, generally in ointment form, have been used to attempt to prevent (or treat) fungal keratitis that typically arises from corneal abrasions with unsanitary objects or sources. [427]

PROPHYLACTIC OPHTHALMIC ANTIBIOTICS FOR SIMPLE CORNEAL ABRASION, RUST RINGS, AND FOREIGN BODIES No Recommendation.

Medications (including topical creams)

There is no recommendation for or against the use of prophylactic ophthalmic antibiotics for simple corneal abrasion, rust rings, and foreign bodies that do not involve vegetative matter.

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insuffcient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence - Low

Indications: Benefits: Harms: Frequency/Dose/Duration: Indications for Discontinuation:	None in the absence of vegetative matter (see below) N/A Potential for allergic reaction
Rationale:	There are no quality studies suggesting efficacy of prophylactic ophthalmic antibiotics for prevention of eye infections in the setting of minor ocular trauma and not involving vegetative matter; vegetative matter is thought to significantly increase risk of infections and the recommendation is different (see below). There is only one low quality study using antifungals for corneal abrasions which showed lack of efficacy between treatment groups. As there is no quality evidence, antibiotics are not invasive, have few adverse effects and are low cost, there is no recommendation for or against use of antibiotics in the absence of vegetative matter.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses, anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular

injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 29 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

PROPHYLACTIC OPHTHALMIC ANTIBIOTICS FOR ORGANIC MATTER INJURIES Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Prophylactic ophthalmic antibiotics are recommended for abrasions associated with significant organic or vegetative matter.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Abrasions due to organic or vegetative matter, regardless of
	whether a foreign body removal procedure was required.
Benefits:	Potential for reduced risk of infection.
Harms:	Allergic reactions in susceptible patients, intolerance
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations
Indications for Discontinuation:	When the condition has resolved
Rationale:	There are no quality trials comparing prophylactic antibiotic use with placebo or non-use in the setting of trauma involving organic matter. However, there is thought to be considerably higher risk of infection when vegetative matter is involved due to potential microbial load/dose, and this is thought to increase risk of infection. Prophylactic use is widely practiced in this setting. Ophthalmic antibiotics are noninvasive with low risk for systemic effects, but do carry small risk of adverse events such as allergic reaction, eyelid itching and swelling, and conjunctivitis. Costs range from inexpensive to relatively high cost for new wide spectrum antibiotics. Eye injuries associated with plant or vegetative matter or organic matter likely have higher risk for bacterial or fungal infection and may warrant use of these medications, and thus they are recommended for
Fuidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
Lvidence.	PubMed Scopus CINAHI and Cochrane Library without date
	limite using the following terms: corned, corned, corned, or
	limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye
	injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects,

anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses, anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 29 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

NSAID DROPS AFTER REMOVAL OF RUST RING OR FOREIGN BODY REMOVAL Moderately Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

NSAID ophthalmic drops are recommended for large abrasions and/or after removal of a corneal rust ring or foreign body, particularly if larger sized.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)

Level of Confidence - Moderate

Indications:	Rust ring with or without foreign body removal with larger sized ocular trauma.
Benefits:	Reduced pain, decreased inflammatory response.
Harms:	Allergic reactions in susceptible patients, intolerance.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations. Duration is until the abrasion is resolved.
Indications for Discontinuation:	When the condition and pain has resolved
Rationale:	There are 6 moderate quality trials comparing NSAIDs with placebo or drug vehicle for analgesia of simple corneal abrasion [428-433]. Ophthalmic drops were evaluated in one moderate quality study after rust ring removal and found evidence of efficacy [411]. Each of the trials suggest efficacy in providing analgesia, with no significant increases in adverse events or reduction in healing times. NSAID drops have been shown to reduce pain, have low adverse effects, are low cost, and are thus recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects, anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses.

anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 29 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 8 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

PROPHYLACTIC OPHTHALMIC ANTIFUNGALS FOR ROUTINE PROPHYLAXIS OF SIMPLE CORNEAL ABRASIONS, RUST RINGS, AND FOREIGN BODIES

Not Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

The use of topical antifungal medications is not recommended for routine prophylaxis of simple corneal abrasions, rust rings and foreign bodies. They may be of benefit in select populations at risk for contaminated injuries such as from plants or organic matter.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence - Low

Indications:	Not indicated for simple abrasions, rust rings and foreign bodies. May be used for very select patients who sustained a contaminated exposure.
Benefits:	N/A
Harms:	N/A
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	
Rationale:	There are no quality trials of efficacy in a developed country. There is one moderate quality comparative trial comparing use of antibiotics and topical clotrimazole with antibiotics in a developing world tribal population [427]. There were no differences in healing rates. The study may be limited by power, generalizability from Southern India, potentially different foreign body source(s) and/or complications may have differed [427]. Topical prophylactic antifungal medications are noninvasive, have low risk for adverse events, low to moderate cost, and are not shown to be effective and thus are not recommended for routine use as prophylaxis for simple corneal abrasions.

Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects, anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses, anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 29 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

THERAPEUTIC CONTACT LENS FOR CORNEAL ABRASIONS, RUST RINGS, AND FOREIGN BODIES Not Recommended.

Devices

A therapeutic contact lens or contact bandage is not recommended for corneal abrasions, rust rings, or foreign bodies.

Strength of Evidence: Abrasions – Not Recommended, Evidence (C)

Strength of Evidence: Rust Rings, Foreign Bodies – Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Generally not indicated for corneal abrasions, rust rings or foreign bodies as a stand-alone treatment
<i>Benefits:</i> None	
Harms:	N/A
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Rationale:	There is one moderate quality trial that compares use of
	patching with therapeutic contact lens and topical antibiotic for
	healing rates of simple corneal abrasion. There was no
	difference between the two groups. [65] Thus, there is no
	evidence of efficacy of the therapeutic contact lens and it is not
	recommended for these purposes.

There are two low quality trials included in the appendix. [83, 84]

Evidence: A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects, anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses, anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 29 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTOR (EGF) FOR CORNEAL ABRASIONS, RUST RINGS, AND FOREIGN BODIES Not Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Epidermal growth factor (EGF) is not recommended in the treatment of corneal abrasion, rust rings and foreign bodies.

Strength of Evidence: Abrasions – Not Recommended, Evidence (C)

Strength of Evidence: Rust Rings, foreign bodies – **Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I)** Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Not indicated for the treatment of corneal abrasions, rust rings
	and foreign bodies.
Benefits:	"Potential for faster re-epithelialization and healing.
Risks:	Possible allergic response to EGF
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Rationale:	There is one quality trial comparing the use of EGF with placebo suggesting faster healing times measured in hours rather than days. [434] Topical ophthalmic EGF is not available on the U.S. FDA approved list of medications (accessed

drugs@FDA 4/20/15). Thus, EGF is not recommended for simple corneal abrasions.

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects, anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses, anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 29 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

MYDRIATIC MEDICATIONS FOR SIMPLE CORNEAL ABRASIONS, RUST RINGS, AND FOREIGN BODIES Moderately Not Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Evidence:

Mydriatic medications are not recommended for treatment of simple corneal abrasions, rust rings and foreign bodies.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Not Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	N/A
Benefits:	N/A
Harms:	N/A
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Rationale:	There is one high quality trial demonstrating no efficacy of mydriatic medication compared with synthetic teardrops for analgesia after corneal abrasion. [436] Mydriatic medications are not invasive, but cause dilation of the pupil and potentially light sensitivity and decreased visual acuity that may be a safety concern for reading, driving, etc. They are low cost. The use of mydriatic medications for corneal abrasion is not recommended except in circumstances that require pupil dilation.

There are 8 moderate and low quality trials that utilized mydriatic medications in conjunction with other treatments with no comparison of efficacy. These articles are found in other tables elsewhere in this guideline or the appendix. [362, 416, 420, 422, 423, 437-439]

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects, anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses, anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 29 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 8 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

ARTIFICIAL TEARS OR LUBRICATION FOR EXTENSIVE CORNEAL ABRASIONS, RUST RINGS, AND FOREIGN BODIES Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Evidence:

Artificial tears or lubricants are selectively recommended for treatment of patients with extensive corneal abrasions, rust rings and foreign bodies, especially among those who do not tolerate ophthalmologic NSAIDs.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Corneal abrasions of sufficient size and pain that require
	adjunctive treatment. However, NSAIDs are more effective
	[429, 433], thus artificial tears reserved for those not tolerating
	ophthalmological NSAIDs.
Benefits:	May potentially alleviate some symptoms.
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of the condition
Rationale:	There are two quality trials comparing artificial tears to topical NSAIDs, demonstrating greater efficacy of the NSAID than

artificial tears [429, 433]. There are no quality trials for artificial tears or lubrication vs. placebo. Artificial tears are inexpensive, noninvasive, and have low adverse effects. There is insufficient evidence for or against use of artificial tears, and other interventions may be more beneficial. However, these may be a low cost, low adverse effect option for those who do not tolerate NSAIDs yet require some additional minor treatment. Low quality –[433, 438, 439].

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects, anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses, anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 29 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 2 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Use of Topical Anesthetics for Corneal Abrasions, Rust Rings, and Foreign Bodies Moderately Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Evidence:

The selective use of topical anesthetics as a patient treatment option is recommended for short-term analgesia for corneal abrasion, rust rings and foreign bodies. However, self-treatment by the patient at home is not recommended.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Particularly large and/or painful injuries. Short term use of only
	one or two days is recommended.
Benefits:	Immediate relief of corneal and conjunctiva irritation and pain
Harms:	Potential for systemic toxicity, mask retained foreign body or
	nonhealing defect
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of the condition

Rationale:	There is one high quality trial and one moderate quality trial demonstrating analgesic efficacy over the first 24 hours after injury [440, 441]. The prolonged use of topical anesthetics is controversial, with concerns for toxicity from overuse, or complications from overtreatment of pain such as retained foreign body. Topical anesthetic is not invasive, has low but potentially important adverse effects and is generally low cost.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects, anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses, anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and 12 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 29 from PubMed, 3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 3
	criteria.

TOPICAL OPIOIDS FOR ANALGESIA OF CORNEAL ABRASIONS, RUST RINGS, AND FOREIGN BODIES Not Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

The use of topical fentanyl and opioids for analgesia of corneal abrasions, rust rings, and foreign bodies is not recommended.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Moderate

N/A
N/A
Decreased lacrimation, corneal sensitivity loss, increased
corneal permeability, disruption of corneal cell motility, swelling and inhibition of corneal re-epithelialization.
N/A
N/A

Rationale:	There is one quality trial comparing the use of topical fentanyl with no fentanyl that demonstrated no improved in analgesia at the dose tested. [442] There are no commercially available topical opioids approved for use in the eye in the U.S. These medications are not invasive, have reported adverse effects, and have no demonstrated efficacy and are thus not
Evidence:	and have no demonstrated efficacy and are thus not recommended. A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: cornea, corneal, corneas, eye injuries, scratch, scratches, abrasion, abrasions, defect, defects, anti-bacterial agents, antibiotic prophylaxis, contact lenses, anesthetics, injections, intravitrial injections, intraocular injections, analgesics, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, narcotics, mydriatics, ointments, ophthalmic solutions, patch, patches, capping, rubbing, everting, flushing, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 163 articles in PubMed, 100 in Scopus, 78 in CINAHL, 143 in Cochrane Library and
	3 from Scopus, 2 from CINAHL, 3 from Cochrane Library and 1 from other sources. Of the 38 articles considered for inclusion, 26 randomized trials and 8 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Follow-Up Visits

There are no quality studies on the frequencies of following up patients with these injuries, thus guidance is by expert consensus. Patients with minor abrasions may require no follow-up other than if symptoms persist and fail to resolve in one to two days. Patients with more extensive abrasions, abrasions from vegetative matter, large foreign body removals and/or large rust ring removals may require followups every 1-3 days until healed. The primary purposes of frequent followup appointments are to assess healing, detect complications and address work limitations all of which may change quickly.

Traumatic Injuries

Overview

Penetrating trauma and rupture of the globe are rare injuries, although work is an occasional cause of those injuries, particularly high impact or motor vehicle crashes [44, 90, 443-446]. These are diverse and complex injuries that include a range of injuries from simple corneal lacerations to deep structural injuries. Complications of these injuries include visual impairments, astigmatisms, endophthalmitis, infections, sympathetic ophthalmia, cataracts, blindness, and enucleation [371, 447, 448].

Corneal Lacerations

Corneal lacerations are deeper wounds than abrasions and include flap wounds. More extensive wounds may include injury to intraocular structures such as the lens. Retinoic acid has been used for adjunctive treatment of corneal lacerations [449], however, there are no quality studies and it is **Recommended**, **Insufficient Evidence (I)**. Rigid gas-permeable contact lenses have been used to attempt to provide better healing [450-453]. There are no quality studies of contact lenses for this purpose, and they are

Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I). Injuries with significantly impaired vision, e.g. due to uncorrectable astigmatisms or opacities may need corneal transplantation (see Corneal Transplantation for Blindness or Other Corneal Scarring/Defects after Chemical Eye Exposures) [452].

Penetrating trauma and intraocular foreign bodies are **Recommended**, **Insufficient Evidence (I)** to be initially treated with stabilization of the intraocular foreign body without removal to avoid further trauma, and prompt, emergent referral for definitive treatment. Many small intraocular foreign bodies, particularly metallic, do not require removal, and instead can be conservatively managed [454-456].

This guideline does not address these penetrating eye injuries in detail that require referral for highly individualized, definitive care [367, 455, 457-470].

Blunt Trauma and Traumatic Hyphema

Blunt ocular trauma is most commonly due to transportation crashes, sports injuries and altercations [84, 471, 472]. Other occupational causes occur beyond those due to work-related vehicular crashes [84, 473]. Predictors of worse outcomes reportedly include afferent or nonreactive pupil, fracture, and inability to open the eye [474].

Blunt trauma injures are highly diverse and include contusions, fractures, hyphema, retinal detachments, anterior chamber angle recession, ocular hypertension, and other complications [72, 475, 476]. As multiple other injuries are potentially present, a comprehensive evaluation of the patient and his/her neighboring tissues/organ systems is required. Orbital blowout fractures most commonly involve the medial wall followed by the orbital floor [473]. Associated nasal fractures have been reported in 16% [473]. While x-rays are often performed for initial evaluations and are **Recommended**, **Insufficient Evidence (I)**. CT scans are considered the main imaging procedure [396] and are **Recommended**, **Insufficient Evidence (I)**. Traumatic hyphema is susceptible to recurrent bleeding in approximately 10-40% of patients. [477-483]. Prevention of re-bleeding is believed to be important to prevent worse outcomes and prednisone and aminocaproic acid have been utilized.

This guideline does not address those blunt trauma eye injuries that are complex, particularly those with pupillary defects, impairments and/or require definitive surgical care. Surgical approaches and techniques are diverse that are used for treating orbital fractures [211, 315, 484-492].

Treatment Recommendations

TOPICAL AMINOCAPROIC ACID FOR TRAUMATIC HYPHEMA Moderately Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Topical aminocaproic acid is recommended for treatment of traumatic hyphema [493].

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)

Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications: Benefits:	Non-penetrating traumatic hyphema. Improved visual acuity, reduced risk of corneal blood staining, glaucoma,
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Aminocaproic acid 30% in 2% carboxypolymethylene gel, 0.2mL applied in the inferior fornix Q6hrs for 5 days. Patients in the highest quality trial were also treated with 30° of head elevation, metal eye shield and moderate ambulation. [493, 494]
Indications for Discontinuation:	Completion of the treatment course.

Rationale:	The highest quality trial compared controls with oral or topical aminocaproic acid and found markedly superior visual acuity results with either aminocaproic acid treatment arm [493]. Other studies have also suggested efficacy compared with placebo [494-496] with another underpowered study also trending towards efficacy [497]. Another trial found comparable results between aminocaproic acid and prednisone [498], while another trial failed to find efficacy of glucocorticosteroid [499]. Topical aminocaproic acid is not invasive, has low adverse effects, is moderately costly, but is efficacious for preserving and/or recover visual acuity and thus is moderately recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: traumatic hyphemia, hyphema, hyphaema, eye, eyes, topical glucocorticoid eye drops, topical beta adrenergic blocker eye drops, patching, ophthalmic solutions, prednisone,, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. We found and reviewed 17 articles in PubMed, 2 in Scopus, 70 in CINAHL, one in Cochrane Library and 0 in other sources. We considered for inclusion 5 from PubMed, zero from Scopus, zero from CINAHL, zero from Cochrane Library and zero from other sources. Of the 13 articles considered for inclusion, 11 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

TRANEXAMIC ACID FOR TRAUMATIC HYPHEMA **Recommended.**

Medications (including topical creams)

Tranexamic acid is recommended for treatment of traumatic hyphema [500].

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C)

Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Non-penetrating traumatic hyphema.
Benefits:	Reduced risk of re-bleeding
Harms:	Negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Tranexamic acid 25mg/kg orally three times a day [500].
Indications for Discontinuation:	When visual acuity is restored.
Rationale:	One moderate quality trial suggested efficacy of oral tranexamic acid for treatment of hyphema and further suggested superiority to steroid [500]. Tranexamic acid is not invasive, has some adverse effects, is moderately costly, but is highly efficacious to preserve and/or recover visual acuity and thus is moderately recommended.

Evidence:

A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: nonpenetrating, superficial, ocular, corneal, penetrating, foreign body, eye foreign bodies, "rust ring, eye, eyes, removal, extraction, leaving in the eye, mydriatics, cycloplegic, meidiatric effect, extraction size, extraction location, woods lamp, slit lamp, fibrin tissue adhesive, fibrin sealant, autologous fibrin tissue adhesive, fibrin klebe system immune, transglutine, crosseal, tisseel, tissel, tussucol, beriplast, seal fibrin, eye irrigation, irrigation, morgan lens, morgan lenses, patching, patch, treatment, eye magnet, eye burr, diamond burr, alger brush, ophthalmic burr, aaron burr, burr, contusion, Acuvail, acular LS, acular PF, acuvil, bromday, bromfenac ophthalmic, diclofenac ophthalmic, flurbiprophen ophthalmic, llevro, ketorolac ophthalmic, phenylephrine ophthalmic, nepafenac ophthalmic, nevanac, ocufen, omidria, prolensa, voltaren ophthalmic, ketoroloac tromethamine, topical NSAID, "Anti-Inflammatory Agents, Non-Steroidal", Gentamicin, tobramycin, besifloxacin, ciproflaxin, gatifloxacin, levofloxacin, moxifloxacin, ofloxacin, azithromycin, erythromycin, bacitracin, polymyxin, natamycin, neomycin, gramicidin, trimethoprim, sulfacetamide, Neosporin, polytrim, natacyn, romycin, Azasite, ocuflox, vigamox, Iquix, quixin, Zymar, Ciloxan, besivance, tobrex, Anti-Bacterial Agents, Anti-Bacterial, Agents, antibiotic ointment, antibacterial ointment, anesthetics, lidocaine, tetracaine, proparacaine, fluress, topical anesthetic, prednisolone, fluorometholone, steroids, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 85 articles, and considered 13 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 10,342 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 137 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 173 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 4 articles from other sources. Of the 18 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 1 systematic study met the inclusion criteria.

Infections and Corneal Ulcers

Related Terms

- Viral conjunctivitis
- Bacterial conjunctivitis
- Fungal conjunctivitis
- Fungal keratitis
- Corneal ulcer
- Epithelial keratitis
- Nummular keratitis
- Interstitial keratitis
- Ulcerative keratitis

Overview

Most eye infections are diagnosed as viral conjunctivitis [501-507]. These infections are highly contagious [508-511]. Viral conjunctivitis normally does not require treatment other than instructions on careful handwashing, potentially isolating the patient/worker from others, avoiding touching the eye and any other object (contact precautions) [512]. Conjunctivitis caused by herpes simplex or herpes zoster may be resolved faster with treatments [513] [503-506, 514-516]. Herpetic and zoster corneal infections are considerably more complex than conjunctivitis caused by, e.g., adenovirus. Herpetic and zoster corneal infections may be vision-threatening and require prolonged treatment with anti-viral medications. Bacterial infections are the second most common cause [501-503, 506, 507]. Bacterial infections may be self-limited and thus not require treatment [508], but they can also be more serious. Fungal infections are more serious and require treatment. One of the more serious conditions is ulcer(s) complicated by bacterial and fungal infection; these require treatment and more vigilant follow-up care. Fungal infections typically take at least a month to resolve [517]. Contact-lens related infections are caused by bacterial, fungal and Acanthamoeba infections and are beyond the scope of this guideline [518]. Simple infections are mostly treated by primary care, urgent care and other non-ophthalmological and non-optometric specialists [509]. Corneal ulcers are considered an ophthalmologic emergency. They may result in permanent visual impairment. They may be bacterial, viral, fungal, or parasitic in origin and may occur following corneal lacerations, abrasions, and intrusion of foreign bodies. They may result from poorly fitted or inadequately cleaned contact lenses. Patients with corneal ulcers present with complaints of changes in visual acuity, photophobia and/or eye pain, tearing, and a sensation that a foreign body is in the eye. The presence of corneal ulcers can be determined by direct visualization, but magnified viewing with fluorescein staining is needed to completely rule out their presence.

Risk and Causation

Risk Factors

Viral conjunctivitis is highly contagious. Thus in some circumstances, the source or index case may be apparent. In most cases, the case appears spontaneously and thus the source and location of the source is unknown.

Bacterial and fungal infections most commonly occur as complications of either acute injuries or contact lens use [519, 520]. Other cases may occur without apparent cause. Risk factors include poor hygiene, poor contact lens hygiene, immunocompromised states, dry eyes, rheumatological disorders with ocular effects, recent eye surgery, crowded living conditions, dry eyes, blepharitis, contaminated cosmetics, use of topical medications, and sexually transmitted disease (especially Neisseria).

Causation

Work-relatedness of ocular infections as direct complications of acute injury (e.g., work-related corneal abrasion with subsequent fungal infection) is not difficult as the mechanism of injury and acuity of symptom onset generally begets a straightforward determination of work-relatedness. Causation of infections that occur without a work-related injury is also relatively simple, as the lack of an association is usually apparent and in most jurisdictions simplifies a determination of non-work relatedness.

Prevalence/Incidence

Infections are estimated to cause approximately 6 million infections in the US annually [521]. The incidence of culture-proven microbial infection has been estimated as 0.26/10,000 overall with a rate of 1.8/10,000 among those using contact lenses [522]. Those estimates compare with presumed incidence rates of 0.36/10,000 and 2.44/10,000 respectfully [522]. The incidence of fungal eye infections is unknown (CDC).

Work Relatedness

A determination of work-relatedness is usually determined in most juridictions based on the presence of a work-related acute injury that precedes the infection. In some unusual cases, an epidemic of viral conjunctivitis may occur in an occupational setting and the probability of the acquisition of a case in that setting exceeds 50% making a case work-related.

Signs and Symptoms

Medical History

Symptoms of corneal infections commonly include:

- Red or pink eye
- Tearing
- Purulence
- Crusty eyelids, especially on awakening
- Mild pruritis is sometimes present
- Photophobia, especially if more severe
- Visual acuity is usually preserved unless visual axis affected, e.g., by corneal ulcer or corneal abrasion
- Corneal ulcers typically include a foreign body sensation

Onset

- Symptom onset is usually gradual. However, as onset is most often noticed on awakening with mattering of the eyelids, some patients may report this as sudden onset.
- Some infectious cases occur after acute onset of trauma to the cornea, e.g., corneal abrasion.
- Onset of corneal ulcers are similarly gradual, although the inciting event may have been an acute injury.

Current treatments used

- Usually none, although may have included flushing of the eye.
- Some cases will occur on a delayed basis after acute injury. Thus, some cases will have had prior corneal foreign body(ies) removed.

Red Flags

Corneal ulcers are considered ophthalmological emergencies and thus are red flags.

Other red flags for potentially more serious infections include:

- Reduced visual acuity
- Periocular swelling and inflammation
- History of penetrating trauma or high impact metalworking without eye protection
- Suspected penetration of the globe
- Impaired extraocular eye movements
- Photophobia
- Systemic symptoms or diseases, especially rheumatological
- Copious purulence

Diagnosis

Initial Assessment

The most important clinical assessment is whether the infection is vision-threatening or not. In general, vision threatening infections involve corneal ulcers and/or corneal infections.

The patient evaluation should include assessment of temperature, visual acuity, observation, extraocular movements, type of discharge, corneal opacity, eyelid swelling, proptosis, shape and size of the pupil, and sensitivity to light [512]. Lymphadenopathy is more commonly associated with viral as compared to bacterial conjunctivitis [523].

DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA

Infections are among the differential diagnoses for a red eye (See Table 1. Symptoms of Red Eye) and eye infections may be acute, subacute or chronic. Infections of the conjunctive or cornea are generally accompanied by mattering of the eyelids on awakening as well as either an absence of or minimal pruritis [523, 524]. Thus, a symptom of mattering is somewhat helpful to narrow the differential diagnosis to be more likely an infectious etiology. Bilateral mattering is thought to be more likely bacterial [512]. However, mattering is not particularly helpful to distinguish the type of infection. Mattering also is a symptom of blepharitis (low level infection along the lid margins), as well as a few other conditions.

The diagnostic criteria for viral conjunctivitis are: (i) watery discharge (although it may also be mucopurulent), (ii) minimal or no purulent discharge, (iii) in an erythematous eye, (iv) with preserved visual acuity and (v) with no corneal opacities.

Diagnostic criteria for corneal viral infections (e.g., herpes simplex or zoster) are: (i) watery discharge, (ii) minimal or no purulent discharge, (iii) in an erythematous eye, (iv) with impaired visual acuity (or preserved visual acuity but impaired visual fields if the infected corneal area is out of the visual axis) and (v) with corneal opacities.

Diagnostic criteria for bacterial and fungal eye infections are: (i) the presence of purulent discharge [525, 526], (ii) in an erythematous eye [527, 528], (iii) with preserved visual acuity, (iv) lack of pruritis, (v) no history of conjunctivitis, and (vi) that may or may not be confirmed by culture [529, 530]. Bacterial and fungal Infections may be confirmed with gram stain, KOH (potassium hydroxide) preparation and bacterial and fungal cultures. Cultures are often not performed especially in milder cases where the condition may be self-limited and thus resolve with no or limited empiric treatment [512]. Cultures are necessary for cases with neonatal conjunctivitis, severe infections, recurrent infections, Neisserial infections, chlamydia infections, and cases that are difficulty to treat [512].

Particularly with acute infections, there usually is marked conjunctival injection. The main infectious etiologies in the differential diagnosis among immunocompetent individuals in the developed world are viral conjunctivitis, bacterial and fungal infection. In other parts of the world or elsewhere among select populations, other etiologies include mycobacterium, parasites, and trachoma. Infections due to chlamydia trachomatis or Neisseria gonorrhea are beyond the scope of this guideline, yet for completeness are noted to require treatment with a systemic antibiotic plus an ophthalmologic antibiotic preparation.

Bacterial or fungal infections may also accompany and/or complicate corneal ulcers. Diagnostic criteria for bacterial or fungal ulcers are the same as those for infection with the added finding of corneal defect(s) or ulcer(s) on slit lamp examination.

Condition	Signs	Symptoms	Causes
	Со	njunctivitis	
Viral	Normal vision, normal pupil size and reaction to light, diffuse conjunctival injections (redness), preauricular lymphadenopathy, lymphoid follicle on the undersurface of the eyelid	Mild to no pain, diffuse hyperemia, occasional gritty discomfort with mild itching, watery to serous discharge, photophobia (uncommon), often unilateral at onset with second eye involved within one or two days, severe cases may cause subepithelial corneal opacities and pseudomembranes	Adenovirus (most common), enterovirus, coxsackievirus, VZV, Epstein-Barr virus, HSV, influenza
Herpes zoster ophthalmicus	Vesicular rash, keratitis, uveitis	Pain and tingling sensation precedes rash and conjunctivitis, typically unilateral with dermatomal involvement (periocular vesicles)	Herpes zoster
Bacterial (acute and chronic)	Eyelid edema, preserved visual acuity, conjunctival injection, normal pupil reaction, no corneal involvement	Mild to moderate pain with stinging sensation, red eye with foreign body sensation, mild to moderate purulent discharge, mucopurulent secretions with bilateral glued eyes upon awakening (best predictor)	Common pathogens in children: Streptococcus pneumoniae, nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae Common pathogen in adults: Staphylococcus aureus Other pathogens: Staphylococcus species, Moraxella species, Neisseria gonorrhoeae, gram-negative organisms (e.g., Escherichia coli), Pseudomonas species
Bacterial (hyperacute)	Chemosis with possible corneal involvement	Severe pain; copious, purulent discharge; diminished vision	N. gonorrhoeae

TABLE 6: SELECTED DIFFERENTIAL DIAGNOSIS OF RED EYE (ADAPTED FROM CRONAU 2010)

Condition	Signs	Symptoms	Causes
Chlamydial	Vision usually preserved,	Red, irritated eye;	Chlamydia trachomatis
(inclusion	pupils reactive to light,	mucopurulent or purulent	(serotypes D to K)
conjunctivitis)	conjunctival injections,	discharge; glued eyes upon	
	no corneal involvement,	awakening; blurred vision	
	preauricular lymph node		
	swelling is sometimes		
	present		
Allergic	Visual acuity preserved,	Bilateral eye involvement;	Airborne pollens, dust
	pupils reactive to light,	painless tearing; intense	mites, animal dander,
	conjunctival injection, no	itching; diffuse redness;	feathers, other
	corneal involvement,	stringy or ropy, watery	environmental antigens
	large cobblestone	discharge	
	papillae under upper		
	eyelid, chemosis		

CLASSIFICATION

Viral, bacterial and fungal eye infections are not commonly classified other than by the inciting organism when known.

HISTORY

Symptoms usually begin gradually. Mattering of the eyelid(s) and a red eye on awakening is often the first sign of an eye infection. Common symptoms of corneal infections include: red/pink eye, tearing, purulence, crusty eyelids, mild pruritis, photophobia (if more severe), and potentially a mild foreign body or irritation sensation. Visual acuity is generally preserved, although some viral infections, especially herpes or zoster, may involve the visual axis and reduce visual acuity.

Diagnostic Recommendations

Viral Screening

Adenovirus screening has been performed in clinical settings to diagnose viral conjunctivitis [531] as most cases of viral conjunctivitis are caused by adenovirus [523].

ADENOVIRUS SCREENING, SELECT PATIENTS

Recommended.

Adenovirus screening is selectively recommended for evaluation of infectious conjunctivitis where there is diagnostic uncertainty and a significant consideration for bacterial conjunctivitis. It is not recommended for routine evaluation of typical viral conjunctivitis cases.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Adenovirus screening is highly selectively recommended for evaluation of eye infections where there is diagnostic uncertainty and a significant consideration for bacterial
	conjunctivitis and the condition is more serious, thus there is contemplation of other treatment(s). The main purpose of this screening is to determine the cause and prevent unnecessary antibiotic use. Screening is not recommended for routine evaluation of typical viral conjunctivitis cases.
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Benefits:	Potential to improve diagnostic accuracy and reduce use of antibiotics.

Harms:	May mislead especially with negative test results as assumptions may be incorrect that the agent is a bacterium.
a .	raise positive results are also possible.
Comments:	
Rationale:	There is 1 high-quality study showing 89% sensitivity and 94% specificity [531]. The primary purpose of adenovirus screening is to rule out other infections and prevent excessive antibiotic usage for a condition that is usually self-limited. Yet, there are other viral causes, thus it is an imperfect test. As most cases resolve readily without treatment, routine screening is not recommended. Adenovirus screening is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is low cost, has demonstrated efficacy and is thus indicated for selectively diagnosing viral conjunctivitis.

ADENOVIRUS SCREENING, ROUTINE

Not Recommended.

Routine adenovirus screening is not recommended for evaluation of infectious conjunctivitis. Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications: Indications for Discontinuation: Benefits: Harms: Comments: Rationale:

There is 1 high-quality study showing 89% sensitivity and 94% specificity [531]. The primary purpose of adenovirus screening is to rule out other infections and prevent excessive antibiotic usage for a condition that is usually self-limited. Yet, there are other viral causes, thus it is an imperfect test. As most cases resolve readily without treatment, routine screening is not recommended. Adenovirus screening is not invasive, has negligible adverse effects, is low cost, has demonstrated efficacy and is thus indicated for selectively diagnosing viral conjunctivitis.

Evidence:

Culture and Sensitivity

GRAM STAIN, POTASSIUM IODIDE (KOH) PREPARATION, CULTURE AND SENSITIVITY OF EYE INFECTIONS (SELECT PATIENTS)

Recommended.

Gram Stain, KOH preparation, culture and sensitivity of eye infections are selectively recommended, especially for moderate to severe and/or poorly responding and/or recurrent cases.

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** Level of Confidence – High

Indications:

Gram Stain, potassium iodide (KOH) preparation, culture and sensitivity of eye infections are selectively recommended, especially for evaluation of eye infections where there is a moderate to severe infection [532, 533]. These are also recommended if there is either poor clinical response to empiric treatment and/or a recurrent infection. The main

	purpose of this screening is to determine the most appropriate treatment.
Indications for Discontinuation:	
Benefits:	Potential to improve diagnostic accuracy and reduce use of
	inappropriate antibiotics.
Harms:	Negligible. There is potential for misinterpretation if current
	antibiotic use produces a false negative test result.

GRAM STAIN, POTASSIUM IODIDE (KOH) PREPARATION, CULTURE AND SENSITIVITY OF EYE INFECTIONS (ROUTINE)

Not Recommended.

Routine Gram Stain, KOH preparation, culture and sensitivity of eye infections is not recommended as many cases are able to be treated empirically.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications: Indications for Discontinuation: Benefits: Harms: Comments: Rationale:

There is evidence suggesting antibiotic anti-fungal resistance correlates with worse outcomes [532, 533]. The primary purpose of Gram Stain, potassium iodide (KOH) preparation, culture and sensitivity of eye infections is to secure a diagnosis that allows for a specific, focused treatment regimen. This also helps prevent excessive antibiotic use and/or excessively broad spectrum use that may foster the development of resistant organisms. age for a condition that is usually self-limited. Yet, there are other viral causes, thus it is an imperfect test. As many cases of milder conjunctivitis resolve readily without treatment and others resolve readily with empiric treatment, routine Gram Stain, potassium iodide (KOH) preparation, culture and sensitivity of eye infections is not recommended. Gram Stain, potassium iodide (KOH) preparation, culture and sensitivity of eve infections is not invasive, have negligible adverse effects, are low cost, have demonstrated clinical efficacy and are thus indicated for selectively diagnosing bacterial and fungal eye infections.

Evidence:

OTHER DIAGNOSTIC TESTING

Generally, other diagnostic testing is not needed for evaluating eye infections. Occasionally, there may be a need for other tests based on any other accompanying symptoms and/or injuries (e.g., sinus x-ray, sinus CT scan, CT of orbits, MRI of orbits).

Treatment

Initial Care

For presumptive viral conjunctivitis and mild bacterial conjunctivitis, there is no medication necessary. However, careful instructions about vigilant hand-eye hygiene is important to reduce risks of further spread. For moderate to severe bacterial conjunctivitis, closer follow-up is required for progress and recovery. For corneal infections or corneal ulcers, medication(s) are necessary and close follow-up is required to minimize risk of visual loss.

Treatment Recommendations

Medications

No antibiotic treatment is required for common causes of viral conjunctivitis [534]. Herpes simplex and herpes zoster corneal infections require anti-viral treatment, but are beyond the scope of this guideline as they are not considered occupational conditions. In adults, the most common causes of bacterial conjunctivitis are *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (51%), *Pseudomonas* (23%), *Staphylococcus sp* and *Hemophilus influenzae* [535, 536]. Treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis shortens the clinical course [512, 537-540]. Yet, mild mucopurulent infections are not improved faster with antibiotics [541]. Ulcer severity is strongly correlated with outcome [542]. Fungal infections are generally more severe and require longer treatment times to resolve [543].

ANTIBIOTICS FOR BACTERIAL CONJUNCTIVITIS AND BACTERIAL INFECTIONS COMPLICATING CORNEAL ULCERS

Moderately Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Antibiotics are recommended for select treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis and bacterial infections complicating corneal ulcers.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Moderate to severe bacterial conjunctivitis to shorten the clinical course. May not be necessary for mild cases, as mild mucopurulent infections are not improved faster with
	antibiotics (Reitveld 05). Cases of Neisseria require both topical and systemic treatment and are beyond the scope of this
	guideline. Bacterial infections complicating corneal ulcers also
	require treatment with the additional indication of treatment
	until the corneal defect has also resolved. Baseline visual acuity
	is predictive of visual recovery [544].
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	There is quality evidence of comparable efficacy among all of
	the following ophthalmologic antibiotic preparations:
	ciprofloxacin 0.3%, gatifloxacin 0.3%, levofloxacin 0.5%,
	lomefloxacin 0.3%, moxifloxacin 0.5-1.0%, ofloxacin 0.3%,
	ofloxacin- benzalkonium chloride, tobramycin-cefazolin 1.33-
	1.5%/5-10%, cefazolin-amikacin, cefazolin-gentamicin, and
	thimerosal 0.005%. Thimerosal is not recommended due to a 5-
	fold rate of toxicity [545]. Tailoring the antibiotic selection to
	the estimated bacteria genus and specie as well as
	incorporating local antibiotic resistance profiles is advisable.
	Gram stain is not commonly performed but may assist in
	preliminary antibiotic tailoring, and further adjustments of the
	selected antibiotic may be necessary based on culture and
	sensitivity results, if obtained, as there is evidence suggesting
	antibiotic resistance correlates with worse outcomes [533].
	Length of treatment is for the duration of symptoms and for
	ulcers is typically for the duration of the ulcer until the corneal
	defect is resolved.
	Antibiotic regimens used in the highest quality studies include:
	Amikacin/Cefazolin eye drops every 10 minutes during first 30 minutes of treatment and later decreased to hourly every 3 days [546] Ciprofloxacin 0.3% eye drops every 15 minutes for 1 st 6 hours, 1 drop every hour 1 st day, then hourly [547], Gatifloxacin 0.3% eye drops hourly [548] Levofloxacin 0.5% eye drops every 10 minutes during first 30 minutes of treatment and later decreased to hourly every 3 days [546] Lomefloxacin ophthalmic solution 0.3% 1 drop every 15 minutes for 1 st 6 hours, 1 drop every hour 1 st day, then hourly the following days [547] Moxifloxacin 1 drop every hour for 48 hours, day 3 every hour by day and 2 hours by night, days 4 and 5, 1 drop every 2 hours and 4 by night, days 6 and 7, 1 drop every 4 hours and after every 6 hours [549] Ofloxacin 0.3% every ½ hr on study day 1, every hour on days 2 - 4, and every 2 hours on days 5 – 21 [550] Ofloxacin 0.3% eye drops every 30 minutes for 6 hours, hourly on days 1-3, 2-hourly on days 4-5 and 4 hours until 1 week [551] Azithromycin 1% 1 drop twice daily for 3 days [552-554] Tobramycin 1.33% / Cefazolin 5% group received 1 drop every hour for 48 hours, day 3 every hour by day and 2 hours by night, days 4 and 5, 1 drop every 2 hours and 4 by night, days 6 and 7, 1 drop every 4 hours and after every 6 hours [549] Tobramycin/Cefazolin 1.5%/5% solution 0.3% 1 drop every 30
----------------------------------	--
Indications for Discontinuation:	and 4 hours until 1 week [551] Resolution of infection, resolution of all corneal defects. In case of allergy, discontinuation of an antibiotic and initiation of a
Benefits:	second from a different antibiotic class is indicated. Shortened clinical course. Likely improved visual acuity compared with non-treatment in those with baseline visual field defects. Improve ulcer healing if bacterial infection
Harms:	complicating an ulcer. Risks of antibiotic use, mostly allergies and increased bacterial resistance.
Comments:	
Rationale:	There are many quality comparative trials evaluating treatment of bacterial infections with keratitis or complicating corneal ulcers. There are several placebo-controlled trials, all showing earlier clinical resolution with antibiotic treatment [537-540]. There is no quality evidence that any antibiotic is superior to another for treatment of these infections and all of the following have quality evidence of comparable efficacy: besifloxacin [537, 538, 555, 556], ciprofloxacin [547, 548, 550, 557-559], gatifloxacin [548, 560-563], levofloxacin [546, 564] lomefloxacin [547, 565, 566], moxifloxacin [549, 560, 562, 567, 568] [569], ofloxacin [549-551, 564, 570, 571], ofloxacin- benzalkonium chloride [545], tobramycin-cefazolin [549, 551, 557, 560, 570-572], cefazolin-amikacin [546], cefazolin-

gentamicin [558, 565], azithromycin [552-554], and thimerosal [545]. However, thimerosal is not recommended due to a 5fold rate of adverse effects [545]. Topical ophthalmological antibiotic preparations are not invasive, have low adverse effects, are low cost, and are effective for treatment of moderate to severe bacterial eye infections and ulcers complicated by bacterial infections. Thus, they are recommended.

Evidence:

Adjuvant Glucocorticosteroids for Bacterial Conjunctivitis and Bacterial Infections Complicating Corneal Ulcers Not Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Adjuvant glucocorticosteroids are not recommended for treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis and bacterial Infections complicating corneal ulcers.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:

Frequency/Dose/Duration: Indications for Discontinuation: Benefits: Harms: Comments: Rationale:

Adjuvant glucocorticosteroid use for bacterial corneal ulcers has been widespread with a strong belief in efficacy at improving visual outcomes [573]. There are quality trials evaluating adjuvant glucocorticosteroid use for treatment of bacterial keratitis after initial treatment with an antibiotic and failing to show significant differences in outcomes over intermediate to longer terms [544, 567, 574, 575]. Another trial suggested delayed epithelialization with glucocorticosteroid compared with placebo [574]. It has also been suggested steroids may not be helpful for nocardial infections [544, 567, 574-576]. Topical ophthalmological preparations of glucocorticosteroids are not invasive, and are low cost. These medications do not have significant demonstrated efficacy [544, 561, 567, 574, 575], appear to have the adverse effect of delaying healing, and are thus not recommended.

Evidence:

ANTIBIOTICS FOR VIRAL CONJUNCTIVITIS

Not Recommended. Medications (including topical creams) Antibiotics are not recommended for routine treatment of viral conjunctivitis. Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

> Indications: Frequency/Dose/Duration: Indications for Discontinuation: Benefits:

Harms: Rationale: There are is one moderate quality trial of antibiotics for treatment of viral conjunctivitis that showed minimal shortening of symptom duration with empiric antibiotic treatment [534]. Topical ophthalmological antibiotics are not invasive, have few adverse effects, are low cost, but do not have a sound rationale for use in viral conjunctivitis and are thus generally not recommended. However, the threshold for treatment with antibiotics is fairly low as they have low rates of adverse effects. Additionally, it can be difficult to separate some viral from bacterial infections, thus there are many cases that are treated with antibiotics. Severe infections or those thought to be bacterial are obvious candidates for treatment. Herpes simplex and herpes zoster corneal infections do require anti-viral treatment but are beyond the scope of this guideline.

Evidence:

NON-STEROIDAL ANTI-INFLAMMATORY DRUGS FOR SYMPTOMS OF VIRAL CONJUNCTIVITIS

Not Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams) NSAIDs are not recommended for treatment of viral conjunctivitis. Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Evidence (C)

Level of Confidence – High

Indications: Frequency/Dose/Duration: Indications for Discontinuation: Benefits: Harms: Comments: Rationale:

Two quality articles failed to find superiority of an NSAID to artificial tears [577] [578], thus there is no demonstrable efficacy. NSAIDs are not invasive, have low adverse effects especially for short-term use, are low cost, but are not effective and thus are not recommended.

Evidence:

GLUCOCORTICOSTEROIDS FOR SYMPTOMS OF VIRAL CONJUNCTIVITIS

No Recommendation.

Medications (including topical creams)

There is no recommendation for or against glucocorticosteroid for treatment of viral conjunctivitis. Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – High

Indications: Frequency/Dose/Duration: Indications for Discontinuation: Benefits: Harms: Comments: Rationale:

There is one trial that had methodological issues including protocol deviation which was interpreted as suggesting reduced symptoms [579]. Glucocorticosteroids are not invasive, have low adverse effects, are low cost, but effectiveness is unclear and thus there is no recommendation.

Evidence:

ANTIFUNGAL MEDICATIONS FOR FUNGAL CONJUNCTIVITIS AND FUNGAL INFECTIONS COMPLICATING CORNEAL ULCERS Recommended.

Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Antifungal medications are recommended for treatment of fungal conjunctivitis and fungal infections complicating corneal ulcers.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Fungal conjunctivitis. Fungal infections complicating corneal
	treatment until the corneal defect has also resolved
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	There is quality evidence of comparable efficacy among most of
requency bose, burdton.	the following onbthalmologic antibiotic preparations:
	econazole 2% natamycin 5% voriconazole 1% and
	Amphotericin B. Metanalysis of multiple trials suggests
	natamycin is superior to voriconazole [543] thus voriconazole
	is not recommended. One trial suggested superiority of
	chlorhexidine gluconate compared with natamycin 5% [580].
	One trial found superiority of Amphotericin B drops plus
	subconjunctival injections of fluconazole to topical treatment
	alone [581]. Potassium iodide (KOH) is not always performed
	but may assist in preliminary antifungal regimen tailoring, and
	further adjustments in the medication(s) used may be
	necessary based on culture and sensitivity results. Length of
	treatment is until resolution of the ulcers, which varies widely
	and is commonly 4-6 weeks.
	Antifungal regimens used in the highest quality studies include:
•	Econazole 2% drops on hourly basis between 7 am to 9 pm
	[582].
•	Natamycin 5% every hour while awake until reepithelialization,
	then 4 times daily for at least 3 weeks [542, 580, 582-584].
•	Amphotericin B 0.2 mg/ml Q2hrs for 21 days [581]
•	Amphotericin B 0.2 mg/ml Q2hrs for 21 days plus
	subconjunctival injections of fluconazole 2mg/mL daily for 10
	days [585]
•	Chlorhexidine gluconate 0.2%, 1/2-hourly to 2-hourly for up to
	5 days, then with reduced frequency, and all patients re-
	assessed at 21 days. [580]
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of infection, resolution of all corneal defects. In case
	of allergy discontinuation of an antifungal and initiation of a
	second may be indicated.
Benefits:	Improve ulcer healing if fungal infection complicating an ulcer.
-	Likely improved visual acuity compared with non-treatment in
	those with baseline visual field defects.
Harms:	Risks of antifungal use, mostly allergies and increased fungal
	resistance.

Rationale:

There are multiple quality comparative trials evaluating treatment of fungal infections with keratitis or complicating corneal ulcers. There are no placebo-controlled trials. There is limited quality evidence that one antifungal may be superior to another, as multiple trials suggest natamycin is superior to voriconazole [543]. One moderate quality trial found Amphotericin B drops plus subconjunctival injections of fluconazole superior to topical treatment alone [585]. There is also limited evidence the chlorhexidine gluconate may be superior to natamycin drops [580]. All of the following have been assessed in guality trials: Amphotericin B [581], econazole [582], natamycin [542, 580, 582-584, 586], voriconazole [542, 580, 582-584, 586]. Topical ophthalmological antifungal preparations are not invasive, have low adverse effects, are low cost and are likely effective for treatment of fungal eye infections and ulcers complicated by fungal infections. Thus, they are recommended. Adjuvant antifungal injections in addition to topical treatment may be effective and may be best for severe cases, but evidence is currently insufficient to conclude an evidence-based recommendation [581].

Prognosis

The prognosis of most eye infections is quite good, as most resolve with minimal difficulty. The prognosis may be more guarded for those with immunodeficiencies, severe infections, certain types of infections, or complicating ulcers.

Corneal ulcers are ophthalmological emergencies. The clinical results are dependent on many factors including age, immunocompetence, extent, involvement of visual axis, speed of diagnosis and treatment.

Differential Diagnosis

A list of potential differential diagnoses of a red eye is found in Table 1. Symptoms of Red Eye.

Complications / Comorbidities

Complications and comorbidities include:

- Increasing age
- Retained foreign body(ies)
- Dry eyes
- Rheumatological disorders (e.g., Sicca syndrome, Reiter's syndrome)
- Immunodeficiency states

Follow-up Care

There are no quality studies comparing the frequency and/or intensiveness of follow-up of patients with eye infections with or without ulcers. There are also no quality studies evaluating education in conjunction with care for these infections. In general, follow-up is every few days for more severe infections and then less frequently until complete resolution. Follow-up intensity initially may also be more frequent for concerns about retained foreign bodies complicating the condition, as additional treatment may be required to remove foreign matter that is otherwise delaying recovery [587].

For bacterial or fungal infections, different frequencies of follow-up visits have been utilized in the randomized controlled clinical trials with most starting follow-up visits at least twice a week. Follow-up may be more or less frequently depending on the patient's age, severity of the infection, compliance with

treatment, immunocompetency of the patient, and the clinical judgment as to the risk(s) of complications. Bacterial infections are expected to resolve in 1 to 2 weeks [512, 526]. Ulcers can take longer to heal and are recovery time is proportional to the size and depth of the ulcer.

Examples of specific follow-up visit frequencies include visits: (i) every 3 days [547, 548]; (ii) days 2, 4, 7, 14 and then longer if needed [557]; and (iii) days 2-3, 6-7, 11-12, 18-19 and 28, [570]. Fungal infections usually require longer follow-up due to longer healing times that have averaged 4-5 weeks in clinical trials [585].

Job Analysis

Generally not indicated. If the inciting event was an acute traumatic event, then protective eye programs, eye gear, engineering, and education may be indicated (see above)

Blepharoconjunctivitis

Overview

Blepharoconjunctivitis is a chronic inflammation of the eyelid along the base of the eyelashes. This results in irritation, itchy eyes, watery eyes, mattering, frequent blinking and may result in photophobia. It may be caused by insufficient oil gland production, bacterial infection, allergies, rosacea and other conditions. Staphylococcal infection is a common cause of blepharoconjunctivitis. Overall quality of the literature on this subject is notably poor [588]. Although It is generally considered a non-occupational condition, it is commonly identified on clinical evaluation, and is included in the guideline for completeness. The most common treatment is lid hygiene, which involves daily washing of the eyelid with a cotton tip applicator, baby shampoo and water. Lid hygiene suffices for the majority of people. Artificial tears and warm compresses may be helpful. Thus treatment is also nearly always non-prescription self-care.

Treatment Recommendations

Daily Lid Hygiene for Blepharoconjunctivitis

Recommended.

Activity Modification and Exercise Daily Lid Hygiene is recommended for treatment of blepharoconjunctivitis.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence - High

Indications:	Nearly all cases of blepharoconjunctivitis
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Daily eyelid and eyelash scrubbing with tepid water, baby shampoo and using a cotton tip applicator.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of the symptoms. Reduction in scrubbing frequency may be possible when the condition is under control.
Benefits:	Self-management of the condition and symptoms, but with negligible cost.
Harms:	Negligible
Comments:	
Rationale:	There are a few trials of various disorders, especially for dry eyes that suggest efficacy of is evidence to suggest lid hygiene is helpful for managing lipid deficient dry eyes [589]. A thermodynamic lipid device has also been reportedly successful for Meibomian gland dysfunction [590]. Lid hygiene is not invasive, has few adverse effects, is low cost, appears clinically effective and thus is recommended.

Evidence:

Antibiotics for Blepharoconjunctivitis

Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Topical antibiotics are recommended for treatment of anterior blepharoconjunctivitis.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Anterior blepharoconjunctivitis. Generally, lid hygiene is instituted and antibiotics are used for clinical failures. Initial prescriptions of topical antibiotics may be particularly prescribed for treatment of more severe presentations.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendation
Indications for Discontinuation:	Completion of a clinical course or sufficient management of symptoms without need of further antibiotic treatment.
Benefits:	May help eradicate bacteria from lid margin. Symptom reduction
Harms:	Antibiotic resistance. Adverse reactions.
Comments:	
Evidence:	
Rationale:	There are trials of topical antibiotics for treatment of anterior blepharitis. Some trials do not clearly specify anterior blepharitis, providing a potential confounder. Most trials appear to show efficacy for reductions in symptoms. Topical antibiotics are not invasive, have few adverse effects, are low cost for short courses, appear effective and are thus recommended for anterior blepharitis.
Evidence:	

Allergic Disorders

Related Terms

- Itchy eye
- Seasonal allergic conjunctivitis (SAC)
- Allergic rhinoconjunctivitis
- Perennial allergic conjunctivitis (PAC)
- Vernal keratoconjunctivitis (VKC)
- Contact dermatoconjunctivitis
- Giant papillary conjunctivitis
- Pink eye (often this infectious not allergic conjunctivitis)

Overview

Allergic conjunctivitis (the inflammatory response of the conjunctiva to allergens) is estimated to affect up to 40% of the general population [591]. It encompasses a spectrum of severity and chronicity including seasonal allergic conjunctivitis (SAC), perennial allergic conjunctivitis (PAC), vernal keratoconjunctivitis (VKC), and atopic keratoconjunctivitis (AKC) [592]. SAC and PAC are considered the most common forms of ocular allergies and affect 15-20% of the population [592] [593]. Some cases of allergic eye disease are largely confined to the eyes, while most also involve the upper respiratory tract. More severe cases usually involve asthma (see Occupational/Work-Related Asthma Guideline).

Risk and Causation

Risk Factors

While allergies may occur at any age, children and young adults are at greatest risk. A past history of atopy, whether upper respiratory tract or asthma, is a risk for subsequent development of additional allergies, including those to workplace allergens. There are many studies supporting a lower risk of atopy if the person is raised in a building and in close proximity with animals (Hygiene Hypothesis) [594-598] and more recent data support relationships with microflora [599-603]. A family history of allergies is also a risk factor. Among those with pre-existing allergies, high exposures to allergens (e.g., dust mites, tree pollen, mold) are risks for allergy exacerbations. Allergic conjunctivitis may also develop in response to various occupational exposures (e.g., flour) and chemicals (e.g., thimerosal, specific perfumes). Work-related cases general involve exposure(s) to airborne allergens. See also Work-related Asthma Guideline.

Causation

Determinations of causation range from relatively simple with a high degree of certainty to those with a high degree of complexity and low certainty. Simpler causal associations involve limited or no non-occupational symptoms, exposure to a well-known sensitizer, symptoms occurring at work and complete resolution on nights and weekends. More complex cases have pre-existing atopic problems, perennial, largely unremitting symptoms that are worse at work and exposure to a known or potential allergen(s). Because more severe cases tend to involve asthma, see also <u>Work-related Asthma Guideline</u>.

Prevalence/Incidence

The prevalence of allergic conjunctivitis is steadily increasing with estimates approximating 40% of the U.S. population being affected. Seasonal allergic conjunctivitis (SAC) constitutes 90% of all allergic conjunctivitis. [591] Typically, all allergies are more common in younger persons and it is substantially less common for serious allergies to develop in an older adult.

Work Relatedness

A determination of work-relatedness is usually determined in most jurisdictions based on the presence of a work-related exposure to a known allergen, which precedes the allergic response. Generally, it is helpful for the causal assessment that there should be complete recovery from symptoms of allergic conjunctivitis after prolonged removal from exposure. Exceptions to complete recovery most commonly include those with ongoing exposure(s) and/or those susceptible to non-occupational allergens.

Signs and Symptoms

Symptoms of allergic conjunctivitis may include:

- Bilateral itchy eyes (pruritis)
- Bilateral watery eyes
- Bilateral swollen eyelids (ocular edema)
- Bilateral erythematous eyes
- Bilateral eye pain (usually not severe)
- Bilateral eye inflammation
- Rhinorrhea (runny nose)
- Itchy nose, itchy roof of mouth
- Sneezing

Symptom onset in an occupational setting may be rapid or gradual. In general, the higher the dose of exposure, the faster and more intense the symptom development tends to be. Still there is a wide range. Subsequent symptom experiences tend to parallel frequency, intensity and duration of the exposure(s). Typically, both eyes are equally affected in allergic conjunctivitis. Eyes may be unequally affected if there is differential introduction of the allergen into the eyes (e.g., flour dust rubbed into one eye).

Red Flags

If symptoms worsen or persist (swelling, inflammation, etc.) there may be something more serious than allergic conjunctivitis.

If visual acuity worsens, it is probably not allergic in etiology.

- Acquired abnormal visual fields
- Purulence
- Systemic diseases, especially auto-immune

Diagnosis

Initial Assessment

The initial assessment consists of a careful history and limited testing to rule out other conditions. The history focuses on symptoms, patterns of symptoms and probable allergens.

Diagnostic Criteria

Proposed criteria from the American Optometric Association for allergic conjunctivitis include symptoms, signs and limited testing [604]. A clinical history and assessment of environmental factors are considered to be the first step in diagnosing allergic conjunctivitis [604]. Following the initial assessment, an allergy workup based on skin tests and determination of serum specific IgE is generally recommended. Occasionally, a conjunctival challenge is performed. [604, 605]. Increased conjunctival sickle cells, frequent eosinophils in corneal scrapings and a high total serum IgE are indicators of allergic conjunctivitis [604].

Allergic eye diseases present with episodic bilateral pruritic, watery, erythematous eyes, and photophobia [604]. Symptoms most often wax and wane based on exposure, although persistent symptoms may be present if exposures are ongoing. For those with intermittent symptoms, a pattern of symptom development, or aggravation after exposures is present that is often quite helpful in assessing the causative allergen(s). The degree of pruritis is highly helpful diagnostically to increase the probability of allergic disease, although infectious diseases may present with some pruritis. Confirmatory testing of atopy is possible for some specific allergens (see Occupational/Work-Related Asthma Guideline). Some patients also have systemic symptoms, such as asthma. All patients with allergic eye disease should be assessed for systemic manifestations as those with asthma and ongoing exposure may incur progressive pulmonary impairments that may become permanent (See Occupational/Work-Related Asthma Guideline). Occupational asthma also increases the potential for a fatal outcome (See Occupational/Work-Related Asthma Guideline).).

Classification

The consensus classification for allergic conjunctivitis (AC) takes into account the frequency and severity of ocular signs and symptoms [604]. AC generally affects both eyes and is considered *intermittent* when it involves ocular signs and symptoms (conjunctival pruritus, tearing, a burning sensation, blurred vision, photophobia, and hyperemia) for up to 4 days a week or up to 4 consecutive days. AC is considered *persistent* when the ocular signs and symptoms have been present more than 4 days per week or more than 4 consecutive days [604].

The severity of AC is classified as *mild* when signs and symptoms are 1) not bothersome, 2) do not effect vision, 3) there are no interferences with activities of daily living, and 4) no interferences with school or work tasks. It is considered *moderate* when 1-3 items are met and *severe* when all conditions are met. [604].

History

The history consists of a search for both positive responses to identify a probable allergic disease process. The history also consists of a search for pertinent negatives, e.g., to rule out other conditions such as other immunological disorders. Exposure to likely allergens is of critical interest in a history for allergic conjunctivitis. A search through occupational exposures to identify potential allergens is another important part of the history. Timing of both the onset of symptoms and relief of symptoms is key in ascertaining the probability of allergic conjunctivitis.

Medical History Questionnaire

- Do you have a history of allergies? If so, which ones? At what age of onset?
- Do you have itchy eyes (pruritis)? Bilateral?
- Are your eyes watery or teary?
- Do you get pink or red eyes? Bilateral?
- Do you have any eye pain? Bilateral? How severe?
- Is there any eye inflammation?
- Does your nose run (rhinorrhea)?
- Do you have an itchy nose, itchy roof of mouth?
- Do you have sneezing?
- Do these symptoms come on during spring or fall pollen seasons?
- Are the symptoms timed with anything you do or are exposed to at work?
- Are symptoms perennial (year round)?
- Are both eyes affected equally?
- Have you ever been diagnosed with pink eye?
- Are you allergic to certain animals like cats?
- Do you have any known food allergies?

- Do your eyes tear when wearing certain perfumes, or cosmetics?
- Do you need to use decongestants or antihistamines to control sneezing coughing and congestion?
- Has your visual acuity been affected?
- Is your peripheral vision normal?
- Have you had discharge from your eyes? Mucous? Purulence?
- Do you have systemic diseases, especially auto-immune such as Reumatoid arthritis, Lupus, Reiter's Sicca Syndrome?
- Do you have glaucoma?

Physical Exam

The physical examination includes testing of visual acuity and vision fields. Slit lamp examination is often performed. Tonometry is helpful to rule out glaucoma. Other physical examination components may include evaluations of joints and mucous membranes, particularly if there are symptoms suggestive of autoimmune diseases.

For initial evaluations, slit lamp examination is not always required, as a preliminary diagnosis and treatment plan is possible in some situations, such as mild cases.

Diagnostic Recommendations

HIGH MOLECULAR WEIGHT SPECIFIC ANTIGENS

Strongly Recommended.

Specific immunological testing (IgE) is strongly recommended for workers with symptoms consistent with occupational asthma to certain high molecular weight specific allergens and when standardized antigens and assay protocols exist. The specificity and sensitivity of the allergens should have been evaluated in quality studies using validated test methods that are commercially available. High molecular weight allergens for which there is sufficient evidence in quality studies include flour dusts, bovine danders, laboratory, and other animal allergens. Natural rubber latex (NRL) allergy can be confirmed by serum IgE testing, but the assay does not include all potential NRL allergens, such that a negative result does not necessarily exclude the diagnosis of NRL allergy.

Strength of Evidence – Strongly Recommended, Evidence (A) Level of Confidence – High

IGG SPECIFIC IMMUNOLOGICAL TESTING FOR HIGH MOLECULAR WEIGHT SPECIFIC ANTIGENS Not Recommended.

Specific immunological testing (IgG) is not recommended as a diagnostic tool for select workers with symptoms consistent with occupational asthma to high molecular weight specific allergens. It can be used for a marker of exposure to certain allergens, but in and of itself does not diagnose disease.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – High

Low Molecular Weight Specific Antigens Not Recommended. Specific immunological testing (IgE) is not recommended for workers with symptoms consistent with occupational asthma to low molecular weight specific allergens due to low sensitivity and specificity and lack of method validation.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Treatment

Initial Care

Initial treatment generally consists of identification of the probable allergen. Subsequently, reduction or elimination of exposure is the preferred initial management. Many cases involve environmental exposures that may not be readily reduced or controlled. In such cases, hygiene to reduce exposure, medications are implemented. Immunotherapy may be attempted for select cases with moderate to severe disease and inability to sufficiently modify exposures.

All of the following are common treatments used:

- Avoidance of known antigen
- Antihistamines
- Eye drops
- Decongestants (vasoconstrictors)
- Mast cell stabilizers
- NSAIDS
- Steroids
- Immunotherapy if severe (consult an allergist)

Treatment Recommendations

Medical removal is usually based on pulmonary symptoms and development of asthma, particularly if progressive loss is determined by spirometry (see above). Medical removal solely for ocular symptoms is relatively rare, and typically only occurs after education, institution of exposure reduction, exposure controls, and persistence of symptoms beyond a tolerable level.

MANAGEMENT OF ALLERGIC EYE SYMPTOMS WITHOUT ASTHMA (REDUCTION OF EXPOSURE)

Recommended.

Activity Modification and Exercise

For allergic eye symptoms, it is recommended that exposure reduction and medical monitoring to assess the presence or worsening of asthma should be performed to ensure ocular symptoms are acceptably reduced as well as to provide early identification of asthma.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	All patients with moderate to severe symptoms of allergic conjunctivitis. Exposure reduction is also indicated for mild allergic conjunctivitis cases where feasible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration: Indications for Discontinuation:	
Benefits:	Potential to eliminate the need for medical treatment. Otherwise, potential to reduce the intensity of other medical treatment(s) required.

Harms:	May be problematic in some settings. May not be possible and worker may need to accept the symptoms due to economic issues. As noted in the Work-related Asthma guideline, "The clinical benefit of removal from exposure or exposure reduction should be balanced against the increased risk of unemployment."[606]"
Comments:	
Rationale:	There are quality studies for evaluation of removal from work exposures in the settings of occupational asthma. This approach is not always effective, and from the Work- Related Asthma guideline, "The guidelines of the BOHRF and ACCP stated that reduction of exposure "is not always effective" ^[607] and that "there is little evidence for using this approach." ^[608] " Still there are patients who appear to benefit significantly from reductions in exposure. Exposure reduction is not invasive, has low to high adverse effects, could be high cost and thus selective removal from exposure is indicated, especially for those with severe symptoms.
Evidence:	

EDUCATION FOR ALLERGIC CONDITIONS

Recommended. Activity Modification and Exercise

Education is recommended for assisting patients to better manage their allergic condition.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	All patients with ocular eye manifestations, particularly those without the ability to avoid future exposure. Education includes exposure reduction, exposure elimination, hand hygiene to avoid contaminating the eyes, and medication management.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	One appointment for education may suffice. An occasional, additional visit may be indicated, especially for reinforcement, complex cases, or if the disease substantially worsens.
Indications for Discontinuation:	
Benefits:	Better ability to avoid symptoms from introducing allergens from the hands to the eyes. More informed medical removal decision-making for severe cases.
Harms: Comments:	Negligible
Rationale:	There are no quality studies evaluating efficacy of education for ocular allergic diseases. However, clinically, education is helpful in improving management of the patient's condition and for avoiding and/or reducing exposures to allergens. Education is not invasive, has no adverse effects, is low cost, is clinically effective and is thus recommended.
Evidence:	

Medications for Ocular Allergies

There are multiple medications in several medication classes that are used for allergic ocular symptoms. These different classes of medications have different strengths and weaknesses that may be utilized to optimize treatment and/or treatment compliance. Classes of medications include non-selective histamine receptor blockers, selective histamine receptor blockers, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medications (NSAIDs), mast cell stabilizers, glucocorticosteroids, oral anti-histamines, and others. Normally, one medication suffices. Occasionally, moderate to severe symptoms may be addressed with combinations of agents, usually utilizing one medication from each of two different classes with different mechanisms of action.

Medications administered by ocular drops are cleared via the lacrimal ducts. These medications also tend to treat allergic nasal symptoms. Some evidence suggests ocular drops treat nasal symptoms better than ocular symptoms [609].

ANTIHISTAMINE AND/OR MAST CELL STABILIZATION MEDICATIONS FOR ALLERGIC DISEASES

Strongly Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Antihistamine and/or mast cell stabilization medications are strongly recommended for treatment of ocular symptoms from allergic diseases.

Strength of Evidence – Strongly R Level of Confidence – High	ecommended, Evidence (A)
Indications:	Ocular eye symptoms from presumptive or proven allergic disease. Exposure elimination is the preferred initial treatment before medication. However, many cases benefit from prompt medical treatment.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Medications used follow. Dose, Frequency, Duration is as per manufacturer's recommendations. <u>Histamine blockers:</u>
	• Alcaftadine 0.25% 1 drop QD
	• Azelastine 0.05% 1 drop B.I.D.
	• Emadastine 0.05% 1 drop up to Q.I.D.
	Anti-histamine/mast cell stabilizer
	• Bepotastine 1.5% 1 drop B.I.D.
	• Epinastine 0.05% 1 drop B.I.D.
	 Olopatadine 0.1% 1 drop B.I.D. (or longer preparation QD use)
	Mast Cell Stabilizer
	 Cromolyn 1 drop 4-6 times/day
	Ketotifen 1 drop Q8-12 hrs
	Lodoxamine 1-2 drops Q.I.D.
	Nedocromil 1-2 drops B.I.D.
	Pemirolast 1-2 drops Q.I.D.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of symptoms, removal from exposure, intolerance, adverse effects.

Benefits:	Reduction in pruritus, watering eyes. May also reduce allergic nasal symptoms.
Harms: Comments:	May briefly burn, sting and/or cause dry eyes.
Rationale:	Antihistamines are typically used as the first line medication. Both antihistamines and mast cell stabilizers have strong evidence of efficacy. While there is efficacy, there is less evidence of efficacy for ketorolac.
	Antihistamine eye drops and/or mast cell stabilizing medication eye drops are not invasive, have low adverse effects, are low to moderate cost depending on length of treatment, have proven efficacy and are thus recommended for treatment of allergic
	eye diseases. There are dozens of moderate and high-quality RCTs. Nearly all have documented efficacy. All of the following medications
	have been assessed in quality studies: Bepotastine esilate 1.0- 1.5% [609-613]; Alcaftadine [614, 615]; Epinastine HCI [616- 620]; Emodacting HCI [621, 626], Katatifan fumerata [622, 627
	634], Azelastine HCI [627, 635-643], Olopatadine HCI [614, 617, 619, 621, 628, 631, 632, 634, 644-656], Fluorometholone [621,
	656, 657], Levobastine [618, 649], Levocabastine [630] [658] [659] [660] [661] [624], Cromolyn sodium [633, 649, 662-664], Sodium cromoglycate [638, 658, 660] [665-668], Nedocromil
	[650, 661, 665, 669-675], Pranoprofen [657] Ketorolac [651, 654, 676]; [677-679], Diclofenac [677], [680], Loteprednol
	etabonate [652, 681], Pentigetide [682], Oxymetazoline [683], and Mequitazine [684].
	Loratadine [620, 655], desloratadine [685] Cyclosporin A has been shown to be ineffective [686].
	Comparative trials have mostly found comparable efficacy among more recent medications. For example, more trials
	suggested Olopatadine is superior to Ketotifen [634, 651, 655] but one found the opposite [632].

NSAID EYE DROPS FOR ALLERGIC DISEASES

Moderately Recommended. Medications (including topical creams)

NSAID eye drops are moderately recommended for treatment of ocular symptoms from allergic diseases.

Level of Confidence – Moderate	
Indications:	Ocular eye symptoms from presumptive or proven allergic disease. Exposure elimination is the preferred initial treatment before medication. However, many cases benefit from prompt medical treatment.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Medications used follow. Dose, Frequency, Duration is as per manufacturer's recommendations. Ketorolac 0.5% 1 drop Q.I.D.

Strength of Evidence – Moderately Recommended, Evidence (B)

Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of symptoms, removal from exposure, intolerance, adverse effects.
Benefits:	Reduction in pruritus, watering eyes. May also reduce allergic nasal symptoms.
Harms:	May briefly burn, sting and/or cause dry eyes.
Rationale:	NSAIDs drops are not invasive, have low adverse effects, are
	low to moderate cost depending on length of treatment, have
	proven efficacy and are thus recommended for treatment of
	allergic eye diseases.
	There are dozens of moderate and high-quality RCTs. Nearly all
	have documented efficacy. All of the following medications
	have been assessed in quality studies: Bepotastine esilate 1.0-
	1.5% [609-613]; Alcaftadine [614, 615]; Epinastine HCl [615];
	Abelsopn 04 [618-620, 687]; Emedastine HCl [621, 622, 624-
	626, 659], Ketotifen fumorate [622, 627-634], Azelastine HCl
	[627, 635-643], Olopatadine HCl [614, 617, 619, 621, 628, 631,
	632, 634, 644-656], Fluorometholone [621, 656, 657]
	Levobastine [618, 649], Levocabastine [624, 630, 658-661],
	Cromolyn sodium [633, 649, 662-664], Sodium cromoglycate
	[638, 658] [660, 665-668], Nedocromil [650, 661, 665, 669-
	675], Pranoprofen [657] Ketorolac [651, 654, 676-679],
	Diclofenac [677, 680], Loteprednol etabonate [652, 681],
	Pentigetide [682], Oxymetazoline [683], and Mequitazine [684].

GLUCOCORTICOSTEROID EYE DROPS

Sometimes Recommended. Medications (including topical creams)

Glucocorticosteroid eye drops are selectively recommended for short term treatment of severe ocular symptoms from allergic diseases.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low	
Indications:	Acute, severe ocular eye symptoms from presumptive or proven allergic disease. Exposure elimination is the preferred initial treatment before medication. However, many cases benefit from prompt medical treatment. Not indicated for mild to moderate disease due to adverse effects potentially outweighing potential benefits.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Medications used follow. Dose, Frequency, Duration is as per manufacturer's recommendations. Loteprednol 0.2% 1 drop up to Q.I.D. Loteprednol 0.5% 1-2 drops Q.I.D.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of symptoms, removal from exposure, intolerance, adverse effects.
Benefits:	Reduction in pruritus, watering eyes. May also reduce allergic nasal symptoms.
Harms:	May briefly burn, sting and/or cause dry eyes.
Rationale:	Glucocorticosteroid drops have concerns about significant adverse effects, including cataracts and aggravating glaucoma.

Copyright ©2020 Reed Group, Ltd.

Thus, they are recommended for more limited use to treat short courses of severe symptoms. There are dozens of moderate and high-quality RCTs. Nearly all have documented efficacy. All of the following medications have been assessed in quality studies: Bepotastine esilate 1.0-1.5% [609-613]; Alcaftadine [614, 615]; Epinastine HCl [616-620] Emedastine HCl [621, 622, 624-626, 659], Ketotifen fumorate [622, 627, 629-634, 688], Azelastine HCl [616, 635-643], Olopatadine HCI [621] [614, 617, 619, 631, 632, 634, 644-656, 688], Fluorometholone [621, 656, 657]), Levobastine [618, 649], Levocabastine [624, 630, 658-661], Cromolyn sodium [633, 649, 662-664], Sodium cromoglycate [638, 658, 660, 665-668], Nedocromil [650, 661, 665, 669-675], Pranoprofen [657] Ketorolac [651, 654, 676-679], Diclofenac [677, 680], Loteprednol etabonate [652, 681], Pentigetide [682], Oxymetazoline [683], and Mequitazine [684].

Prognosis

The prognosis of ocular allergies is generally good. The prognosis is progressively worse with increasingly worse symptoms, especially with systemic symptoms such as occupational asthma. If symptoms include anaphylactic symptoms, then complete removal from exposure is indicated (see Work-related Asthma Guideline).

Differential Diagnosis

While the diagnosis is generally straightforward, the differential diagnosis includes:

- Blepharitis
- Chemical irritation
- Mechanical irritation (e.g., small particulates)
- Infections, including viral and bacterial conjunctivitis
- Giant papillary conjunctivitis
- Angle closure glaucoma
- Superior limbic keratoconjunctivitis
- Dry eyes
- Auto-immune disorders
- Sicca syndrome
- Ocular rosacea
- Keratitis
- Episcleritis/scleritis
- Vernal keratoconjunctivitis
- Atopic keratoconjunctivitis

Complications / Comorbidities

The main complication is systemic allergic diseases, particularly work-related asthma (see Work-Related Asthma guideline). Anaphylaxis is also a rare potential among those with severe allergies, especially when combined with a high exposure.

Follow-up Care

Follow-up care is highly variable and based primarily on severity of the case and response(s) to treatment. In mild cases, infrequent followup is indicated. In others, work-up and evaluation for concomitant asthma and consideration of exposure modification and/or removal from work is indicated. In others, immunotherapy is indicated, in which case treatments every 1-2 weeks for a period of many months to up to approximately 2 years may be indicated.

Job Analysis

A review of the workplace chemicals, products and agents is indicated to help identify likely allergen(s). In some cases, measurements of those agent(s) may be indicated to help quantify the exposure and guide treatment. Occasionally, the exposures may be reduced and following the measured exposure levels may be of assistance. In others settings (e.g., ragweed or other environmental allergens), measurement of the agent is not indicated.

Keratoconjunctivitis

Vernal keratoconjunctivitis is a relatively rare, chronic, severe allergic inflammation of the ocular surface mediated by Th2-lymphocytes. Yet, 50% of patients do not have IgE mediated mechanisms [689]. It is considered the ocular manifestation of atopic dermatitis. It primarily begins in childhood [592, 689], thus is largely considered non-occupational. It is more common in the tropics than the northern climates. [592] Occasional cases can occur throughout the United States and Canada. It may be worsened by non-specific hyperreactivity due to wind, dust and sunlight. [592]

The evaluation of patients with vernal keratoconjunctivitis is similar to other allergy investigations (see above). Limited RCTs on treatments result in a relatively weak evidence base. By inference, treatments recommended for other allergic eye diseases are also recommended for vernal keratoconjunctivitis.

Chemical Burns

Overview

Workplace chemical eye burns result most commonly from exposures to either alkaline agents (e.g., lime or sodium hydroxide) or acids, although they can occur with petrochemicals and other substances. [690-696]. The specific chemical(s) involved, its concentration, quantity and duration of exposure are critical in determining extent of, and limiting the insults of, the injury. Rapid, initial management is likely the most critical aspect of the management and conveys subsequently improved prognosis when rapidly executed. [693, 694, 696-699].

Prevention

See sections above.

Education

See sections above.

Treatment Recommendations

Immediate treatment to irrigate the eye with copious water or other aqueous irrigating solutions is believed to be critical for improved, successful patient treatment [696, 698, 700]. Uncontrolled studies suggest better outcomes with longer duration of irrigation [699].

Copious Irrigation for Chemical Eye Exposures

Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Copious Irrigation is recommended for chemical eye exposures.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:

All chemical eye exposures and injuries. It is recommended to begin irrigation immediately after eye exposure, rather than waiting for symptoms to develop. It is also recommended to begin irrigation promptly while others attempt to identify the specific chemical(s)/agent(s), concentration(s) and duration of

Harms: Benefits: Frequency/Dose/Duration:	exposure. Irrigation should also be used until Morgan lens, if indicated, is available for more severe injuries. Negligible. Mild discomfort from solution and irrigation Limiting extent of burn/injury, earlier relief of pain Tap water is most commonly available and should be used if that is the most readily available solution, especially for first line, in-plant settings. Irrigation bottles with irrigating solutions are also useful in in-plant medical departments, clinical settings and distributed in some chemical laboratories and facilities. Normal saline, lactated Ringer's solution are additional options for initial irrigation and are preferable to tap water, but only if immediately available. Substitute normal saline or lactated ringer's or other balanced saline solution for tap water when available. Generally use topical anesthetic to anesthetize the eye when available, as it will assist in better tolerance of irrigation.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Only after extensive irrigation, usually at least 1-2 liters has been used to flush out the chemical. Neutralization of pH should be demonstrable for acid or alkaline exposures. The pH should be 7.0-7.2. The pH should be checked after discontinuing irrigation to assure that additional irrigation is not needed to maintain pH poutrality.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies identifying use compared with non-use of irrigation. There are experimental studies of irrigating solutions for treatment especially of animal models. These animal studies suggest superiority of balanced salt solutions (e.g., normal saline, lactate Ringer's solution) over hypotonic solutions (such as tap water). Still, experience suggests earlier irrigation with the most readily available solution, including tap water, is the preferred initial strategy and is recommended. Once irrigation is underway, tailoring of further irrigation, including possible use of an irrigating system (e.g., "Morgan lens") may be considered.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: <i>eye burn, cornea, cornea burn,</i> <i>chemical, lye, alkaline, burn or burns, alkali or lime or cement or</i> <i>ammonia or sulfurous acid or nitric acid;</i> controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Non-experimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and considered 72 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 1190 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 12 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 14 articles from other sources. Of the 78 articles considered for inclusion, 6 human randomized trials and 27 animal

randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. [Can include harms, benefits, advantages, limitations, etc.]

Comments:

Irrigating Systems (e.g., Morgan Lens) for Chemical Eye Exposures Recommended.

Devices

Irrigating Systems (e.g., Morgan Lens) is recommended for chemical eye exposures. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	High volume exposures and/or highly alkaline/acidic and/or
	high-risk injuries. It is recommended to begin irrigation
	immediately after eye exposure (see Copious Irrigation for
	Chemical Eye Exposures, above), rather than waiting for setting
	up an irrigation system. Irrigation should also continue while
	setting up the irrigation system.
Harms:	Mild to moderate discomfort from the irrigating system
Benefits:	Potential to further limit extent of burn/injury beyond that
	obtainable without the system for more severe exposures
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Generally use a balanced salt solution (e.g., normal saline
	(0.9%), lactated Ringer's solution). For most chemicals, 500mL
	at fast rate (run in 'open') is recommended. Reassess and
	consider additional fluid depending on chemical, concentration,
	dose, duration of contamination, severity and clinical effects.
	For alkali burns, 2 liters wide open is recommended, then
	solution upayailable, tap water may be substituted until
	balanced salt available or transit to definitive care from an in-
	plant setting.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Only after thorough irrigation of affected area. Neutralization
-	of pH should be demonstrable for acid or alkaline exposures
	(pH 7.0-7.2).
Rationale:	There are no quality studies comparing use with non-use of
	irrigating systems. There are animal models suggesting
	successful use. Irrigating systems, including "Morgan Lenses"
	are minimally invasive, have minimal adverse effects, are low
	cost and are selectively recommended for chemical eye
- · · ·	exposures.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date
	limits using the following terms: eye burn, cornea, cornea burn,
	chemical, lye, alkaline, burn or burns, alkali or lime or cement or
	ammonia or sulfurous acid or nitric acid; controlled clinical trial,
	controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,

retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and considered 72 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 1190 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 12 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 14 articles from other sources. Of the 78 articles considered for inclusion, 6 human randomized trials and 27 animal randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Artificial Tears or Lubrication for Chemical Ocular Burns Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Artificial tears or lubricants are selectively recommended for treatment of patients with chemical ocular burns.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)
Level of Confidence – Low	

Indications:	Chemical ocular burns of sufficient size and pain, and
	particularly among those with inadequate tearing.
Benefits:	May provide sufficient tears to reduce symptoms and
	potentially improve healing.
Harms:	Undefined but likely negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Prn
Indications for Discontinuation:	Resolution of symptoms
Rationale:	There are no quality trials of artificial tears for chemical ocular burns. Patients with more extensive burns tend to have greater need for artificial tears. Artificial tears are inexpensive, noninvasive, and have low adverse effects and are recommended particularly for those patients with inadequate tears.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: <i>eye burn, cornea, cornea burn,</i> <i>chemical, lye, alkaline, burn or burns, alkali or lime or cement or</i> <i>ammonia or sulfurous acid or nitric acid;</i> controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and
	studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and considered 72 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed

1190 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 12 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 14 articles from other sources. Of the 78 articles considered for inclusion, 6 human randomized trials and 27 animal randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

NSAID Drops for Chemical Ocular Burns Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

NSAID ophthalmic drops are recommended for treatment of chemical ocular burns. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Chemical ocular burns
Benefits:	Reduced pain, decreased inflammatory response.
Harms:	allergic reactions in susceptible patients, intolerance.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	As per manufacturer's recommendation
Indications for Discontinuation:	With symptom improvement
Rationale:	There are no quality trials for treatment of chemical ocular burns with ophthalmic NSAID drops. NSAID drops are low cost, not invasive, associated with low risks and are recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date
	limits using the following terms: eye burn, cornea, cornea burn,
	chemical, lye, alkaline, burn or burns, alkali or lime or cement or
	ammonia or sulfurous acid or nitric acid; controlled clinical trial,
	controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,
	retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological
	studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental
	Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and
	considered 72 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed
	1190 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we
	found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion.
	In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 12 articles, and
	considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 14
	articles from other sources. Of the 78 articles considered for
	inclusion, 6 human randomized trials and 27 animal
	randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion
	criteria.

Glucocorticosteroid drops have been used for treatment of chemical burns, sometimes in conjunction with vitamin C. ([701]) ([692]; [702, 703])

Glucocorticosteroid Drops for Chemical Ocular Burns Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Glucocorticoid ophthalmic drops are recommended for select treatment of chemical ocular burns. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Moderate to severe chemical ocular burns
Benefits:	Reduced pain, decreased inflammatory response.
Harms:	Increased risk of infection, increased risk of cataracts, intolerance.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	As per manufacturer's recommendation
Indications for Discontinuation:	With symptom improvement. Generally discontinued at one week.
Rationale:	There are no quality trials for treatment of chemical ocular burns with ophthalmic glucocorticoid drops. These medications are used to attempt to reduce the inflammatory process associated with healing chemical burns. These drops are low cost, not invasive, associated with low to moderate risks and are recommended for more severely affected patients. Animal studies are also supportive of a week of treatment [704-706].
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: <i>eye burn, cornea, cornea burn,</i> <i>chemical, lye, alkaline, burn or burns, alkali or lime or cement or</i> <i>ammonia or sulfurous acid or nitric acid;</i> controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and considered 72 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 1190 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 12 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 14 articles from other sources. Of the 78 articles considered for inclusion, 6 human randomized trials and 27 animal randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria. No quality trials for treatment of chemical ocular burns with onbthalmic glucocorticoid drops were found

Eye Patching for Chemical Ocular Burns Recommended.

Devices

Eye patching is selectively recommended for treatment of chemical ocular burns. *Strength of Evidence* – **Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)** *Level of Confidence* – Low

Indications:	Chemical ocular burn that is sufficiently large to have limited
	vision and inadequate tearing.
Benefits:	"May" provide comfort to affected eye.
Harms:	None
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Rationale:	There are no quality trials for patching eyes with extensive
	chemical burns. Extensive burns may involve significant
	discomfort and inadequate tearing. Patching with an ointment
	in place may facilitate healing and thus is recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date
	limits using the following terms: eye burn, cornea, cornea burn,
	chemical, lye, alkaline, burn or burns, alkali or lime or cement or
	ammonia or sulfurous acid or nitric acid; controlled clinical trial,
	controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,
	retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological
	studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental
	Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and
	considered 72 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed
	1190 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we
	found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion.
	In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 12 articles, and
	considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 14
	articles from other sources. Of the 78 articles considered for
	inclusion, 6 human randomized trials and 27 animal
	randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion
	criteria.

Surgical Interventions

A minority of chemical exposures result in permanent defects, including scarring of the lens and blindness. These cases are generally amenable to surgical procedures, especially corneal transplantation for those with corneal defects and/or scarring involving the visual axis.

Amniotic membrane transplantation (AMT) has been used to treat chemical ocular burns. [702, 707-711]

AMNIOTIC MEMBRANE TRANSPLANTATION FOR CHEMICAL OCULAR BURNS Recommended.

Surgical Considerations

Amniotic membrane transplantation in conjunction with medical therapy is selectively recommended for treatment of moderately severe chemical ocular burns.

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** Level of Confidence – Low

Indications: Benefits: Patient comfort and decr	Ocular burn Roper-Hall classification grades II-IV. [712, 713] eased inflammation with potential for early re-epitheliazation.
Harms:	Potential allergic response to the membrane.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Medical therapy to be administered at the same time is: topical 1% prednisolone acetate Q 6 hrs, ofloxacin Q 6 hrs, sodium ascorbate (10%), sodium citrate (10%), plus preservative-free lubricants every 2 hours, plus homatropine (2%) 1-2 times Q.D., and vitamin C 500 mg P.O. Q 6 hrs for 2 to 4 weeks [712] N/A
Detionalo:	There are two moderate quality trials of ampiatic membrane
κατιοπαιε:	transplantation compared with medical therapy and both trials suggested earlier re-epithelialization [712] [713]. Amniotic membrane transplantation is invasive, has some adverse effects, is costly but has demonstrated efficacy and is selectively recommended for treatment of ocular burns.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and
	Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:
	thermal Burn Cornea, thermal ocular burn, thermal eye burn,
	controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled
	trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*,
	randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic
	review, retrospective studies, prospective studies,
	epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and
	Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed
	14 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found
	and reviewed 44 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In
	CINAHL, we found and reviewed zero articles, and considered
	zero for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed
	1 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. We also
	considered for inclusion 1 articles from other sources. Of the 6
	articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 2
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

CORNEAL TRANSPLANTATION FOR BLINDNESS OR OTHER CORNEAL SCARRING/DEFECTS AFTER CHEMICAL EYE EXPOSURES Strongly Recommended.

Surgical Considerations

Corneal transplantation is strongly recommended for restoration of vision due to blindness or other effects such as corneal scarring post chemical eye exposures.

Strength of Evidence – Strongly Recommended, Evidence (A) Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	Corneal scarring and/or blindness after chemical eye exposure with visual acuity less than 20/40. There should be reasonable expectation that the retina is normal (e.g., pre-injury status).
Harms: Benefits:	Further degradation of vision if unsuccessful Potential to resolve visual deficiency
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Rationale:	There is strong evidence that corneal transplants are highly successful. Transplants are invasive, do have some adverse effects, are high-cost, but are also potentially highly successful and are thus strongly recommended for those with uncorrectable and significant visual acuity deficits.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: <i>eye burn, cornea, cornea burn,</i> <i>chemical, lye, alkaline, burn or burns, alkali or lime or cement or</i> <i>ammonia or sulfurous acid or nitric acid;</i> controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and considered 72 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 1190 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 12 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 14 articles from other sources. Of the 78 articles considered for inclusion, 6 human randomized trials and 27 animal randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Thermal Burns

Overview

Thermal ocular burns occur in occupational environments, although relatively infrequently compared with chemical injuries.

Immediate treatment to irrigate the eye with copious water or other aqueous irrigating solutions is believed to be important for the outcomes of thermal eye injuries. [696, 697, 700].

Ocular surface burns may be caused by intense ultraviolet exposures, most commonly welding while not wearing protective eye gear. They may also be incidental to being near a welder but without adequate eye protection. The presentation typically occurs one day after exposure with a red, painful irritated eye. A diffuse granular appearance of the cornea is usually seen. The history and initial physical examination are highly characteristic. Slit lamp examination findings are characteristic of diffuse granular uptake generally with sparing of the upper and lower corneal margins where the eyelids protect the cornea.

Eye burn accidents occur mostly at work and can result from exposure to alkaline agents (lime or sodium hydroxide), acids, liquid metals, or fireworks. Treatment can include immediate rinsing of the eye [714].

Another treatment is amniotic membrane transplantation (AMT) for acute ocular surface burns. A systematic review found lack of evidence to support the use of this treatment [132].

Treatment Recommendations

NSAID Drops for Welder's Flash

Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

NSAID ophthalmic drops are recommended for treatment of welder's flash. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Welder's flash
Benefits:	Reduced pain, decreased inflammatory response.
Harms:	Allergic reactions in susceptible patients, intolerance.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations
Indications for Discontinuation:	Symptom resolution
Rationale:	There are no quality trials for treatment of welder's flash. NSAID drops are low cost, not invasive, associated with low risks and are recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: uv corneal burn, welder's eye, keratitis, corneal ulcers, keratouveitis, snow blindness, arc eye, welder's flash, bake eyes, corneal flash burns, flash burns, keratoconjunctivitis photoelectric, photokeratitis, ultraviolet keratitis, eye patch, antibiotics, antifungals, polyhexamethylene biguanide, NSAIDS, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, steroids, eyeglasses, lubricating eye drops, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, in PubMed we found
	and roviewed 262 articles, and considered 68 for inclusion. In
	Sconus we found and reviewed 27 articles and considered 2
	for inclusion in CINAHI, we found and reviewed 3 articles, and
	considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and
	reviewed 9 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also
	considered for inclusion 3 articles from other sources. Of the 75
	articles considered for inclusion. 0 randomized trials and 0
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.
Comments:	[Can include harms, benefits, advantages, limitations, etc.]

Eye Patching for Welder's Flash

Not Recommended.

Devices

Eye patching for welder's flash is not recommended.

Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	N/A
Benefits:	N/A
Harms:	N/A
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Rationale:	There are no quality trials of patching for treatment of welder's flash. However, eye patching has been shown to have no benefits for treatment of corneal abrasions and rust rings. Thus, patching is also not expected to be efficacious for welder's flash, and therefore patching is not recommended for welders flash.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: uv corneal burn, welder's eye, keratitis, corneal ulcers,
	keratouveitis, snow blindness, arc eye, welder's flash, bake
	eyes, corneal flash burns, flash burns, keratoconjunctivitis
	photoelectric, photokeratitis, ultraviolet keratitis, eye patch, antibiotics, antifungals, polyhexamethylene biguanide, NSAIDS,
	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, steroids, eveglasses.
	lubricating eye drops, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials,
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies,
	prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological
	research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In Publiced we found
	and reviewed 362 articles, and considered 68 for inclusion. In
	Scopus, we found and reviewed 27 articles, and considered 2
	for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 3 articles, and
	considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and
	reviewed 9 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also
	considered for inclusion 3 articles from other sources. Of the 75
	articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 0
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Copious Irrigation for Thermal Eye Exposures Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Copious Irrigation is recommended for thermal eye exposures.

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)** Level of Confidence – High

Indications:	All thermal eye exposures and injuries. It is recommended to begin irrigation immediately after eye exposure, rather than
	waiting for symptoms to develop.
Harms:	Negligible. Mild discomfort from solution and irrigation
Benefits:	Limiting extent of burn/injury, earlier relief of pain
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Tap water is most commonly available and should be used if that is the most readily available solution, especially for first line, in-plant settings. Irrigation bottles with irrigating solutions are also useful in in-plant medical departments, clinical settings and distributed in some facilities. Normal saline, lactated Ringer's solution are additional options for initial irrigation and are preferable to tap water, but only if immediately available. Substitute normal saline or lactated ringer's or other balanced saline solution for tap water when available. Generally use
	topical anesthetic to anesthetize the eye when available, as it
	will assist in better tolerance of irrigation.
Indications for Discontinuation:	Only after copious irrigation, usually at least 500mL has been
	used to flush out the eye.
Rationale:	There are no quality studies identifying use compared with non-use of irrigation. There are experimental studies of irrigating solutions for treatment especially of animal models. These animal studies suggest superiority of balanced salt solutions (e.g., normal saline, lactate Ringer's solution) over hypotonic solutions (such as tap water). Still, experience suggests earlier irrigation with the most readily available solution, including tap water, is the preferred initial strategy and is recommended. Once irrigation is underway, tailoring of further irrigation, including possible use of an irrigating system (e.g., "Morgan lens") may be considered although is less paceesary in thermal than in chemical injuries
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: thermal Burn Cornea, thermal ocular burn, thermal eye burn , <i>cornea, , chemical, lye, alkaline,</i> <i>burn or burns, alkali or lime or cement or ammonia or sulfurous</i> <i>acid or nitric acid;</i> controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Non-experimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and considered 72 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 1190 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 12 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 14 articles from other sources. Of the

	78 articles considered for inclusion, 6 human randomized trials
	and 27 animal randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met
	the inclusion criteria.
Comments:	[Can include harms, benefits, advantages, limitations, etc.]

Irrigating Systems (e.g., Morgan Lens) for Thermal Eye Exposures Not Recommended.

Devices

Irrigating Systems (e.g., Morgan Lens) are not recommended for thermal eye exposures. Strength of Evidence – Not Recommended, Insuffcient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Rationale:	There are no quality studies comparing use with non-use of irrigating systems for thermal injuries. They are generally not thought to be necessary for most thermal injuries. Exceptions may include combinations of chemicals and thermal. (see above)
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date
	limits using the following terms: eye burn, cornea, cornea burn,
	chemical, lye, alkaline, burn or burns, alkali or lime or cement or
	ammonia or sulfurous acid or nitric acid; controlled clinical trial,
	controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized
	controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized,
	randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review,
	retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological
	studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental
	Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 623 articles, and
	considered 72 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed
	1190 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we
	found and reviewed 4 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion.
	In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 12 articles, and
	considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 14
	articles from other sources. Of the 78 articles considered for
	inclusion, 6 human randomized trials and 27 animal
	randomized trials and 4 systematic studies met the inclusion
	criteria.

Artificial Tears or Lubrication for Thermal Ocular Burns Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Artificial tears or lubricants are selectively recommended for treatment of patients with thermal ocular burns.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Indications:	Thermal ocular burns of sufficient size and pain, and
	particularly among those with inadequate tearing.
Benefits:	May provide sufficient tears to reduce symptoms and
	potentially improve healing.
Harms:	Undefined but likely negligible.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations
Indications for Discontinuation:	Symptom resolution
Rationale:	There are no quality trials of artificial tears for thermal ocular
	burns. Artificial tears are inexpensive, noninvasive, and have
	low adverse effects and are recommended particularly for
- · · ·	those patients with inadequate tears.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and
	Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:
	uv corneal burn, welder's eye, keratitis, corneal ulcers,
	keratouveitis, snow blindness, arc eye, welder's flash, bake
	eyes, corneal flash burns, flash burns, keratoconjunctivitis
	photoelectric, photokeratitis, ultraviolet keratitis, eye patch,
	antibiotics, antifungals, polyhexamethylene biguanide, NSAIDS,
	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, steroids, eyeglasses,
	lubricating eye drops, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials,
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies,
	prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological
	research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found
	and reviewed 362 articles, and considered 68 for inclusion. In
	Scopus, we found and reviewed 27 articles, and considered 2
	for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 3 articles, and
	considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and
	reviewed 9 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also
	considered for inclusion 3 articles from other sources. Of the 75
	articles considered for inclusion, 48 randomized trials and 4
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.
Comments:	[Can include harms, benefits, advantages, limitations, etc.]

NSAID Drops for Thermal Ocular Burns Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

NSAID ophthalmic drops are recommended for treatment of thermal ocular burns. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I) Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Thermal ocular burns
Benefits:	Reduced pain, decreased inflammatory response.
Harms:	Allergic reactions in susceptible patients, intolerance.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations
Indications for Discontinuation:	Symptom resolution
Rationale:	There are no quality trials for treatment of thermal ocular burns with ophthalmic NSAID drops. NSAID drops are low cost, not invasive, associated with low risks and are recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: uv corneal burn, welder's eye, keratitis, corneal ulcers, keratouveitis, snow blindness, arc eye, welder's flash, bake eyes, corneal flash burns, flash burns, keratoconjunctivitis photoelectric, photokeratitis, ultraviolet keratitis, eye patch, antibiotics, antifungals, polyhexamethylene biguanide, NSAIDS, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, steroids, eyeglasses, lubricating eye drops, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 362 articles, and considered 68 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 27 articles, and considered 2 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 3 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 9 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 3 articles from other sources. Of the 75 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Eye Patching for Thermal Ocular Burns Recommended.

Devices

Eye patching is selectively recommended for treatment of moderate to severe thermal ocular burns. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Insufficient Evidence (I)

Level of C	onfidence – Low
------------	-----------------

Moderate to severe thermal ocular burn that is sufficiently large to have limited vision and inadequate tearing
Comfort
None
N/A

Indications for Discontinuation: Rationale:	Symptom resolution There are no quality trials of patching for treatment of thermal ocular burns. Thermal ocular burns may be selectively treated with eye patching to help provide better protection of the cornea when there is limited tearing and a considerable burn.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms: thermal Burn Cornea, thermal ocular burn, thermal eye burn, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 14 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 44 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed zero articles, and considered zero for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 1 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 1 articles from other sources. Of the 6 articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 2 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Amniotic Membrane Transplantation with Medical Therapy for Thermal Ocular Burns

Recommended.

Surgical Considerations

Amniotic membrane transplantation in conjunction with medical therapy is selectively recommended for treatment of thermal ocular burns.

Strength of Evidence – **Recommended, Evidence (C)** Level of Confidence – Low

Indications:	Thermal ocular burn Roper-Hall classification grades II-IV. [712]; [713]
<i>Benefits:</i> Faster re-epithelialization <i>Harms:</i> Few reported	(healing) leading to improved vision.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Medical therapy recommended to be administered at the same time is: topical 1% prednisolone acetate Q 6 hrs, ofloxacin Q 6 hrs, sodium ascorbate (10%), sodium citrate (10%), plus preservative-free lubricants every 2 hours, plus homatropine (2%) 1-2 times Q.D., and vitamin C 500 mg P.O. Q 6 hrs for 2 to 4 weeks (Tamhane 05)

Indications for Discontinuation:

Rationale:	There are three moderate quality trials of amniotic membrane transplantation compared with medical therapy and both trials suggested earlier re-epithelialization (Tamhane 05, 10; Tandon 10). However, the benefits have not been shown to extend to improved visual function. Amniotic membrane transplantation is invasive, has some adverse effects, is costly but has demonstrated efficacy and is selectively recommended for treatment of ocular burns.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and
	Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:
	thermal Burn Cornea, thermal ocular burn, thermal eye burn,
	controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled
	trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*,
	randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic
	review, retrospective studies, prospective studies,
	epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and
	Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed
	14 articles, and considered 4 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found
	and reviewed 44 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In
	CINAHL, we found and reviewed zero articles, and considered
	zero for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed
	1 articles, and considered zero for inclusion. We also
	considered for inclusion 1 articles from other sources. Of the 6
	articles considered for inclusion, 3 randomized trials and 2
	systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Standalone Amniotic Membrane Transplantation for Acute Ocular Burns No Recommendation.

Surgical Considerations

AMT as standalone therapy for acute ocular burns is not recommended due to lack of high quality evidence to support the surgery (see AMP plus medications).

Strength of Evidence – No Recommendation, Insuffcient Evidence (I
Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Currently not indicated for acute ocular burns
Benefits:	Potential for improved vision
Harms:	None reported
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	N/A
Rationale:	There are no quality, sizeable studies of amniotic membrane
	transplantation, thus there is no recommendation.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and
	Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:

uv corneal burn, welder's eye, keratitis, corneal ulcers, keratouveitis, snow blindness, arc eye, welder's flash, bake eyes, corneal flash burns, flash burns, keratoconjunctivitis photoelectric, photokeratitis, ultraviolet keratitis, eye patch, antibiotics, antifungals, polyhexamethylene biguanide, NSAIDS, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory agents, steroids, eyeglasses, lubricating eye drops, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials, randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials, random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization, randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies, prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 362 articles, and considered 68 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 27 articles, and considered 2 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 3 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 9 articles, and considered 1 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 3 articles from other sources. Of the 75 articles considered for inclusion, 0 randomized trials and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Pterygium

Overview

Pterygium is an abnormal growth consisting of a triangular fold of tissue that advances progressively over the cornea, usually from the nasal side [715, 716] [717]. Localized conjunctival inflammation may be associated with pterygiae [116, 715]. Most cases occur in tropical climates, dry climates, and amongst those who work outside with ultraviolet exposure. Most cases are cosmetic, although a minority may be symptomatic. However, surgical excision is indicated if the pterygium encroaches on the visual axis. Topical NSAIDs function as local anesthetics and analgesics. Topical NSAIDS are administered to provide relief from inflammatory pain associated with inflamed pterygia, pingueculae [718], corneal abrasions [429], postoperative pain from various surgical procedures [433] and pain associated with many other disorders.

Treatment Recommendations

NSAID Drops for Inflamed Pterygia or Pingueculae Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

NSAID ophthalmic drops are recommended for inflamed pterygia or pingueculae.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Inflamed pterygia or pinguecuae [719]
Benefits:	Reduced pain, decreased inflammatory response.
Harms:	allergic reactions in susceptible patients, intolerance.
----------------------------------	--
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations. The one quality trial
	utilized indomethacin 0.1% drops 6 times daily for 3 days, then
	4 times daily to complete 2 weeks [719].
Indications for Discontinuation:	Symptom resolution, intolerance or adverse effects.
Rationale:	There is one moderate-quality trial suggesting equal efficacy of NSAID drops compared with glucocorticoid drops for treatment of in flamed pterygia or pinguecuae [719]. There also are multiple moderate quality trials comparing NSAIDs with placebo or drug vehicle for analgesia of simple corneal abrasion. [428-433] (see above). NSAID drops are low cost, not invasive, associated with low risks and are recommended.

Evidence:

Topical glucocorticosteroids have been used to provide relief from inflammatory pain associated with inflamed pterygia, pingueculae [719].

Glucocorticosteroid Drops for Inflamed Pterygia or Pingueculae Recommended.

Medications (including topical creams)

Glucocorticosteroid ophthalmic drops are recommended for inflamed pterygia or pingueculae.

Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C)

Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Inflamed pterygia or pinguecuae [719]. Generally preferable to
	use NSAID drops first as the adverse effects are generally
	lower.
Benefits:	Reduced pain, decreased inflammatory response.
Harms:	allergic reactions, intolerance.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	Per manufacturer's recommendations. One moderate quality
	trial utilized 0.1% dexamethasone drops 6 times daily for 3
	days, then 4 times daily to complete 2 weeks. [719]
Indications for Discontinuation:	Symptom resolution, intolerance, adverse effects or
	completion of a course.
Rationale:	There is one moderate-quality trial suggesting equal efficacy of
	NSAID drops compared with glucocorticoid drops for treatment
	of in flamed pterygia or pinguecuae [719]. Glucocorticosteroid
	drops are low cost, not invasive, associated with low risks for
	short course and are recommended.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and
	Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:
	eye, pterygium, pterygia, recurrent pterygia, mitomycin C,
	surgery, micomycin, moomethacin, beta induidtion, beta
	particles, radiation, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled that, randomized controlled thats,
	randomized, randomized
	prospective studies, enidemiological studies, enidemiological
	prospective studies, epiderniological studies, epiderniological

research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found and reviewed 216 articles, and considered 109 for inclusion. In Scopus, we found and reviewed 7 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 176 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and reviewed 9 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also considered for inclusion 1 articles from other sources. Of the 110 articles considered for inclusion, 1 randomized trial and 0 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Pterygia have been surgically removed using many different techniques and approaches (Ozsutcu 14)

Pterygium Excision for Pterygia Recommended.

Surgical Considerations

Pterygium excision is recommended for pterygia that near the visual axis. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C) Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Pterygia that near the visual axis.
Benefits:	Reduced risk of peripheral vision impairment. Reduced risk of
	visual axis impairment if more extensive.
Harms:	Recurrence, surgical complications.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	N/A
Indications for Discontinuation:	
Rationale:	There are many trials of various approaches for removal of pterygia. There are no trials comparing removal with non- removal. Surgical excision is invasive, has adverse effects, is costly, but may prevent serious complications and is selectively recommended for those with impending visual impairments.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and
	Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:
	eye, pterygium, pterygia, recurrent pterygia, mitomycin C,
	surgery, mitomycin, indomethacin, beta irradiation, beta
	particles, radiation, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials,
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies,
	prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological
	research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found
	and reviewed 216 articles, and considered 109 for inclusion. In
	Scopus, we found and reviewed 7 articles, and considered 0 for
	inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 176 articles, and
	considered 0 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and
	reviewed 9 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also
	considered for inclusion 1 articles from other sources. Of the

110 articles considered for inclusion, 100 randomized trials and 10 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

Pterygia have been intra- and postoperatively treated to attempt to prevention recurrence and/or complications.

Bevacizumab for Prevention of Pterygia Recurrence Recommended.

Surgical Considerations

Bevacizumab is recommended for pterygia that near the visual axis. Strength of Evidence – Recommended, Evidence (C)

Level of Confidence – Moderate

Indications:	Surgical cases of excision of pterygia, especially in younger
Domofitor	Paduaad risk of recurrences.
Benefits:	Reduced risk of recurrence.
Harms:	Intolerance, adverse effects.
Frequency/Dose/Duration:	[720][181]
Indications for Discontinuation:	Intolerance, adverse effects, completion of a course.
Rationale:	There are many trials of various approaches for removal of pterygia. There are no trials comparing removal with non- removal. Surgical excision is invasive, has adverse effects, is costly, but may prevent serious complications and is selectively recommended for those with impending visual impairments.
Evidence:	A comprehensive literature search was conducted using
	multiple search engines including PubMed, Scopus, CINAHL and
	Cochrane Library without date limits using the following terms:
	eye, pterygium, pterygia, recurrent pterygia, mitomycin C,
	surgery, mitomycin, indomethacin, beta irradiation, beta
	particles, radiation, controlled clinical trial, controlled trials,
	randomized controlled trial, randomized controlled trials,
	random allocation, random*, randomized, randomization,
	randomly; systematic, systematic review, retrospective studies,
	prospective studies, epidemiological studies, epidemiological
	research, and Nonexperimental Studies. In PubMed we found
	and reviewed 216 articles, and considered 109 for inclusion. In
	Scopus, we found and reviewed 7 articles, and considered 0 for
	inclusion. In CINAHL, we found and reviewed 176 articles, and
	considered 0 for inclusion. In Cochrane Library, we found and
	reviewed 9 articles, and considered 0 for inclusion. We also
	considered for inclusion 1 articles from other sources. Of the
	110 articles considered for inclusion, 101 randomized trials and
	10 systematic studies met the inclusion criteria.

References

- 1. Melhorn, J., et al., AMA Guides[®] to the Evaluation of Disease and Injury Causation, second edition. 2014, Chicago, IL: American Medical Association.
- 2. Center for the Evaluative Clinical Sciences, *Spine surgery. A Report by the Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care. CMS-FDA Collaborative.* 2006.
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, *Vital signs: overdoses of prescription opioid pain relievers---United States, 1999--2008.* MMWR, 2011. **60**(43): p. 1487-92.
- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), *Vital signs: risk of overdose from methadone used for pain relief-United States, 1999-2010.* MMWR, 2012. **61:**: p. 493-7.
- 5. Institute of Medicine, *Standards for Developing Trustworthy Clinical Practice Guidelines. Available at:* <u>http://www.iom.edu/~/media/Files/Report%20Files/2011/Clinical-Practice-Guidelines-We-Can-</u> <u>Trust/Clinical%20Practice%20Guidelines%202011%20Insert.pdf</u>. 2011.
- 6. The AGREE Research Trust, Appraisal of Guidelines for Research & Evaluation II (AGREE II) Instrument. 2009.
- American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Methodology for the Update of the Occupational Medicine Practice Guidelines. Available at: <u>www.acoem.org/uploadedFiles/Knowledge_Centers/Practice_Guidelines/ACOEM%20Practice%20Guidelines%</u> 20Methodology.pdf. 2006.
- 8. American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, *Summary: Methodology for Updates to the ACOEM Practice Guidelines. Available at: <u>www.acoem.org/guidelines_summary.aspx</u>. 2006.*
- Harris, J.S., et al., Methodology to update the practice recommendations in the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine's Occupational Medicine Practice Guidelines, second edition. J Occup Environ Med, 2008. 50(3): p. 282-95.
- 10. Shea, B.J., et al., *Development of AMSTAR: a measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews*. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 2007. **7**(1): p. 10.
- 11. Guyatt, G.H., et al., Going from evidence to recommendations. Bmj, 2008. **336**(7652): p. 1049-51.
- 12. Schunemann, H.J., et al., *Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations for diagnostic tests and strategies.* Bmj, 2008. **336**(7653): p. 1106-10.
- 13. Jaeschke, R., et al., Use of GRADE grid to reach decisions on clinical practice guidelines when consensus is elusive. Bmj, 2008. **337**: p. a744.
- 14. CDC. Vision Health Initiative: National Data. 2015 [cited 2016 March 8]; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/visionhealth/data/national.htm.
- 15. Palmer, K.T., et al., *Sensory impairments, problems of balance and accidental injury at work: a case-control study.* Occup Environ Med, 2015. **72**(3): p. 195-9.
- 16. Birch, J., *Worldwide prevalence of red-green color deficiency*. J Opt Soc Am A Opt Image Sci Vis, 2012. **29**(3): p. 313-20.
- 17. Northey, L.C., et al., *Eye trauma epidemiology in regional Australia*. Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2014. **21**(4): p. 237-46.
- 18. Soong, T.K., et al., Ocular trauma injuries: a 1-year surveillance study in the University of Malaya Medical Centre, Malaysia. 2008. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2011. **249**(12): p. 1755-60.
- 19. Alejandro Guerra Garcia, R., The cuban ocular trauma registry J Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2013. 04.
- 20. Desai, P., Morris, D.S., Minassian, D.C., MacEwen, C.J., *Trends in serious ocular trauma in Scotland* Eye. 2015, 2015. 29(611-618).
- 21. Haring, R.S., et al., Ocular injury in the United States: Emergency department visits from 2006-2011. Injury, 2016. 47(1): p. 104-8.
- 22. Lombardi, D.A., et al., *Welding related occupational eye injuries: a narrative analysis.* Inj Prev, 2005. **11**(3): p. 174-9.
- 23. Courtney, T.K., S. Matz, and B.S. Webster, *Disabling occupational injury in the US construction industry, 1996.* J Occup Environ Med, 2002. **44**(12): p. 1161-8.
- 24. Lundin, A.M., et al., Ocular trauma resulting in enucleation: A 12-year experience from a large regional institution. WMJ, 2014. **113**(3): p. 99-101.
- Lander, F., et al., Patterns of work injuries: cases admitted to emergency room treatment compared to cases reported to the Danish Working Environment Authority during 2003-2010. Occup Environ Med, 2014. 71(2): p. 97-103.
- 26. Cai, M. and J. Zhang, *Epidemiological Characteristics of Work-Related Ocular Trauma in Southwest Region of China*. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2015. **12**(8): p. 9864-75.
- 27. Teixeira, S.M., et al., *Open-globe injuries at an emergency department in Porto, Portugal: clinical features and prognostic factors.* Eur J Ophthalmol, 2014. **24**(6): p. 932-9.

- 28. Lee, J.S., et al., *The role of principal and secondary diagnoses of hospitalized eye trauma: a nationwide cohort in Taiwan, 1996-2010.* PLoS One, 2015. **10**(4): p. e0123348.
- 29. Burger, B.M., P.J. Kelty, and E.M. Bowie, *Ocular nail gun injuries: epidemiology and visual outcomes.* J Trauma, 2009. **67**(6): p. 1320-2.
- 30. Sprince, N.L., et al., *Farm activities associated with eye injuries in the Agricultural Health Study*. J Agromedicine, 2008. **13**(1): p. 17-22.
- 31. Gordon, K.D., *The incidence of eye injuries in Canada*. Can J Ophthalmol, 2012. **47**(4): p. 351-3.
- 32. Pandita, A. and M. Merriman, *Ocular trauma epidemiology: 10-year retrospective study*. N Z Med J, 2012. **125**(1348): p. 61-9.
- Serinken, M., et al., Causes and characteristics of work-related eye injuries in western Turkey. Indian J Ophthalmol, 2013. 61(9): p. 497-501.
- Quandt, S.A., et al., Occupational eye injuries experienced by migrant farmworkers. J Agromedicine, 2012.
 17(1): p. 63-9.
- 35. Al-Rubaee, F.R. and A. Al-Maniri, *Work Related Injuries in an Oil field in Oman.* Oman Med J, 2011. **26**(5): p. 315-8.
- 36. Jovanovic, M. and I. Stefanovic, *Mechanical injuries of the eye: incidence, structure and possibilities for prevention*. Vojnosanit Pregl, 2010. **67**(12): p. 983-90.
- 37. Falcao, M., E. Camisa, and F. Falcao-Reis, *Characteristics of open-globe injuries in northwestern Portugal.* Ophthalmologica, 2010. **224**(6): p. 389-94.
- Saeed, A., et al., Ocular injury requiring hospitalisation in the south east of Ireland: 2001-2007. Injury, 2010.
 41(1): p. 86-91.
- 39. Forrest, K.Y. and J.M. Cali, *Epidemiology of lifetime work-related eye injuries in the U.S. population associated with one or more lost days of work*. Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2009. **16**(3): p. 156-62.
- 40. Cillino, S., et al., A five-year retrospective study of the epidemiological characteristics and visual outcomes of patients hospitalized for ocular trauma in a Mediterranean area. BMC Ophthalmol, 2008. **8**: p. 6.
- 41. Fea, A., et al., *Eye injuries in an Italian urban population: report of 10,620 cases admitted to an eye emergency department in Torino.* Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2008. **246**(2): p. 175-9.
- 42. Chang, C.H., et al., *Hospitalized eye injury in a large industrial city of South-Eastern Asia*. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2008. **246**(2): p. 223-8.
- 43. Alamgir, H., et al., *Work-related injury among direct care occupations in British Columbia, Canada*. Occup Environ Med, 2007. **64**(11): p. 769-75.
- 44. Peate, W.F., Work-related eye injuries and illnesses. Am Fam Physician, 2007. 75(7): p. 1017-22.
- 45. Aggazzotti, G., et al., *Work-related injuries in young workers: an Italian multicentric epidemiological survey.* Ann Ist Super Sanita, 2006. **42**(1): p. 69-75.
- 46. Kaimbo, W.K., W. Spileers, and L. Missotten, *Ocular emergencies in Kinshasa (Democratic Republic of Congo).* Bull Soc Belge Ophtalmol, 2002(284): p. 49-53.
- 47. Tan, H.H., S. Teo, and H.C. Tseng, *Work-related chemical exposures presenting to an emergency department in Singapore.* Occup Med (Lond), 2014. **64**(2): p. 113-9.
- 48. Hudson, N.L., et al., *Characteristics and magnitude of acute pesticide-related illnesses and injuries associated with pyrethrin and pyrethroid exposures--11 states, 2000-2008.* Am J Ind Med, 2014. **57**(1): p. 15-30.
- 49. Blackburn, J., et al., *The epidemiology of chemical eye injuries*. Curr Eye Res, 2012. **37**(9): p. 787-93.
- 50. Ye, C., et al., Ten-year epidemiology of chemical burns in western Zhejiang Province, China. Burns, 2016.
- 51. Macdonald, E.C., et al., *Surveillance of severe chemical corneal injuries in the UK*. Br J Ophthalmol, 2009. **93**(9): p. 1177-80.
- 52. Maghsoudi, H. and N. Gabraely, *Epidemiology and outcome of 121 cases of chemical burn in East Azarbaijan province, Iran.* Injury, 2008. **39**(9): p. 1042-6.
- 53. Ho, C.K., et al., *Epidemiologic study on work-related eye injuries in Kaohsiung, Taiwan.* Kaohsiung J Med Sci, 2007. **23**(9): p. 463-9.
- 54. Valentic, D., et al., Work related diseases and injuries on an oil rig. Int Marit Health, 2005. 56(1-4): p. 56-66.
- 55. Spangenberg, S., et al., *Efficiency in reducing lost-time injuries of a nurse-based and a first-aid-based on-site medical facility.* Scand J Work Environ Health, 2005. **31 Suppl 2**: p. 104-9.
- 56. Mela, E.K., et al., *Ocular trauma in a Greek population: review of 899 cases resulting in hospitalization.* Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2005. **12**(3): p. 185-90.
- 57. Mackiewicz, J., et al., *Work-related, penetrating eye injuries in rural environments*. Ann Agric Environ Med, 2005. **12**(1): p. 27-9.
- 58. Xiang, H., et al., *Work-related eye injuries treated in hospital emergency departments in the US*. Am J Ind Med, 2005. **48**(1): p. 57-62.

- 59. Oum, B.S., J.S. Lee, and Y.S. Han, *Clinical features of ocular trauma in emergency department*. Korean J Ophthalmol, 2004. **18**(1): p. 70-8.
- 60. Wesseling, C., B. van Wendel de Joode, and P. Monge, *Pesticide-related illness and injuries among banana* workers in Costa Rica: a comparison between 1993 and 1996. Int J Occup Environ Health, 2001. **7**(2): p. 90-7.
- 61. Shah, S.M., et al., *Injuries and illnesses from wood framing in residential construction, Washington State,* 1993-1999. J Occup Environ Med, 2003. **45**(11): p. 1171-82.
- 62. Welch, L.S. and K. Hunting, *Injury surveillance in construction: what is an "injury", anyway?* Am J Ind Med, 2003. **44**(2): p. 191-6.
- 63. Bauza, A.M., et al., *Work-related open-globe injuries: demographics and clinical characteristics*. Eur J Ophthalmol, 2013. **23**(2): p. 242-8.
- 64. Lipscomb, H.J. and L. Li, *Injuries among teens employed in the homebuilding industry in North Carolina*. Inj Prev, 2001. **7**(3): p. 205-9.
- 65. Hunting, K.L., et al., *Surveillance of construction worker injuries: the utility of trade-specific analysis.* Appl Occup Environ Hyg, 1999. **14**(7): p. 458-69.
- 66. Hunting, K.L., et al., *Surveillance of construction worker injuries through an urban emergency department.* J Occup Med, 1994. **36**(3): p. 356-64.
- 67. Bazroy, J., et al., *Magnitude and risk factors of injuries in a glass bottle manufacturing plant*. J Occup Health, 2003. **45**(1): p. 53-9.
- 68. Porru, S., S. Calza, and C. Arici, *An effectiveness evaluation of a multifaceted preventive intervention on occupational injuries in foundries: a 13-year follow-up study with interrupted time series analysis.* Int Arch Occup Environ Health, 2011. **84**(8): p. 867-76.
- 69. Luo, H., et al., *Socioeconomic status and lifetime risk for workplace eye injury reported by a us population aged 50 years and over.* Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2012. **19**(2): p. 103-10.
- 70. Chaikitmongkol, V., T. Leeungurasatien, and S. Sengupta, *Work-Related Eye Injuries: Important Occupational Health Problem in Northern Thailand*. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila), 2015. **4**(3): p. 155-60.
- 71. Adams, J.S., et al., *Increasing compliance with protective eyewear to reduce ocular injuries in stone-quarry workers in Tamil Nadu, India: a pragmatic, cluster randomised trial of a single education session versus an enhanced education package delivered over six months.* Injury, 2013. **44**(1): p. 118-25.
- 72. Ngo, C.S. and S.W. Leo, *Industrial accident-related ocular emergencies in a tertiary hospital in Singapore*. Singapore Med J, 2008. **49**(4): p. 280-5.
- Forst, L., et al., Barriers and benefits of protective eyewear use by Latino farm workers. J Agromedicine, 2006.
 11(2): p. 11-7.
- 74. Woo, J.H. and G. Sundar, *Eye injuries in Singapore--don't risk it. Do more. A prospective study.* Ann Acad Med Singapore, 2006. **35**(10): p. 706-18.
- 75. Cakmak, S.S., et al., Penetrating eye injuries from southeastern Anatolia region of Turkey. Public Health, 2004.
 118(8): p. 570-5.
- 76. Yu, T.S., H. Liu, and K. Hui, *A case-control study of eye injuries in the workplace in Hong Kong.* Ophthalmology, 2004. **111**(1): p. 70-4.
- 77. Okoye, O.I. and R.E. Umeh, *Eye health of industrial workers in Southeastern Nigeria*. West Afr J Med, 2002. **21**(2): p. 132-7.
- 78. Canan, B.D., et al., *Compliance with NAGCAT work practices recommendations for youth cleaning service alleys in stall barns*. J Agric Saf Health, 2011. **17**(2): p. 127-46.
- 79. Lombardi, D.A., et al., *Factors influencing worker use of personal protective eyewear*. Accid Anal Prev, 2009. **41**(4): p. 755-62.
- 80. Chen, S.Y., et al., *A case-crossover study on transient risk factors of work-related eye injuries*. Occup Environ Med, 2009. **66**(8): p. 517-22.
- 81. Ong, V.Y., A.K. Habibah, and F.C. Lee, *Safety among foreign workers and impact on emergency medicine services in Singapore*. Singapore Med J, 2006. **47**(2): p. 121-8.
- 82. Yong, G.Y., et al., Determinant Factors of Poor Visual Outcome After Ocular Trauma: A Retrospective Study in Central Sarawak, Malaysia. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila), 2015.
- 83. Voon, L.W., J. See, and T.Y. Wong, *The epidemiology of ocular trauma in Singapore: perspective from the emergency service of a large tertiary hospital.* Eye (Lond), 2001. **15**(Pt 1): p. 75-81.
- 84. Semeraro, F., et al., *Work- and non-work-related eye injuries in a highly industrialized area in northern Italy:* comparison between two three-year periods (1994-1996 and 2005-2007). Med Lav, 2013. **104**(6): p. 467-75.
- 85. Arcury, T.A., et al., *Employer, use of personal protective equipment, and work safety climate: Latino poultry processing workers.* Am J Ind Med, 2013. **56**(2): p. 180-8.
- 86. Catalano, R. and M. Maus, *Economic antecedents of temporal variation in the incidence of ocular trauma*. Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2004. **11**(4): p. 279-89.

- 87. Modugno, A., et al., Ocular prostheses in the last century: a retrospective analysis of 8018 patients. Eye (Lond), 2013. 27(7): p. 865-70.
- 88. Knyazer, B., et al., *Open globe eye injury characteristics and prognostic factors in southern Israel: a retrospective epidemiologic review of 10 years experience.* Isr Med Assoc J, 2013. **15**(3): p. 158-62.
- 89. Jafari, A.K., et al., *Epidemiology and sociodemographic aspects of ocular traumatic injuries in Iran.* Int Ophthalmol, 2010. **30**(6): p. 691-6.
- 90. Kanoff, J.M., et al., *Characteristics and outcomes of work-related open globe injuries*. Am J Ophthalmol, 2010. **150**(2): p. 265-269 e2.
- 91. Larque-Daza, A.B., J. Peralta-Calvo, and J. Lopez-Andrade, *Epidemiology of open-globe trauma in the southeast of Spain*. Eur J Ophthalmol, 2010. **20**(3): p. 578-83.
- 92. Kim, J.H., et al., Fourteen-year review of open globe injuries in an urban Korean population. J Trauma, 2007. **62**(3): p. 746-9.
- 93. Koo, L., et al., *Gender differences in etiology and outcome of open globe injuries*. J Trauma, 2005. **59**(1): p. 175-8.
- 94. Vasu, U., et al., Occupational open globe injuries. Indian J Ophthalmol, 2001. 49(1): p. 43-7.
- 95. Schrader, W.F., Open globe injuries: epidemiological study of two eye clinics in Germany, 1981-1999. Croat Med J, 2004. **45**(3): p. 268-74.
- 96. Emmett, E.A., et al., *Skin and eye diseases among arc welders those exposed to welding operations.* J Occup Med, 1981. **23**(2): p. 85-90.
- 97. Young, A.R., Acute effects of UVR on human eyes and skin. Prog Biophys Mol Biol, 2006. 92(1): p. 80-5.
- 98. Ting, M.A., K. Saha, and S. Robbie, *Mass photokeratitis following ultraviolet light exposure at a nightclub*. Cont Lens Anterior Eye, 2016.
- 99. Tenkate, T.D., Occupational exposure to ultraviolet radiation: a health risk assessment. Rev Environ Health, 1999. **14**(4): p. 187-209.
- 100. Bergmanson, J.P., *Corneal damage in photokeratitis--why is it so painful?* Optom Vis Sci, 1990. **67**(6): p. 407-13.
- 101. Diffey, B.L., Human exposure to ultraviolet radiation. Semin Dermatol, 1990. 9(1): p. 2-10.
- 102. Kwon, D.H., et al., *Case series of keratitis in poultry abattoir workers induced by exposure to the ultraviolet disinfection lamp.* Ann Occup Environ Med, 2016. **28**: p. 3.
- 103. Talbot, E.A., et al., *Occupational risk from ultraviolet germicidal irradiation (UVGI) lamps.* Int J Tuberc Lung Dis, 2002. **6**(8): p. 738-41.
- 104. Banerjee, S., A. Patwardhan, and V.V. Savant, *Mass photokeratitis following exposure to unprotected ultraviolet light*. J Public Health Med, 2003. **25**(2): p. 160.
- 105. Liu, L., et al., *Geographical prevalence and risk factors for pterygium: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* BMJ Open, 2013. **3**(11): p. e003787.
- 106. Rosman, M., et al., *Review of key findings from the Singapore Malay Eye Study (SiMES-1)*. Singapore Med J, 2012. **53**(2): p. 82-7.
- 107. Rong, S.S., et al., *Does cigarette smoking alter the risk of pterygium? A systematic review and meta-analysis.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2014. **55**(10): p. 6235-43.
- 108. Schmid-Kubista, K.E., et al., *Effect of work-related ultraviolet exposure and ophthalmic changes in Austrian farmers: the SVB-UV study.* Ophthalmic Res, 2010. **43**(4): p. 201-7.
- 109. Durkin, S.R., et al., *The prevalence, severity and risk factors for pterygium in central Myanmar: the Meiktila Eye Study.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2008. **92**(1): p. 25-9.
- 110. Luthra, R., et al., *Frequency and risk factors for pterygium in the Barbados Eye Study*. Arch Ophthalmol, 2001. **119**(12): p. 1827-32.
- 111. McCarty, C.A., C.L. Fu, and H.R. Taylor, *Epidemiology of pterygium in Victoria, Australia*. Br J Ophthalmol, 2000. **84**(3): p. 289-92.
- 112. Sherwin, J.C., et al., *The association between pterygium and conjunctival ultraviolet autofluorescence: the Norfolk Island Eye Study*. Acta Ophthalmol, 2013. **91**(4): p. 363-70.
- 113. Shiroma, H., et al., *Prevalence and risk factors of pterygium in a southwestern island of Japan: the Kumejima Study.* Am J Ophthalmol, 2009. **148**(5): p. 766-771 e1.
- 114. Viso, E., F. Gude, and M.T. Rodriguez-Ares, *Prevalence of pinguecula and pterygium in a general population in Spain*. Eye (Lond), 2011. **25**(3): p. 350-7.
- 115. Lucas, R.M., *An epidemiological perspective of ultraviolet exposure--public health concerns.* Eye Contact Lens, 2011. **37**(4): p. 168-75.
- 116. Coroneo, M., *Ultraviolet radiation and the anterior eye*. Eye Contact Lens, 2011. **37**(4): p. 214-24.
- 117. Lu, J., et al., *Pterygium in an aged Mongolian population: a population-based study in China*. Eye (Lond), 2009. **23**(2): p. 421-7.

- 118. West, S. and B. Munoz, *Prevalence of pterygium in Latinos: Proyecto VER*. Br J Ophthalmol, 2009. **93**(10): p. 1287-90.
- 119. Lu, P., et al., *Pterygium in Tibetans: a population-based study in China*. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2007. **35**(9): p. 828-33.
- 120. Cajucom-Uy, H., et al., *The prevalence of and risk factors for pterygium in an urban Malay population: the Singapore Malay Eye Study (SiMES).* Br J Ophthalmol, 2010. **94**(8): p. 977-81.
- 121. Villa, L., et al., Do We Really Need to Wear Proper Eye Protection When Using Holmium:YAG Laser During Endourologic Procedures? Results from an Ex Vivo Animal Model on Pig Eyes. J Endourol, 2015.
- 122. Yong-shu, C., X. Du, and M. Xie, *Clinical, Pathological and Photochemical Studies of Laser Injury of the Retina.*[*Article*]. Health Physics, 1989. **56**(5): p. 643-646.
- 123. Barkana, Y. and M. Belkin, *Laser eye injuries*. Surv Ophthalmol, 2000. **44**(6): p. 459-78.
- 124. Sliney, D.H., Risks of occupational exposure to optical radiation. Med Lav, 2006. 97(2): p. 215-20.
- 125. Hanson, J.V., et al., *Maculopathy following exposure to visible and infrared radiation from a laser pointer: a clinical case study.* Doc Ophthalmol, 2016.
- 126. Wang, R., et al., *Choroidal Neovascularization Secondary to Alexandrite Laser Exposure*. Retin Cases Brief Rep, 2015.
- 127. Johnson, T.E., J.C. Dunn II, and W.P. Roach. *Survey of laser injury*. in *Proc. SPIE 4617, Laser Tissue Interaction XIII: Photochemical, Photothermal, and Photomechanical*. 2002.
- 128. Shenoy, R., et al., *Retinal Damage from Laser Pointer Misuse Case Series from the Military Sector in Oman.* Middle East Afr J Ophthalmol, 2015. **22**(3): p. 399-403.
- 129. Mainster, M.A., B.E. Stuck, and J. Brown, Jr., *Assessment of alleged retinal laser injuries*. Arch Ophthalmol, 2004. **122**(8): p. 1210-7.
- 130. Lam, T.T. and M.O. Tso, Retinal injury by neodymium: YAG laser. Retina, 1996. 16(1): p. 42-6.
- 131. Liu, H.F., et al., Ocular injuries from accidental laser exposure. Health Phys, 1989. **56**(5): p. 711-6.
- 132. Roider, J., et al., *Macular injury by a military range finder*. Retina, 1999. **19**(6): p. 531-5.
- 133. Modarres-Zadeh, M., et al., *Accidental parafoveal laser burn from a standard military ruby range finder*. Retina, 1995. **15**(4): p. 356-8.
- 134. Harris, M.D., et al., *Laser eye injuries in military occupations*. Aviat Space Environ Med, 2003. **74**(9): p. 947-52.
- 135. Stuck, B.E. and M. Beklin. Laser inflicted eye injuries. in SPIE. 1996.
- 136. Green RP Jr., C.R., Cheney FE, Menendez AR, *Medical Management of Combat Laser Eye Injuries*. 1988; Available from: <u>http://www.dtic.mil/cgibin/GetTRDoc?AD=ADA232095</u>.
- 137. Gosling, D.B., J.B. O'Hagan, and F.M. Quhill, *Blue Laser Induced Retinal Injury in a Commercial Pilot at 1300 ft.* Aerosp Med Hum Perform, 2016. **87**(1): p. 69-70.
- 138. Nakagawara, V.B., K.J. Wood, and R.W. Montgomery, *Laser exposure incidents: pilot ocular health and aviation safety issues*. Optometry, 2008. **79**(9): p. 518-24.
- 139. Sparrow, J.M., et al., *The Oxford Clinical Cataract Classification and Grading System*. Int Ophthalmol, 1986. **9**(4): p. 207-25.
- 140. Chylack, L.T., Jr., et al., Classification of human senile cataractous changes by the American Cooperative Cataract Research Group (CCRG) method. I. Instrumentation and technique. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1983.
 24(4): p. 424-31.
- 141. Chylack, L.T., Jr., B.J. Ransil, and O. White, *Classification of human senile cataractous change by the American Cooperative Cataract Research Group (CCRG) method: III. The association of nuclear color (sclerosis) with extent of cataract formation, age, and visual acuity.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1984. **25**(2): p. 174-80.
- 142. Chylack, L.T., Jr., et al., Lens Opacities Classification System. Arch Ophthalmol, 1988. 106(3): p. 330-4.
- 143. Chylack, L.T., Jr., et al., *The Lens Opacities Classification System III. The Longitudinal Study of Cataract Study Group.* Arch Ophthalmol, 1993. **111**(6): p. 831-6.
- 144. Hall, A.B., et al., LOCS III versus the Oxford Clinical Cataract Classification and Grading System for the assessment of nuclear, cortical and posterior subcapsular cataract. Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 1997. **4**(4): p. 179-94.
- 145. Hall, N.F., et al., *Grading nuclear cataract: reproducibility and validity of a new method.* Br J Ophthalmol, 1999. **83**(10): p. 1159-63.
- 146. Hockwin, O., *Cataract classification*. Doc Ophthalmol, 1994. **88**(3-4): p. 263-75.
- 147. Van Den Berg, T.J., et al., *Straylight effects with aging and lens extraction*. Am J Ophthalmol, 2007. **144**(3): p. 358-363.
- 148. Kirwan, J.F., et al., *LOCS III examination at the slit lamp, do settings matter*? Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2003. **10**(4): p. 259-66.
- 149. Klein, B.E., R. Klein, and K.E. Lee, *Incidence of age-related cataract: the Beaver Dam Eye Study*. Arch Ophthalmol, 1998. **116**(2): p. 219-25.

- 150. Klein, B.E., R. Klein, and K.E. Lee, *Incidence of age-related cataract over a 10-year interval: the Beaver Dam Eye Study*. Ophthalmology, 2002. **109**(11): p. 2052-7.
- 151. Klein, B.E., et al., *Incidence of age-related cataract over a 15-year interval the Beaver Dam Eye Study*. Ophthalmology, 2008. **115**(3): p. 477-82.
- 152. Klein, B.E., et al., *Changing incidence of lens extraction over 20 years: the Beaver Dam eye study.* Ophthalmology, 2014. **121**(1): p. 5-9.
- 153. Hong, T., et al., *Long-term changes in visual acuity in an older population over a 15-year period: the Blue Mountains Eye Study*. Ophthalmology, 2013. **120**(10): p. 2091-9.
- 154. Kanthan, G.L., et al., *Ten-year incidence of age-related cataract and cataract surgery in an older Australian* population. *The Blue Mountains Eye Study*. Ophthalmology, 2008. **115**(5): p. 808-814 e1.
- 155. Panchapakesan, J., et al., *Five year incidence of cataract surgery: the Blue Mountains Eye Study*. Br J Ophthalmol, 2003. **87**(2): p. 168-72.
- 156. Khairallah, M., et al., *Prevalence and causes of vision loss in North Africa and the Middle East: 1990-2010.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2014. **98**(5): p. 605-11.
- 157. Naidoo, K., et al., *Prevalence and causes of vision loss in sub-Saharan Africa: 1990-2010.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2014. **98**(5): p. 612-8.
- 158. Leasher, J.L., et al., *Prevalence and causes of vision loss in Latin America and the Caribbean: 1990-2010.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2014. **98**(5): p. 619-28.
- 159. Jonas, J.B., et al., *Prevalence and causes of vision loss in Central and South Asia: 1990-2010.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2014. **98**(5): p. 592-8.
- 160. Wong, A.H., S.S. Barg, and A.K. Leung, *Seasonal and perennial allergic conjunctivitis*. Recent Pat Inflamm Allergy Drug Discov, 2014. **8**(2): p. 139-53.
- 161. Keeffe, J., et al., *Prevalence and causes of vision loss in Southeast Asia and Oceania: 1990-2010.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2014. **98**(5): p. 586-91.
- 162. Petrash, J.M., *Aging and age-related diseases of the ocular lens and vitreous body*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2013. **54**(14): p. ORSF54-9.
- 163. Klein, R. and B.E. Klein, *The prevalence of age-related eye diseases and visual impairment in aging: current estimates.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2013. **54**(14): p. ORSF5-ORSF13.
- 164. Seddon, J.M., *Genetic and environmental underpinnings to age-related ocular diseases*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2013. **54**(14): p. ORSF28-30.
- 165. Iyengar, S.K., et al., *Identification of a major locus for age-related cortical cataract on chromosome 6p12-q12 in the Beaver Dam Eye Study.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2004. **101**(40): p. 14485-90.
- 166. Klein, B.E., et al., *Drug use and five-year incidence of age-related cataracts: The Beaver Dam Eye Study.* Ophthalmology, 2001. **108**(9): p. 1670-4.
- 167. Heiba, I.M., et al., *Evidence for a major gene for cortical cataract*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1995. **36**(1): p. 227-35.
- 168. Wu, H., et al., Association between dietary carbohydrate intake and dietary glycemic index and risk of agerelated cataract: a meta-analysis. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2014. **55**(6): p. 3660-8.
- 169. Klein, R., et al., *The relation of retinal microvascular characteristics to age-related eye disease: the Beaver* Dam eye study. Am J Ophthalmol, 2004. **137**(3): p. 435-44.
- 170. Klein, B.E., et al., *Hypertension and lens opacities from the Beaver Dam Eye Study*. Am J Ophthalmol, 1995.
 119(5): p. 640-6.
- 171. Klein, B.E., et al., Statin use and incident nuclear cataract. Jama, 2006. 295(23): p. 2752-8.
- 172. Alemu, S., et al., *Retinopathy in type 1 diabetes mellitus: Major differences between rural and urban dwellers in northwest Ethiopia.* Diabetes Res Clin Pract, 2015. **109**(1): p. 191-8.
- 173. Rowe, N.G., et al., *Diabetes, fasting blood glucose and age-related cataract: the Blue Mountains Eye Study.* Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2000. **7**(2): p. 103-14.
- 174. Mattishent, K., et al., *Meta-review: adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroids relevant to older patients.* Drugs, 2014. **74**(5): p. 539-47.
- 175. Ye, J., et al., *Body mass index and risk of age-related cataract: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies.* PLoS One, 2014. **9**(2): p. e89923.
- 176. Kostis, J.B. and J.M. Dobrzynski, *Prevention of cataracts by statins: a meta-analysis*. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther, 2014. **19**(2): p. 191-200.
- 177. Klein, B.E., R.E. Klein, and K.E. Lee, *Incident cataract after a five-year interval and lifestyle factors: the Beaver Dam eye study.* Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 1999. **6**(4): p. 247-55.
- 178. Ma, L., et al., *A dose-response meta-analysis of dietary lutein and zeaxanthin intake in relation to risk of agerelated cataract.* Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2014. **252**(1): p. 63-70.

- 179. Zhang, Y., et al., *Vitamin E and risk of age-related cataract: a meta-analysis.* Public Health Nutr, 2015. **18**(15): p. 2804-14.
- 180. Christen, W.G., et al., *Age-related cataract in men in the selenium and vitamin e cancer prevention trial eye endpoints study: a randomized clinical trial.* JAMA Ophthalmol, 2015. **133**(1): p. 17-24.
- 181. Christen, W.G., et al., *Effects of multivitamin supplement on cataract and age-related macular degeneration in a randomized trial of male physicians*. Ophthalmology, 2014. **121**(2): p. 525-34.
- 182. Mares-Perlman, J.A., et al., *Vitamin supplement use and incident cataracts in a population-based study*. Arch Ophthalmol, 2000. **118**(11): p. 1556-63.
- 183. Liao, J.C., et al., *Surgical timing and postoperative ocular motility in type B orbital blowout fractures.* Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg, 2015. **31**(1): p. 29-33.
- 184. Song, E., et al., *Age-related cataract, cataract surgery and subsequent mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* PLoS One, 2014. **9**(11): p. e112054.
- 185. Knudtson, M.D., B.E. Klein, and R. Klein, *Age-related eye disease, visual impairment, and survival: the Beaver* Dam Eye Study. Arch Ophthalmol, 2006. **124**(2): p. 243-9.
- 186. Zigman, S., Environmental near-UV radiation and cataracts. Optom Vis Sci, 1995. 72(12): p. 899-901.
- 187. Roberts, J.E., *Ultraviolet radiation as a risk factor for cataract and macular degeneration*. Eye Contact Lens, 2011. **37**(4): p. 246-9.
- 188. Taylor, H.R., et al., *Effect of ultraviolet radiation on cataract formation*. N Engl J Med, 1988. **319**(22): p. 1429-33.
- 189. Javitt, J.C. and H.R. Taylor, *Cataract and latitude*. Doc Ophthalmol, 1994. 88(3-4): p. 307-25.
- 190. Klein, B.E., K.J. Cruickshanks, and R. Klein, *Leisure time, sunlight exposure and cataracts*. Doc Ophthalmol, 1994. **88**(3-4): p. 295-305.
- 191. Dolin, P.J., Assessment of epidemiological evidence that exposure to solar ultraviolet radiation causes cataract. Doc Ophthalmol, 1994. **88**(3-4): p. 327-37.
- 192. West, S., Ocular ultraviolet B exposure and lens opacities: a review. J Epidemiol, 1999. 9(6 Suppl): p. S97-101.
- 193. Wallace, J., et al., An epidemiological study of lens opacities among steel workers. Br J Ind Med, 1971. **28**(3): p. 265-71.
- 194. Mukesh, B.N., et al., *Development of cataract and associated risk factors: the Visual Impairment Project*. Arch Ophthalmol, 2006. **124**(1): p. 79-85.
- 195. Vos, J.J. and D. van Norren, *Thermal cataract, from furnaces to lasers*. Clin Exp Optom, 2004. 87(6): p. 372-6.
- 196. Rafnsson, V., et al., *Cosmic radiation increases the risk of nuclear cataract in airline pilots: a population-based case-control study.* Arch Ophthalmol, 2005. **123**(8): p. 1102-5.
- 197. Cucinotta, F.A., et al., *Space radiation and cataracts in astronauts*. Radiat Res, 2001. **156**(5 Pt 1): p. 460-6.
- 198. McElroy, J.A., et al., *Place-based exposure and cataract risk in the Beaver Dam cohort*. J Environ Health, 2014. **76**(6): p. 34-40.
- 199. Ainsbury, E.A., et al., Radiation cataractogenesis: a review of recent studies. Radiat Res, 2009. 172(1): p. 1-9.
- 200. Mulcahy Levy, J.M., et al., *Late effects of total body irradiation and hematopoietic stem cell transplant in children under 3 years of age*. Pediatr Blood Cancer, 2013. **60**(4): p. 700-4.
- 201. Little, M.P., *A review of non-cancer effects, especially circulatory and ocular diseases.* Radiat Environ Biophys, 2013. **52**(4): p. 435-49.
- 202. Mrena, S., et al., *Lens opacities among physicians occupationally exposed to ionizing radiation--a pilot study in Finland*. Scand J Work Environ Health, 2011. **37**(3): p. 237-43.
- 203. Anastasian, Z.H., et al., *Radiation exposure of the anesthesiologist in the neurointerventional suite*. Anesthesiology, 2011. **114**(3): p. 512-20.
- 204. Milacic, S., *Risk of occupational radiation-induced cataract in medical workers*. Med Lav, 2009. **100**(3): p. 178-86.
- 205. Bouffler, S., et al., *Radiation-induced cataracts: the Health Protection Agency's response to the ICRP statement* on tissue reactions and recommendation on the dose limit for the eye lens. J Radiol Prot, 2012. **32**(4): p. 479-88.
- 206. Kruse, A., et al., *Trinitrotoluene (TNT)-induced cataract in Danish arms factory workers*. Acta Ophthalmol Scand, 2005. **83**(1): p. 26-30.
- 207. Shah, M., et al., *Visual recovery and predictors of visual prognosis after managing traumatic cataracts in 555 patients*. Indian J Ophthalmol, 2011. **59**(3): p. 217-22.
- 208. Shah, M., et al., *Controversies in traumatic cataract classification and management: a review.* Can J Ophthalmol, 2013. **48**(4): p. 251-8.
- 209. Kumar, N.L., D. Black, and K. McClellan, *Daytime presentations to a metropolitan ophthalmic emergency department.* Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2005. **33**(6): p. 586-92.

- 210. Wong, T.Y., et al., *Relation of ocular trauma to cortical, nuclear, and posterior subcapsular cataracts: the Beaver Dam Eye Study.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2002. **86**(2): p. 152-5.
- 211. Burnstine, M.A., *Clinical recommendations for repair of isolated orbital floor fractures: an evidence-based analysis.* Ophthalmology, 2002. **109**(7): p. 1207-10; discussion 1210-1; quiz 1212-3.
- 212. Dubois, L., et al., *Controversies in orbital reconstruction--II. Timing of post-traumatic orbital reconstruction: a systematic review.* Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg, 2015. **44**(4): p. 433-40.
- 213. Sugamata, A., N. Yoshizawa, and K. Shimanaka, *Timing of operation for blowout fractures with extraocular muscle entrapment*. J Plast Surg Hand Surg, 2013. **47**(6): p. 454-7.
- 214. Harris, G.J., Orbital blow-out fractures: surgical timing and technique. Eye (Lond), 2006. **20**(10): p. 1207-12.
- 215. Hartstein, M.E. and G. Roper-Hall, *Update on orbital floor fractures: indications and timing for repair.* Facial Plast Surg, 2000. **16**(2): p. 95-106.
- 216. Taher, A.A., *Diplopia caused by orbital floor blowout fracture*. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol, 1993. **75**(4): p. 433-5.
- 217. Shipp, M.D., *Potential human and economic cost-savings attributable to vision testing policies for driver license renewal*, 1989-1991. Optom Vis Sci, 1998. **75**(2): p. 103-18.
- 218. Good, W., *Occupational Vision Manual*. American Optometric Association.
- 219. Wood, J. and K. Higgins, *How well does high contrast visual acuity predict driving performance?*, in *Vision in Vehicles VII.*, A. Gale, Editor. 1999, Elsevier: Amsterdam. p. 33-42.
- 220. Gresset, J.A. and F.M. Meyer, *Risk of accidents among elderly car drivers with visual acuity equal to 6/12 or 6/15 and lack of binocular vision.* Ophthalmic Physiol Opt, 1994. **14**(1): p. 33-7.
- 221. Burg, A., *Visual acuity as measured by dynamic and static tests: a comparative evaluation.* J Appl Psychol, 1966. **50**(6): p. 460-6.
- 222. Owsley, C. and G. McGwin, Jr., Vision and driving. Vision Res, 2010. 50(23): p. 2348-61.
- 223. Atchison, D.A., et al., *Traffic signal color recognition is a problem for both protan and deutan color-vision deficients.* Hum Factors, 2003. **45**(3): p. 495-503.
- 224. Cole, B.L., The handicap of abnormal colour vision. Clin Exp Optom, 2004. 87(4-5): p. 258-75.
- 225. Steward, J.M. and B.L. Cole, *What do color vision defectives say about everyday tasks?* Optom Vis Sci, 1989. **66**(5): p. 288-95.
- 226. Iregren, A., M. Andersson, and P. Nylen, *Color vision and occupational chemical exposures. II. Visual functions in non-exposed subjects.* Neurotoxicology, 2002. **23**(6): p. 735-45.
- 227. Gong, Y.Y., et al., *Relation between colour vision loss and occupational styrene exposure level*. Occup Environ Med, 2002. **59**(12): p. 824-9.
- 228. Gobba, F. and A. Cavalleri, *Color vision impairment in workers exposed to neurotoxic chemicals*. Neurotoxicology, 2003. **24**(4-5): p. 693-702.
- 229. Campagna, D., et al., Color vision loss among styrene-exposed workers neurotoxicological threshold assessment. Neurotoxicology, 1996. **17**(2): p. 367-73.
- 230. Tovee, M.J., *The molecular genetics and evolution of primate colour vision*. Trends Neurosci, 1994. **17**(1): p. 30-7.
- 231. Brazis, P.W., et al., *Ishihara color plates as a test for simultanagnosia*. Am J Ophthalmol, 1998. **126**(6): p. 850-1.
- Shaygannejad, V., et al., Color blindness among multiple sclerosis patients in Isfahan. J Res Med Sci, 2012.
 17(3): p. 254-7.
- 233. Villoslada, P., et al., Color vision is strongly associated with retinal thinning in multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler, 2012. **18**(7): p. 991-9.
- 234. Gittinger, J.W., Jr. and G.K. Asdourian, *Papillopathy caused by amiodarone*. Arch Ophthalmol, 1987. **105**(3): p. 349-51.
- 235. Nazarian, S.M. and W.M. Jay, *Bilateral optic neuropathy associated with amiodarone therapy*. J Clin Neuroophthalmol, 1988. **8**(1): p. 25-8.
- 236. Vu, B.L., M. Easterbrook, and J.K. Hovis, *Detection of color vision defects in chloroquine retinopathy*. Ophthalmology, 1999. **106**(9): p. 1799-803; discussion 1804.
- 237. Hyon, J.Y., J.H. Lee, and W.R. Wee, *Shift of colorimetric values in ishihara pseudoisochromatic plates with plate aging.* Korean J Ophthalmol, 2005. **19**(2): p. 145-8.
- 238. Rodrigues, E.B., et al., *Tunneled scleral incision to prevent vitreal reflux after intravitreal injection*. Am J Ophthalmol, 2007. **143**(6): p. 1035-7.
- 239. Sharanjeet, K., et al., *Effect of petroleum derivatives and solvents on colour perception*. Clin Exp Optom, 2004. **87**(4-5): p. 339-43.
- 240. Abebe, Y.W., Y., *Defective Color Perception Among Car Drivers in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia*. Traffic Injury Prevention, 2002. **3**: p. 294-297.

- 241. Dille, J.R.a.B., C. F., *Accident experience of civilian pilots with static physical defects.* FAA Office of Aviation Medicine Report, 1976. **AM-77-80**.
- 242. Dille, J.R. and C.F. Booze, *The 1976 accident experience of civilian pilots with static physical defects.* Aviat Space Environ Med, 1980. **51**(2): p. 182-4.
- 243. Morgan, M.J., A. Adam, and J.D. Mollon, *Dichromats detect colour-camouflaged objects that are not detected by trichromats*. Proc Biol Sci, 1992. **248**(1323): p. 291-5.
- 244. Saito, A., et al., *Advantage of dichromats over trichromats in discrimination of color-camouflaged stimuli in humans.* Percept Mot Skills, 2006. **102**(1): p. 3-12.
- 245. Thyagarajan, S., et al., *Technical note: the effect of refractive blur on colour vision evaluated using the Cambridge Colour Test, the Ishihara Pseudoisochromatic Plates and the Farnsworth Munsell 100 Hue Test.* Ophthalmic Physiol Opt, 2007. **27**(3): p. 315-9.
- 246. Erb, C., et al., Colour vision in normal subjects tested by the colour arrangement test 'Roth 28-hue desaturated'. Vision Res, 1998. **38**(21): p. 3467-71.
- 247. LeSage, J., Color vision testing to assist in diagnosis of digoxin toxicity. Nurs Res, 1984. 33(6): p. 346-51.
- 248. Miyahara, E., *Errors reading the Ishihara pseudoisochromatic plates made by observers with normal colour vision.* Clin Exp Optom, 2008. **91**(2): p. 161-5.
- 249. Ramaswamy, S. and J.K. Hovis, *Do color-deficient observers take longer to complete a color-related task?* Optom Vis Sci, 2009. **86**(8): p. 964-70.
- 250. Rodriguez-Carmona, M., M. O'Neill-Biba, and J.L. Barbur, *Assessing the severity of color vision loss with implications for aviation and other occupational environments*. Aviat Space Environ Med, 2012. **83**(1): p. 19-29.
- 251. Vingrys, A.J. and P.E. King-Smith, *A quantitative scoring technique for panel tests of color vision*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1988. **29**(1): p. 50-63.
- 252. Hackman, R.J., *Predicting Farnsworth Lantern success with a six-plate series of the Ishihara pseudoisochromatic plates*. Mil Med, 2001. **166**(12): p. 1046-8.
- 253. Huna-Baron, R., Y. Glovinsky, and Z. Habot-Wilner, *Comparison between Hardy-Rand-Rittler 4th edition and Ishihara color plate tests for detection of dyschromatopsia in optic neuropathy.* Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2013. **251**(2): p. 585-9.
- 254. Ing, E.B., J.A. Parker, and L.A. Emerton, *Computerized colour vision testing*. Can J Ophthalmol, 1994. **29**(3): p. 125-8.
- 255. Seshadri, J., et al., *Evaluation of the new web-based "Colour Assessment and Diagnosis" test*. Optom Vis Sci, 2005. **82**(10): p. 882-5.
- 256. Shoji, T., et al., *Reference intervals and discrimination values of the Lanthony desaturated D-15 panel test in young to middle-aged Japanese army officials: the Okubo Color Study Report 1.* Eye (Lond), 2009. **23**(6): p. 1329-35.
- 257. Rabin, J., J. Gooch, and D. Ivan, *Rapid quantification of color vision: the cone contrast test.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. **52**(2): p. 816-20.
- 258. Abramov, I. and J. Gordon, *Color vision panel tests: a metric for interpreting numeric analytic indices.* Optom Vis Sci, 2009. **86**(2): p. 146-52.
- 259. Birch, J., Clinical use of the City University Test (2nd Edition). Ophthalmic Physiol Opt, 1997. 17(6): p. 466-72.
- 260. Birch, J., *Efficiency of the Ishihara test for identifying red-green colour deficiency*. Ophthalmic Physiol Opt, 1997. **17**(5): p. 403-8.
- 261. Birch, J., *Failure of concordance of the Farnsworth D15 test and the Nagel anomaloscope matching range in anomalous trichromatism.* Vis Neurosci, 2008. **25**(3): p. 451-3.
- 262. Birch, J., *Identification of red-green colour deficiency: sensitivity of the Ishihara and American Optical Company (Hard, Rand and Rittler) pseudo-isochromatic plates to identify slight anomalous trichromatism.* Ophthalmic Physiol Opt, 2010. **30**(5): p. 667-71.
- 263. McCulley, T.J., et al., *The effect of decreased visual acuity on clinical color vision testing*. Am J Ophthalmol, 2006. **141**(1): p. 194-6.
- 264. Cole, B.L., K.Y. Lian, and C. Lakkis, *Using clinical tests of colour vision to predict the ability of colour vision deficient patients to name surface colours.* Ophthalmic Physiol Opt, 2007. **27**(4): p. 381-8.
- 265. Cole, B.L. and J.D. Maddocks, *Can clinical colour vision tests be used to predict the results of the Farnsworth lantern test*? Vision Res, 1998. **38**(21): p. 3483-5.
- 266. Cole, B.L. and J.M. Orenstein, *Does the Farnsworth D15 test predict the ability to name colours?* Clin Exp Optom, 2003. **86**(4): p. 221-9.
- 267. Ng, J.S., et al., *Evaluation of the Waggoner Computerized Color Vision Test*. Optom Vis Sci, 2015. **92**(4): p. 480-6.

- 268. Gundogan, N.U., et al., *Projected color slides as a method for mass screening test for color vision deficiency (a preliminary study)*. Int J Neurosci, 2005. **115**(8): p. 1105-17.
- 269. Cotter, S.A., D.Y. Lee, and A.L. French, *Evaluation of a new color vision test: "color vision testing made easy"*. Optom Vis Sci, 1999. **76**(9): p. 631-6.
- 270. Squire, T.J., et al., *Color vision tests for aviation: comparison of the anomaloscope and three lantern types.* Aviat Space Environ Med, 2005. **76**(5): p. 421-9.
- 271. Atchison, D.A., K.J. Bowman, and A.J. Vingrys, *Quantitative scoring methods for D15 panel tests in the diagnosis of congenital color vision deficiencies*. Optom Vis Sci, 1991. **68**(1): p. 41-8.
- 272. Aroichane, M., et al., *A comparative study of Hardy-Rand-Rittler and Ishihara colour plates for the diagnosis of nonglaucomatous optic neuropathy.* Can J Ophthalmol, 1996. **31**(7): p. 350-5.
- 273. Hovis, J.K. and D. Oliphant, A lantern color vision test for the rail industry. Am J Ind Med, 2000. **38**(6): p. 681-96.
- 274. Ganley, J.P. and M.C. Lian, *Projected color slides as a method for mass screening of red-green color deficient individuals.* Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 1997. **4**(4): p. 213-21.
- 275. Gaudart, J. and J.P. Petrakian, *Evaluation of a chromatometer: a new method for blue-yellow or green-red visual comparisons, and anomaly screening techniques.* Med Sci Monit, 2005. **11**(8): p. Mt39-52.
- 276. Owsley, C., et al., *Visual processing impairment and risk of motor vehicle crash among older adults.* JAMA, 1998. **279**(14): p. 1083-8.
- 277. Rubin, G.S., et al., *A comprehensive assessment of visual impairment in a population of older Americans. The SEE Study. Salisbury Eye Evaluation Project.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1997. **38**(3): p. 557-68.
- 278. Rubin, G.S., et al., *A prospective, population-based study of the role of visual impairment in motor vehicle crashes among older drivers: the SEE study.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2007. **48**(4): p. 1483-91.
- 279. Goode, K.T., et al., *Useful Field of View and Other Neurocognitive Indicators of Crash Risk in Older Adults.* Journal of Clinical Psychology in Medical Settings, 1998. **5**(4): p. 425-440.
- 280. Ball, K.K., et al., Age and visual search: expanding the useful field of view. J Opt Soc Am A, 1988. 5(12): p. 2210-9.
- 281. Ball, K., et al., *Visual attention problems as a predictor of vehicle crashes in older drivers*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 1993. **34**(11): p. 3110-23.
- 282. Charman, W.N., *Vision and driving--a literature review and commentary.* Ophthalmic Physiol Opt, 1997. **17**(5): p. 371-91.
- 283. Szlyk, J.P., et al., Assessment of driving performance in patients with retinitis pigmentosa. Arch Ophthalmol, 1992. **110**(12): p. 1709-13.
- 284. Decina, L.E. and L. Staplin, *Retrospective evaluation of alternative vision screening criteria for older and younger drivers*. Accid Anal Prev, 1993. **25**(3): p. 267-75.
- 285. Hu, P.S., et al., *Crash risks of older drivers: a panel data analysis.* Accid Anal Prev, 1998. **30**(5): p. 569-81.
- 286. Coeckelbergh, T.R., et al., *The effect of visual field defects on driving performance: a driving simulator study.* Arch Ophthalmol, 2002. **120**(11): p. 1509-16.
- 287. Bronstad, P.M., et al., *Driving with central field loss I: effect of central scotomas on responses to hazards.* JAMA Ophthalmol, 2013. **131**(3): p. 303-9.
- 288. Lockhart, J., et al., *Driving with visual field loss : an exploratory simulation study: technical report.* 2009: U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
- 289. Wood, J.M. and R. Troutbeck, *Effect of visual impairment on driving*. Hum Factors, 1994. **36**(3): p. 476-87.
- 290. Szlyk, J.P., et al., *Driving performance of glaucoma patients correlates with peripheral visual field loss.* J Glaucoma, 2005. **14**(2): p. 145-50.
- 291. Coeckelbergh, T.R., et al., *The effect of visual field defects on eye movements and practical fitness to drive.* Vision Res, 2002. **42**(5): p. 669-77.
- 292. Racette, L. and E.J. Casson, *The impact of visual field loss on driving performance: evidence from on-road driving assessments.* Optom Vis Sci, 2005. **82**(8): p. 668-74.
- 293. Robin, T.A., et al., *Performance of community-based glaucoma screening using Frequency Doubling Technology and Heidelberg Retinal Tomography*. Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2005. **12**(3): p. 167-78.
- 294. Sample, P.A., et al., *Identifying glaucomatous vision loss with visual-function-specific perimetry in the diagnostic innovations in glaucoma study*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2006. **47**(8): p. 3381-9.
- 295. Sample, P.A., et al., *Imaging and Perimetry Society standards and guidelines*. Optom Vis Sci, 2011. **88**(1): p. 4-7.
- 296. Liu, J., et al., Oral mucosal graft with amniotic membrane transplantation for total limbal stem cell deficiency. Am J Ophthalmol, 2011. **152**(5): p. 739-47 e1.
- 297. Liu, S., et al., *Frequency doubling technology perimetry for detection of visual field progression in glaucoma: a pointwise linear regression analysis.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2014. **55**(5): p. 2862-9.

- 298. Landers, J., I. Goldberg, and S. Graham, *A comparison of short wavelength automated perimetry with frequency doubling perimetry for the early detection of visual field loss in ocular hypertension.* Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2000. **28**(4): p. 248-52.
- 299. Landers, J., et al., *A comparison of perimetric results with the Medmont and Humphrey perimeters*. Br J Ophthalmol, 2003. **87**(6): p. 690-4.
- 300. Nomoto, H., et al., *Detectability of glaucomatous changes using SAP, FDT, flicker perimetry, and OCT.* J Glaucoma, 2009. **18**(2): p. 165-71.
- 301. Cello, K.E., J.M. Nelson-Quigg, and C.A. Johnson, *Frequency doubling technology perimetry for detection of glaucomatous visual field loss*. Am J Ophthalmol, 2000. **129**(3): p. 314-322.
- 302. Delgado, M.F., et al., *Automated perimetry: a report by the American Academy of Ophthalmology.* Ophthalmology, 2002. **109**(12): p. 2362-74.
- 303. Terry, A.L., et al., *The methodology of visual field testing with frequency doubling technology in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2005-2006.* Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2010. **17**(6): p. 411-21.
- 304. Kerr, N.M., et al., *Diagnostic accuracy of confrontation visual field tests*. Neurology, 2010. **74**(15): p. 1184-90.
- 305. Su, W.W., et al., *Comparison of standard white-on-white automated perimetry and short-wavelength automated perimetry in early glaucoma patients*. Chang Gung Med J, 2004. **27**(3): p. 188-92.
- 306. Shahinfar, S., L.N. Johnson, and R.W. Madsen, Confrontation visual field loss as a function of decibel sensitivity loss on automated static perimetry: Implications on the accuracy of confrontation visual field testing. Ophthalmology, 1995. 102(6): p. 872-877.
- Szatmary, G., V. Biousse, and N.J. Newman, Can Swedish interactive thresholding algorithm fast perimetry be used as an alternative to goldmann perimetry in neuro-ophthalmic practice? Arch Ophthalmol, 2002. 120(9): p. 1162-73.
- 308. Soliman, M.A., et al., *Standard achromatic perimetry, short wavelength automated perimetry, and frequency doubling technology for detection of glaucoma damage*. Ophthalmology, 2002. **109**(3): p. 444-54.
- 309. Thomas, R., et al., *Frequency doubling perimetry in glaucoma*. J Glaucoma, 2002. **11**(1): p. 46-50.
- Pandit, R.J., K. Gales, and P.G. Griffiths, *Effectiveness of testing visual fields by confrontation*. Lancet, 2001.
 358(9290): p. 1339-40.
- 311. Leeprechanon, N., et al., *Frequency doubling perimetry and short-wavelength automated perimetry to detect early glaucoma*. Ophthalmology, 2007. **114**(5): p. 931-7.
- 312. Siatkowski, R.M., et al., *Automated suprathreshold static perimetry screening for detecting neuro*ophthalmologic disease. Ophthalmology, 1996. **103**(6): p. 907-917.
- 313. Fan, X., et al., Usefulness of frequency-doubling technology for perimetrically normal eyes of open-angle glaucoma patients with unilateral field loss. Ophthalmology, 2010. **117**(8): p. 1530-1537.e1-e2.
- 314. Rao, H.L., et al., *Role of visual field reliability indices in ruling out glaucoma*. JAMA Ophthalmol, 2015. **133**(1): p. 40-4.
- 315. Wu, W., et al., Endoscopic transethmoidal and transconjunctival inferior fornix approaches for repairing the combined medial wall and orbital floor blowout fractures. J Craniofac Surg, 2011. **22**(2): p. 537-42.
- 316. Zeppieri, M., et al., *Pulsar perimetry in the diagnosis of early glaucoma*. Am J Ophthalmol, 2010. **149**(1): p. 102-12.
- 317. Choi, J.A., N.Y. Lee, and C.K. Park, *Interpretation of the Humphrey Matrix 24-2 test in the diagnosis of preperimetric glaucoma*. Jpn J Ophthalmol, 2009. **53**(1): p. 24-30.
- 318. Bayer, A.U. and C. Erb, Short wavelength automated perimetry, frequency doubling technology perimetry, and pattern electroretinography for prediction of progressive glaucomatous standard visual field defects. Ophthalmology, 2002. **109**(5): p. 1009-17.
- 319. Bayer, A.U., K.P. Maag, and C. Erb, *Detection of optic neuropathy in glaucomatous eyes with normal standard visual fields using a test battery of short-wavelength automated perimetry and pattern electroretinography.* Ophthalmology, 2002. **109**(7): p. 1350-61.
- 320. Horn, F.K., et al., *Combined evaluation of frequency doubling technology perimetry and scanning laser ophthalmoscopy for glaucoma detection using automated classification.* J Glaucoma, 2012. **21**(1): p. 27-34.
- 321. Horn, F.K., et al., *Perimetric measurements with flicker-defined form stimulation in comparison with conventional perimetry and retinal nerve fiber measurements*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2014. **55**(4): p. 2317-23.
- 322. Wong, A.M. and J.A. Sharpe, *A comparison of tangent screen, goldmann, and humphrey perimetry in the detection and localization of occipital lesions.* Ophthalmology, 2000. **107**(3): p. 527-44.
- 323. Wall, M., R.K. Neahring, and K.R. Woodward, *Sensitivity and specificity of frequency doubling perimetry in neuro-ophthalmic disorders: a comparison with conventional automated perimetry*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2002. **43**(4): p. 1277-83.

- 324. Wall, M., et al., *Repeatability of automated perimetry: a comparison between standard automated perimetry with stimulus size III and V, matrix, and motion perimetry.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2009. **50**(2): p. 974-9.
- 325. Kaushik, S., et al., *Correlation of frequency-doubling perimetry with retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and optic disc size in ocular hypertensives and glaucoma suspects.* J Glaucoma, 2011. **20**(6): p. 366-70.
- 326. Wadood, A.C., et al., Sensitivity and specificity of frequency-doubling technology, tendency-oriented perimetry, and Humphrey Swedish interactive threshold algorithm-fast perimetry in a glaucoma practice. Am J Ophthalmol, 2002. **133**(3): p. 327-32.
- 327. Heeg, G.P. and N.M. Jansonius, *The groningen longitudinal glaucoma study III. The predictive value of frequency-doubling perimetry and GDx nerve fibre analyser test results for the development of glaucomatous visual field loss.* Eye, 2009. **23**(8): p. 1647-1652.
- 328. Salvetat, M.L., et al., *Non-conventional perimetric methods in the detection of early glaucomatous functional damage*. Eye (Lond), 2010. **24**(5): p. 835-42.
- 329. Redmond, T., et al., *Visual field progression with frequency-doubling matrix perimetry and standard automated perimetry in patients with glaucoma and in healthy controls.* JAMA Ophthalmol, 2013. **131**(12): p. 1565-72.
- 330. Shah, N.N., et al., *Combining structural and functional testing for detection of glaucoma*. Ophthalmology, 2006. **113**(9): p. 1593-602.
- 331. Thomas, D., et al., *Role of frequency doubling perimetry in detecting neuro-ophthalmic visual field defects.* Am J Ophthalmol, 2001. **131**(6): p. 734-41.
- 332. Tafreshi, A., et al., *Visual function-specific perimetry to identify glaucomatous visual loss using three different definitions of visual field abnormality.* Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science, 2009. **50**(3): p. 1234-1240.
- 333. Tafreshi, A., et al., *Pattern electroretinogram and psychophysical tests of visual function for discriminating between healthy and glaucoma eyes.* Am J Ophthalmol, 2010. **149**(3): p. 488-95.
- 334. Bowd, C., et al., *Detecting early glaucoma by assessment of retinal nerve fiber layer thickness and visual function*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2001. **42**(9): p. 1993-2003.
- 335. Corallo, G., et al., *Rarebit perimetry and frequency doubling technology in patients with ocular hypertension.* Eur J Ophthalmol, 2008. **18**(2): p. 205-11.
- 336. Cioffi, G.A., et al., *Frequency doubling perimetry and the detection of eye disease in the community.* Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc, 2000. **98**: p. 195-9; discussion 199-202.
- 337. Hollo, G., A. Szabo, and P. Vargha, *Scanning laser polarimetry versus frequency-doubling perimetry and conventional threshold perimetry: changes during a 12-month follow-up in preperimetric glaucoma. A pilot study.* Acta Ophthalmol Scand, 2001. **79**(4): p. 403-7.
- 338. Hirashima, T., et al., *Frequency-doubling technology and retinal measurements with spectral-domain optical coherence tomography in preperimetric glaucoma*. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2013. **251**(1): p. 129-37.
- 339. Clement, C.I., et al., *Humphrey matrix frequency doubling perimetry for detection of visual-field defects in open-angle glaucoma*. Br J Ophthalmol, 2009. **93**(5): p. 582-8.
- 340. Taravati, P., et al., *Sensitivity and specificity of the Humphrey Matrix to detect homonymous hemianopias.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2008. **49**(3): p. 924-8.
- 341. Anderson, A.J., et al., *Characteristics of the normative database for the Humphrey Matrix perimeter*. Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science, 2005. **46**(4): p. 1540-1548.
- 342. Sakai, T., et al., *Comparison of standard automated perimetry with matrix frequency-doubling technology in patients with resolved optic neuritis*. Ophthalmology, 2007. **114**(5): p. 949-56.
- 343. Brusini, P., et al., *Frequency doubling technology perimetry with the Humphrey Matrix 30-2 test.* J Glaucoma, 2006. **15**(2): p. 77-83.
- 344. Fredette, M.J., et al., *Comparison of Matrix with Humphrey Field Analyzer II with SITA*. Optom Vis Sci, 2015. **92**(5): p. 527-36.
- 345. Lamparter, J., et al., *Standard automated perimetry versus matrix frequency doubling technology perimetry in subjects with ocular hypertension and healthy control subjects.* PLoS One, 2013. **8**(2): p. e57663.
- 346. Vislisel, J.M., et al., Variability of rarebit and standard perimetry sizes I and III in normals. Optom Vis Sci, 2011. 88(5): p. 635-9.
- 347. Zein, W.M., et al., *The distribution of visual field defects per quadrant in standard automated perimetry as compared to frequency doubling technology perimetry.* Int Ophthalmol, 2010. **30**(6): p. 683-9.
- 348. Haymes, S.A., et al., *Glaucomatous visual field progression with frequency-doubling technology and standard automated perimetry in a longitudinal prospective study.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2005. **46**(2): p. 547-54.
- 349. Artes, P.H., et al., *Threshold and variability properties of matrix frequency-doubling technology and standard automated perimetry in glaucoma*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2005. **46**(7): p. 2451-7.

- 350. Artes, P.H. and B.C. Chauhan, *Signal/noise analysis to compare tests for measuring visual field loss and its progression.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2009. **50**(10): p. 4700-8.
- 351. Hsiao, H. and P. Simeonov, *Preventing falls from roofs: a critical review*. Ergonomics, 2001. 44(5): p. 537-61.
- 352. Palmer, K.T., E.C. Harris, and D. Coggon, *Chronic health problems and risk of accidental injury in the workplace: a systematic literature review.* Occup Environ Med, 2008. **65**(11): p. 757-64.
- 353. Kim, B.H., Surgical treatment of necrotic scleral calcification using combined conjunctival autografting and an amniotic membrane inlay filling technique. Eye (Lond), 2011. **25**(11): p. 1484-90.
- 354. Watanabe, Y., et al., *A new method for assessing motion-in-depth perception in strabismic patients*. Br J Ophthalmol, 2008. **92**(1): p. 47-50.
- 355. Yang, J.W., M.H. Son, and I.H. Yun, *A study on the clinical usefulness of digitalized random-dot stereoacuity test.* Korean J Ophthalmol, 2004. **18**(2): p. 154-60.
- 356. Holmes, J.M. and S.L. Fawcett, *Testing distance stereoacuity with the Frisby-Davis 2 (FD2) test*. Am J Ophthalmol, 2005. **139**(1): p. 193-5.
- 357. Rosner, J. and G.D. Clift, *The validity of the Frisby stereotest as a measure of precise stereoacuity*. J Am Optom Assoc, 1984. **55**(7): p. 505-6.
- 358. Lindstrom, A., H. Davis, and J.P. Frisby, *Does binocularly perceived depth correlate with reduced stereoacuity?* Ophthalmic Physiol Opt, 2009. **29**(1): p. 92-8.
- 359. Gomez, A.T., et al., *Visual mechanisms governing the perception of auto-stereograms*. Clin Exp Optom, 2012. **95**(2): p. 146-52.
- 360. Leske, D.A. and J.M. Holmes, *Maximum angle of horizontal strabismus consistent with true stereopsis.* J aapos, 2004. **8**(1): p. 28-34.
- 361. Kumar, A., V. Kumar, and R.B. Dapling, *Traumatic cataract and intralenticular foreign body*. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2005. **33**(6): p. 660-1.
- 362. Kaiser, P.K., *A comparison of pressure patching versus no patching for corneal abrasions due to trauma or foreign body removal. Corneal Abrasion Patching Study Group.* Ophthalmology, 1995. **102**(12): p. 1936-42.
- 363. Jampel, H.D., Patching for corneal abrasions. Jama, 1995. 274(19): p. 1504.
- 364. Solomon, A., M. Halpert, and J. Frucht-Pery, *Comparison of topical indomethacin and eye patching for minor corneal trauma*. Ann Ophthalmol, 2000. **32**(4): p. 316-319.
- 365. Easty, D.L., Is an eye pad needed in cases of corneal abrasion? Bmj, 1993. 307(6911): p. 1022.
- 366. Kolomeyer, A.M., et al., Nail gun-induced open-globe injuries: a 10-year retrospective review. Retina, 2014.
 34(2): p. 254-61.
- 367. Valmaggia, C., et al., Ocular injuries with a metallic foreign body in the posterior segment as a result of hammering: the visual outcome and prognostic factors. Retina, 2014. **34**(6): p. 1116-22.
- 368. Karaman, K., et al., *Epidemiology of adult eye injuries in Split-Dalmatian county.* Croat Med J, 2004. **45**(3): p. 304-9.
- Bull, N., Mandatory use of eye protection prevents eye injuries in the metal industry. Occup Med (Lond), 2007.
 57(8): p. 605-6.
- 370. Macewen, C.J., Eye injuries: a prospective survey of 5671 cases. Br J Ophthalmol, 1989. 73(11): p. 888-94.
- 371. Smith, D., K. Wrenn, and L.B. Stack, *The epidemiology and diagnosis of penetrating eye injuries.* Acad Emerg Med, 2002. **9**(3): p. 209-13.
- 372. Omoti, A.E., J.M. Waziri-Erameh, and M.E. Enock, *Ocular disorders in a petroleum industry in Nigeria*. Eye (Lond), 2008. **22**(7): p. 925-9.
- 373. Sampat, A., et al., *Corneal abrasion in hysterectomy and prostatectomy: role of laparoscopic and robotic assistance.* Anesthesiology, 2015. **122**(5): p. 994-1001.
- 374. Kan, K.M., S.E. Brown, and D.M. Gainsburg, *Ocular complications in robotic-assisted prostatectomy: a review of pathophysiology and prevention.* Minerva Anestesiol, 2015. **81**(5): p. 557-66.
- 375. Segal, K.L., et al., *Evaluation and treatment of perioperative corneal abrasions*. J Ophthalmol, 2014. **2014**: p. 901901.
- 376. Antosh, D.D., et al., *Incidence of corneal abrasions during pelvic reconstructive surgery*. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol, 2013. **166**(2): p. 226-8.
- 377. Stambough, J.L., et al., *Ophthalmologic complications associated with prone positioning in spine surgery*. J Am Acad Orthop Surg, 2007. **15**(3): p. 156-65.
- 378. Mottow-Lippa, L., *Ophthalmology in the medical school curriculum: reestablishing our value and effecting change*. Ophthalmology, 2009. **116**(7): p. 1235-6, 1236 e1.
- 379. Beaver, H.A. and A.G. Lee, *The management of the red eye for the generalist.* Compr Ther, 2001. **27**(3): p. 218-27.
- 380. Mancini, G., et al., *Prevention of work related eye injuries: long term assessment of the effectiveness of a multicomponent intervention among metal workers.* Occup Environ Med, 2005. **62**(12): p. 830-5.

- 381. Forst, L., et al., *Effectiveness of community health workers for promoting use of safety eyewear by Latino farm workers.* Am J Ind Med, 2004. **46**(6): p. 607-13.
- 382. Eime, R., et al., *The effectiveness of a squash eyewear promotion strategy*. Br J Sports Med, 2005. **39**(9): p. 681-5.
- 383. MedlinePlus. *Visual acuity test*. 2015 [cited 2016 February 24]; Available from: <u>https://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/003396.htm</u>.
- 384. Sobaci, G., et al., *Stereoacuity testing discloses abnormalities in multiple sclerosis without optic neuritis.* J Neuroophthalmol, 2009. **29**(3): p. 197-202.
- 385. Arora, K.S., et al., Assessment of a rapid method to determine approximate visual acuity in large surveys and other such settings. Am J Ophthalmol, 2014. **157**(6): p. 1315-1321 e1.
- 386. Lim, L.A., et al., *Comparison of the ETDRS logMAR, 'compact reduced logMar' and Snellen charts in routine clinical practice.* Eye (Lond), 2010. **24**(4): p. 673-7.
- 387. Bock, M., et al., *Impairment of contrast visual acuity as a functional correlate of retinal nerve fibre layer thinning and total macular volume reduction in multiple sclerosis.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2012. **96**(1): p. 62-7.
- 388. Ong, G.L., et al., Assessment of colour vision as a screening test for sight threatening diabetic retinopathy before loss of vision. Br J Ophthalmol, 2003. **87**(6): p. 747-52.
- 389. Klintworth, G.K., *Radiographic abnormalities in eyes with retinoblastoma and other disorders*. Br J Ophthalmol, 1978. **62**(6): p. 365-72.
- 390. Modjtahedi, B.S., et al., *Imaging characteristics of intraocular foreign bodies: a comparative study of plain film X-ray, computed tomography, ultrasound, and magnetic resonance imaging.* Retina, 2015. **35**(1): p. 95-104.
- 391. Ng, P., et al., *Imaging of orbital floor fractures*. Australas Radiol, 1996. **40**(3): p. 264-8.
- 392. Kim, S.H., et al., *The usefulness of orbital lines in detecting blow-out fracture on plain radiography.* Br J Radiol, 2000. **73**(876): p. 1265-9.
- 393. Pasman, P., et al., *The value of skull radiography in patients with head trauma*. J Belge Radiol, 1995. **78**(3): p. 169-71.
- 394. Pinto, A., et al., *Role of computed tomography in the assessment of intraorbital foreign bodies*. Semin Ultrasound CT MR, 2012. **33**(5): p. 392-5.
- 395. Caranci, F., et al., Orbital fractures: role of imaging. Semin Ultrasound CT MR, 2012. **33**(5): p. 385-91.
- 396. Bodanapally, U.K., et al., *Traumatic optic neuropathy prediction after blunt facial trauma: derivation of a risk score based on facial CT findings at admission.* Radiology, 2014. **272**(3): p. 824-31.
- 397. Lakits, A., et al., Multiplanar imaging in the preoperative assessment of metallic intraocular foreign bodies. Helical computed tomography versus conventional computed tomography. Ophthalmology, 1998. **105**(9): p. 1679-85.
- 398. Akduman, E.I., et al., Accuracy of ocular axial length measurement with MRI. Ophthalmologica, 2008. 222(6): p. 397-9.
- 399. Dunkin, J.M., et al., *Globe trauma*. Semin Ultrasound CT MR, 2011. **32**(1): p. 51-6.
- 400. Erb-Eigner, K., et al., *Impact of magnetic field strength and receiver coil in ocular MRI: a phantom and patient study*. Rofo, 2013. **185**(9): p. 830-7.
- 401. Georgouli, T., et al., *High-resolution microscopy coil MR-Eye*. Eye (Lond), 2008. 22(8): p. 994-6.
- 402. Kolk, A., et al., A novel high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging microscopy coil as an alternative to the multislice computed tomography in postoperative imaging of orbital fractures and computer-based volume measurement. J Oral Maxillofac Surg, 2005. **63**(4): p. 492-8.
- 403. Moisseiev, E., et al., *Magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography for the detection and characterization of nonmetallic intraocular foreign bodies*. Retina, 2015. **35**(1): p. 82-94.
- 404. Nasr, A.M., et al., *Penetrating orbital injury with organic foreign bodies*. Ophthalmology, 1999. **106**(3): p. 523-32.
- 405. Beenakker, J.W., et al., *Automated retinal topographic maps measured with magnetic resonance imaging.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2015. **56**(2): p. 1033-9.
- 406. Quirke, M., et al., A prospective observational study of techniques to remove corneal foreign body in the emergency department. Emerg Med J, 2014. **31**(6): p. 463-6.
- 407. Ramakrishnan, T., et al., *Corneal metallic foreign body injuries due to suboptimal ocular protection*. Arch Environ Occup Health, 2012. **67**(1): p. 48-50.
- 408. Wilson, S.A. and A. Last, *Management of corneal abrasions*. Am Fam Physician, 2004. 70(1): p. 123-8.
- 409. Bocka, J.J. and J. Godfrey, *Emergency department use of an eye magnet for the removal of soft tissue foreign bodies*. Ann Emerg Med, 1994. **23**(2): p. 350-1.
- 410. Venkatesh, P., et al., *Removal of metallic intraocular foreign body impacted in the retina by magnetizing the MVR blade using an external magnet.* Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2003. **31**(5): p. 451-2.

- 411. Haynes, R.J., S. Walker, and J.N. Kirkpatrick, *Topical diclofenac relieves pain from corneal rust ring.* Eye (Lond), 1996. **10 (Pt 4)**: p. 443-6.
- 412. Brown, N., R. Clemett, and R. Grey, *Corneal rust removal by electric drill. Clinical trial by comparison with manual removal.* Br J Ophthalmol, 1975. **59**(10): p. 586-9.
- 413. Jones, J.B., D.B. Schoenleber, and J.P. Gillen, *The tolerability of lactated Ringer's solution and BSS plus for ocular irrigation with and without the Morgan therapeutic lens.* Acad Emerg Med, 1998. **5**(12): p. 1150-6.
- 414. Jayamanne, D.G. and R.W. Bell, *Non-penetrating corneal foreign body injuries: factors affecting delay in rehabilitation of patients*. J Accid Emerg Med, 1994. **11**(3): p. 195-7.
- 415. Turner, A. and M. Rabiu, *Patching for corneal abrasion*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2006(2): p. CD004764.
- 416. Arbour, J.D., et al., Should we patch corneal erosions? Arch Ophthalmol, 1997. 115(3): p. 313-7.
- 417. Campanile, T.M., D.A. St Clair, and M. Benaim, *The evaluation of eye patching in the treatment of traumatic corneal epithelial defects.* J Emerg Med, 1997. **15**(6): p. 769-74.
- 418. Le Sage, N., R. Verreault, and L. Rochette, *Efficacy of eye patching for traumatic corneal abrasions: a controlled clinical trial.* Ann Emerg Med, 2001. **38**(2): p. 129-34.
- 419. Menghini, M., et al., *Treatment of traumatic corneal abrasions: a three-arm, prospective, randomized study.* Ophthalmic Res, 2013. **50**(1): p. 13-8.
- 420. Jackson, H., *Effect of eye-pads on healing of simple corneal abrasions*. Br Med J, 1960. **2**(5200): p. 713.
- 421. Patterson, J., et al., Eye patch treatment for the pain of corneal abrasion. South Med J, 1996. 89(2): p. 227-9.
- 422. Solomon, A., M. Halpart, and J. Frucht-Pery, *Comparison of topical indomethacin and eye patching for minor corneal trauma*. Ann Ophthalmol, 2000. **32**(4): p. 3.
- 423. Kirkpatrick, J.N., H.B. Hoh, and S.D. Cook, *No eye pad for corneal abrasion*. Eye (Lond), 1993. **7 (Pt 3)**: p. 468-71.
- 424. G., R., *Letter to the editor*. Eye, 1994. **8**: p. 2.
- Hulbert, M.F., *Efficacy of eyepad in corneal healing after corneal foreign body removal.* Lancet, 1991.
 337(8742): p. 643.
- 426. Upadhyay, M.P., et al., *The Bhaktapur eye study: ocular trauma and antibiotic prophylaxis for the prevention of corneal ulceration in Nepal.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2001. **85**(4): p. 388-92.
- 427. Srinivasan, M., et al., Corneal ulceration in south-east Asia III: prevention of fungal keratitis at the village level in south India using topical antibiotics. Br J Ophthalmol, 2006. **90**(12): p. 1472-5.
- 428. Alberti, M.M., et al., *Combined indomethacin/gentamicin eyedrops to reduce pain after traumatic corneal abrasion*. Eur J Ophthalmol, 2001. **11**(3): p. 233-9.
- 429. Goyal, R., et al., *Randomised controlled trial of ketorolac in the management of corneal abrasions*. Acta Ophthalmol Scand, 2001. **79**(2): p. 177-9.
- 430. Jayamanne, D.G., et al., *The effectiveness of topical diclofenac in relieving discomfort following traumatic corneal abrasions*. Eye (Lond), 1997. **11 (Pt 1)**: p. 79-83.
- 431. Kaiser, P.K. and R. Pineda, 2nd, *A study of topical nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drops and no pressure patching in the treatment of corneal abrasions. Corneal Abrasion Patching Study Group.* Ophthalmology, 1997. **104**(8): p. 1353-9.
- 432. Patrone, G., et al., *Evaluation of the analgesic effect of 0.1% indomethacin solution on corneal abrasions*. Ophthalmologica, 1999. **213**(6): p. 350-4.
- 433. Szucs, P.A., et al., *Safety and efficacy of diclofenac ophthalmic solution in the treatment of corneal abrasions.* Ann Emerg Med, 2000. **35**(2): p. 131-7.
- 434. Pastor, J.C. and M. Calonge, *Epidermal growth factor and corneal wound healing*. A multicenter study. Cornea, 1992. **11**(4): p. 311-4.
- 435. Dellaert, M.M., et al., *Influence of topical human epidermal growth factor on postkeratoplasty reepithelialisation.* Br J Ophthalmol, 1997. **81**(5): p. 391-5.
- 436. Meek, R., et al., *Is homatropine 5% effective in reducing pain associated with corneal abrasion when compared with placebo? A randomized controlled trial.* Emerg Med Australas, 2010. **22**(6): p. 507-13.
- 437. Acheson, J.F., J. Joseph, and D.J. Spalton, *Use of soft contact lenses in an eye casualty department for the primary treatment of traumatic corneal abrasions*. Br J Ophthalmol, 1987. **71**(4): p. 285-9.
- 438. Brahma, A.K., et al., *Topical analgesia for superficial corneal injuries*. J Accid Emerg Med, 1996. **13**(3): p. 186-8.
- 439. Eke, T., D.A. Morrison, and D.J. Austin, *Recurrent symptoms following traumatic corneal abrasion: prevalence, severity, and the effect of a simple regimen of prophylaxis.* Eye (Lond), 1999. **13 (Pt 3a)**: p. 345-7.
- 440. Waldman, N., I.K. Densie, and P. Herbison, *Topical tetracaine used for 24 hours is safe and rated highly effective by patients for the treatment of pain caused by corneal abrasions: a double-blind, randomized clinical trial.* Acad Emerg Med, 2014. **21**(4): p. 374-82.
- 441. Ball, I.M., et al., Dilute proparacaine for the management of acute corneal injuries in the emergency department. CJEM, 2010. **12**(5): p. 389-96.

- 442. Zollner, C., et al., *Topical fentanyl in a randomized, double-blind study in patients with corneal damage.* Clin J Pain, 2008. **24**(8): p. 690-6.
- 443. Knyazer, B., et al., *Prognostic factors in posterior open globe injuries (zone-III injuries)*. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2008. **36**(9): p. 836-41.
- 444. Smith, A.R., S.B. O'Hagan, and G.A. Gole, *Epidemiology of open- and closed-globe trauma presenting to Cairns Base Hospital, Queensland.* Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2006. **34**(3): p. 252-9.
- 445. Dannenberg, A.L., et al., *Penetration eye injuries in the workplace. The National Eye Trauma System Registry.* Arch Ophthalmol, 1992. **110**(6): p. 843-8.
- 446. Parver, L.M., et al., *Characteristics and causes of penetrating eye injuries reported to the National Eye Trauma System Registry, 1985-91.* Public Health Rep, 1993. **108**(5): p. 625-32.
- 447. Thakker, M.M. and S. Ray, *Vision-limiting complications in open-globe injuries.* Can J Ophthalmol, 2006. **41**(1): p. 86-92.
- 448. Casson, R.J., J.C. Walker, and H.S. Newland, *Four-year review of open eye injuries at the Royal Adelaide Hospital.* Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2002. **30**(1): p. 15-8.
- 449. Samarawickrama, C., S. Chew, and S. Watson, *Retinoic acid and the ocular surface*. Surv Ophthalmol, 2015. **60**(3): p. 183-95.
- 450. Leibowitz, H.M., *Hydrophilic contact lenses in corneal disease. IV. Penetrating corneal wounds.* Arch Ophthalmol, 1972. **88**(6): p. 602-6.
- 451. Zheng, B., et al., *Clinical evaluation of rigid gas permeable contact lenses and visual outcome after repaired corneal laceration.* Eye Contact Lens, 2015. **41**(1): p. 34-9.
- 452. Vora, G.K., R. Haddadin, and J. Chodosh, *Management of corneal lacerations and perforations*. Int Ophthalmol Clin, 2013. **53**(4): p. 1-10.
- 453. Zagelbaum, B.M., Treating corneal abrasions and lacerations. Phys Sportsmed, 1997. 25(3): p. 38-44.
- 454. Ho, V.H., et al., *Retained intraorbital metallic foreign bodies*. Ophthal Plast Reconstr Surg, 2004. **20**(3): p. 232-6.
- 455. Fulcher, T.P., A.A. McNab, and T.J. Sullivan, *Clinical features and management of intraorbital foreign bodies.* Ophthalmology, 2002. **109**(3): p. 494-500.
- 456. Coleman, D.J., et al., Management of intraocular foreign bodies. Ophthalmology, 1987. 94(12): p. 1647-53.
- 457. Yeh, S., M.H. Colyer, and E.D. Weichel, *Current trends in the management of intraocular foreign bodies.* Curr Opin Ophthalmol, 2008. **19**(3): p. 225-33.
- 458. Chaudhry, I.A., et al., *Incidence and visual outcome of endophthalmitis associated with intraocular foreign bodies.* Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2008. **246**(2): p. 181-6.
- 459. Malla, G., et al., Penetrating orbit injury: challenge to emergency medicine. BMC Res Notes, 2013. 6: p. 493.
- 460. Choovuthayakorn, J., et al., *Predictive factors and outcomes of posterior segment intraocular foreign bodies.* Eye (Lond), 2011. **25**(12): p. 1622-6.
- 461. Liu, S., et al., *Comparison of standard automated perimetry, frequency-doubling technology perimetry, and short-wavelength automated perimetry for detection of glaucoma*. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2011. **52**(10): p. 7325-31.
- 462. Bai, H.Q., et al., *Visual outcome following intraocular foreign bodies: a retrospective review of 5-year clinical experience.* Eur J Ophthalmol, 2011. **21**(1): p. 98-103.
- 463. Soheilian, M., et al., *Surgical management of non-metallic and non-magnetic metallic intraocular foreign bodies*. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging, 2005. **36**(3): p. 189-96.
- 464. Mester, V. and F. Kuhn, *Intraocular foreign bodies*. Ophthalmol Clin North Am, 2002. **15**(2): p. 235-42.
- 465. Chow, D.R., et al., *External versus internal approach to the removal of metallic intraocular foreign bodies.* Retina, 2000. **20**(4): p. 364-9.
- 466. Callahan, A.B. and M.K. Yoon, *Intraorbital foreign bodies: retrospective chart review and review of literature.* Int Ophthalmol Clin, 2013. **53**(4): p. 157-65.
- 467. Parke, D.W., 3rd, H.W. Flynn, Jr., and Y.L. Fisher, *Management of intraocular foreign bodies: a clinical flight plan.* Can J Ophthalmol, 2013. **48**(1): p. 8-12.
- 468. Rahman, I., et al., *Open globe injuries: factors predictive of poor outcome*. Eye (Lond), 2006. **20**(12): p. 1336-41.
- 469. Khaw, P.T., P. Shah, and A.R. Elkington, *Injury to the eye*. Bmj, 2004. **328**(7430): p. 36-8.
- 470. Larian, B., et al., Facial trauma and ocular/orbital injury. J Craniomaxillofac Trauma, 1999. 5(4): p. 15-24.
- 471. Joos, E., et al., *Ocular trauma at a level I trauma center: the burden of penetrating injuries*. Am Surg, 2014. **80**(2): p. 207-9.
- 472. Liggett, P.E., et al., *Ocular trauma in an urban population. Review of 1132 cases.* Ophthalmology, 1990. **97**(5): p. 581-4.

- 473. Sun, M.T., et al., *Orbital blowout fracture location in Japanese and Chinese patients*. Jpn J Ophthalmol, 2015. **59**(1): p. 65-9.
- 474. Joseph, E., et al., *Predictors of blinding or serious eye injury in blunt trauma*. J Trauma, 1992. **33**(1): p. 19-24.
- 475. Gharaibeh, A., et al., *Medical interventions for traumatic hyphema*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2013. **12**: p. CD005431.
- 476. Canavan, Y.M. and D.B. Archer, *Anterior segment consequences of blunt ocular injury*. Br J Ophthalmol, 1982. **66**(9): p. 549-55.
- 477. Wilson, F.M., Traumatic hyphema. Pathogenesis and management. Ophthalmology, 1980. 87(9): p. 910-9.
- 478. Shammas, H.F. and C.S. Matta, *Outcome of traumatic hyphema*. Ann Ophthalmol, 1975. **7**(5): p. 701-6.
- 479. Brodrick, J.D., Corneal blood staining after hyphaema. Br J Ophthalmol, 1972. 56(8): p. 589-93.
- 480. Pilger, I.S., Medical treatment of traumatic hyphema. Surv Ophthalmol, 1975. 20(1): p. 28-34.
- 481. Edwards, W.C. and W.E. Layden, *Traumatic hyphema. A report of 184 consecutive cases.* Am J Ophthalmol, 1973. **75**(1): p. 110-6.
- 482. Crouch, E.R., Jr., Traumatic hyphema. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus, 1986. 23(2): p. 95-7.
- 483. Gharaibeh, A., et al., *Medical interventions for traumatic hyphema*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2011(1): p. CD005431.
- 484. Cai, E.Z., et al., *Computer-assisted navigational surgery improves outcomes in orbital reconstructive surgery*. J Craniofac Surg, 2012. **23**(5): p. 1567-73.
- 485. Bly, R.A., et al., *Computer-guided orbital reconstruction to improve outcomes*. JAMA Facial Plast Surg, 2013. **15**(2): p. 113-20.
- 486. Kozakiewicz, M. and P. Szymor, *Comparison of pre-bent titanium mesh versus polyethylene implants in patient specific orbital reconstructions*. Head Face Med, 2013. **9**: p. 32.
- 487. Qian, Z. and X. Fan, *The application and progress of high-density porous polyethylene in the repair of orbital wall defect.* J Craniofac Surg, 2014. **25**(4): p. 1451-3.
- 488. Kim, K., et al., Endoscopic transnasal approach for the treatment of isolated medial orbital blow-out fractures: a prospective study of preoperative and postoperative orbital volume change. Ann Plast Surg, 2012. **68**(2): p. 161-5.
- 489. Bayat, M., et al., *Comparison of conchal cartilage graft with nasal septal cartilage graft for reconstruction of orbital floor blowout fractures.* Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg, 2010. **48**(8): p. 617-20.
- 490. Becker, S.T., et al., *Comparison of collagen membranes and polydioxanone for reconstruction of the orbital floor after fractures.* J Craniofac Surg, 2010. **21**(4): p. 1066-8.
- 491. Han, D., et al., A multicenter randomized double-blind 2-week comparison study of azelastine nasal spray 0.1% versus levocabastine nasal spray 0.05% in patients with moderate-to-severe allergic rhinitis. ORL J Otorhinolaryngol Relat Spec, 2011. **73**(5): p. 260-5.
- 492. Kruschewsky Lde, S., et al., *Fractured orbital wall reconstruction with an auricular cartilage graft or absorbable polyacid copolymer.* J Craniofac Surg, 2011. **22**(4): p. 1256-9.
- 493. Crouch, E.R., Jr., et al., *Topical aminocaproic acid in the treatment of traumatic hyphema*. Arch Ophthalmol, 1997. **115**(9): p. 1106-12.
- 494. Crouch, E.R., Jr. and M. Frenkel, *Aminocaproic acid in the treatment of traumatic hyphema*. Am J Ophthalmol, 1976. **81**(3): p. 355-60.
- 495. McGetrick, J.J., et al., *Aminocaproic acid decreases secondary hemorrhage after traumatic hyphema*. Arch Ophthalmol, 1983. **101**(7): p. 1031-3.
- 496. Kutner, B., et al., *Aminocaproic acid reduces the risk of secondary hemorrhage in patients with traumatic hyphema*. Arch Ophthalmol, 1987. **105**(2): p. 206-8.
- 497. Pieramici, D.J., et al., *A phase III, multicenter, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial of topical aminocaproic acid (Caprogel) in the management of traumatic hyphema*. Ophthalmology, 2003. **110**(11): p. 2106-12.
- 498. Farber, M.D., R. Fiscella, and M.F. Goldberg, *Aminocaproic acid versus prednisone for the treatment of traumatic hyphema. A randomized clinical trial.* Ophthalmology, 1991. **98**(3): p. 279-86.
- 499. Spoor, T.C., M. Hammer, and H. Belloso, *Traumatic hyphema. Failure of steroids to alter its course: a doubleblind prospective study.* Arch Ophthalmol, 1980. **98**(1): p. 116-9.
- 500. Rahmani, B. and H.R. Jahadi, *Comparison of tranexamic acid and prednisolone in the treatment of traumatic hyphema. A randomized clinical trial.* Ophthalmology, 1999. **106**(2): p. 375-9.
- 501. Horven, I., *Acute conjunctivitis. A comparison of fusidic acid viscous eye drops and chloramphenicol.* Acta Ophthalmol (Copenh), 1993. **71**(2): p. 165-8.
- 502. Stenson, S., R. Newman, and H. Fedukowicz, *Laboratory studies in acute conjunctivitis*. Arch Ophthalmol, 1982. **100**(8): p. 1275-7.

- 503. Ronnerstam, R., et al., *Prevalence of chlamydial eye infection in patients attending an eye clinic, a VD clinic, and in healthy persons.* Br J Ophthalmol, 1985. **69**(5): p. 385-8.
- 504. Harding, S.P., et al., Adult follicular conjunctivitis and neonatal ophthalmia in a Liverpool eye hospital, 1980-1984. Eye (Lond), 1987. **1 (Pt 4)**: p. 512-21.
- 505. Uchio, E., et al., *Clinical and epidemiological features of acute follicular conjunctivitis with special reference to that caused by herpes simplex virus type 1.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2000. **84**(9): p. 968-72.
- 506. Woodland, R.M., et al., *Causes of conjunctivitis and keratoconjunctivitis in Karachi, Pakistan.* Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 1992. **86**(3): p. 317-20.
- 507. Fitch, C.P., et al., *Epidemiology and diagnosis of acute conjunctivitis at an inner-city hospital*. Ophthalmology, 1989. **96**(8): p. 1215-20.
- 508. Hovding, G., Acute bacterial conjunctivitis. Acta Ophthalmol, 2008. **86**(1): p. 5-17.
- 509. Kaufman, H.E., *Adenovirus advances: new diagnostic and therapeutic options*. Curr Opin Ophthalmol, 2011. **22**(4): p. 290-3.
- 510. Azar, M.J., et al., *Possible consequences of shaking hands with your patients with epidemic keratoconjunctivitis.* Am J Ophthalmol, 1996. **121**(6): p. 711-2.
- 511. Warren, D., et al., *A large outbreak of epidemic keratoconjunctivitis: problems in controlling nosocomial spread*. J Infect Dis, 1989. **160**(6): p. 938-43.
- 512. Azari, A.A. and N.P. Barney, *Conjunctivitis: a systematic review of diagnosis and treatment*. JAMA, 2013. **310**(16): p. 1721-9.
- 513. Puri, L.R., et al., *Ocular manifestations in herpes zoster ophthalmicus*. Nepal J Ophthalmol, 2011. **3**(2): p. 165-71.
- 514. Sy, A., et al., *Practice patterns and opinions in the management of recurrent or chronic herpes zoster ophthalmicus*. Cornea, 2012. **31**(7): p. 786-90.
- 515. American Academy of Ophthalmology. *Preferred Practice Pattern Guidelines. Conjunctivitis.* 2013; Available from: <u>www.aao.org/ppp</u>.
- 516. Wilhelmus, K.R., *Diagnosis and management of herpes simplex stromal keratitis*. Cornea, 1987. **6**(4): p. 286-91.
- 517. Mahdy, R.A., et al., *A freeze-dried (lyophilized) amniotic membrane transplantation with mitomycin C and trabeculectomy for pediatric glaucoma*. Cutan Ocul Toxicol, 2010. **29**(3): p. 164-70.
- 518. Cheung, N., P. Nagra, and K. Hammersmith, *Emerging trends in contact lens-related infections*. Curr Opin Ophthalmol, 2016. **27**(4): p. 327-32.
- 519. Lam, D.S., et al., *Incidence and risk factors for microbial keratitis in Hong Kong: comparison with Europe and North America.* Eye (Lond), 2002. **16**(5): p. 608-18.
- 520. Bourcier, T., et al., *Bacterial keratitis: predisposing factors, clinical and microbiological review of 300 cases.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2003. **87**(7): p. 834-8.
- 521. Udeh, B.L., J.E. Schneider, and R.L. Ohsfeldt, *Cost effectiveness of a point-of-care test for adenoviral conjunctivitis.* Am J Med Sci, 2008. **336**(3): p. 254-64.
- 522. Seal, D.V., et al., *Population-based cohort study of microbial keratitis in Scotland: incidence and features.* Cont Lens Anterior Eye, 1999. **22**(2): p. 49-57.
- 523. O'Brien, T.P., et al., *Acute conjunctivitis: truth and misconceptions*. Curr Med Res Opin, 2009. **25**(8): p. 1953-61.
- 524. Morrow, G.L. and R.L. Abbott, *Conjunctivitis*. Am Fam Physician, 1998. 57(4): p. 735-46.
- 525. Rietveld, R.P., et al., *Diagnostic impact of signs and symptoms in acute infectious conjunctivitis: systematic literature search.* BMJ, 2003. **327**(7418): p. 789.
- 526. Yannof J and Duker JS, *Disorders of the conjunctiva and limbus*, in *Ophthalmology*, 2nd ed Mosby, Editor. 2004: Spain. p. 397–412.
- 527. Alfonso, S.A., J.D. Fawley, and X. Alexa Lu, Conjunctivitis. Prim Care, 2015. 42(3): p. 325-45.
- 528. Narayana, S. and S. McGee, *Bedside Diagnosis of the 'Red Eye': A Systematic Review*. Am J Med, 2015. **128**(11): p. 1220-1224 e1.
- 529. Rietveld, R.P., et al., *Predicting bacterial cause in infectious conjunctivitis: cohort study on informativeness of combinations of signs and symptoms.* BMJ, 2004. **329**(7459): p. 206-10.
- 530. Tarabishy, A.B. and B.H. Jeng, *Bacterial conjunctivitis: a review for internists.* Cleve Clin J Med, 2008. **75**(7): p. 507-12.
- 531. Sambursky, R., et al., *The RPS adeno detector for diagnosing adenoviral conjunctivitis.* Ophthalmology, 2006. **113**(10): p. 1758-64.
- 532. Lalitha, P., et al., Organism, minimum inhibitory concentration, and outcome in a fungal corneal ulcer clinical trial. Cornea, 2012. **31**(6): p. 662-7.

- 533. Lalitha, P., et al., *Relationship of in vitro susceptibility to moxifloxacin and in vivo clinical outcome in bacterial keratitis*. Clin Infect Dis, 2012. **54**(10): p. 1381-7.
- 534. Everitt, H.A., P.S. Little, and P.W. Smith, *A randomised controlled trial of management strategies for acute infective conjunctivitis in general practice*. Bmj, 2006. **333**(7563): p. 321.
- 535. Mascarenhas, J., et al., *Differentiation of etiologic agents of bacterial keratitis from presentation characteristics*. Int Ophthalmol, 2012. **32**(6): p. 531-8.
- 536. Epling, J. and J. Smucny, *Bacterial conjunctivitis*. Clin Evid, 2005(14): p. 756-61.
- 537. Karpecki, P., et al., *Besifloxacin ophthalmic suspension 0.6% in patients with bacterial conjunctivitis: A multicenter, prospective, randomized, double-masked, vehicle-controlled, 5-day efficacy and safety study.* Clin Ther, 2009. **31**(3): p. 514-26.
- 538. Silverstein, B.E., et al., *Efficacy and tolerability of besifloxacin ophthalmic suspension 0.6% administered twice daily for 3 days in the treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis: a multicenter, randomized, double-masked, vehicle-controlled, parallel-group study in adults and children.* Clin Ther, 2011. **33**(1): p. 13-26.
- 539. Abelson, M.B. and P.J. Gomes, *Olopatadine 0.2% ophthalmic solution: the first ophthalmic antiallergy agent with once-daily dosing.* Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol, 2008. **4**(4): p. 453-61.
- 540. Hwang, D.G., et al., *A phase III, placebo controlled clinical trial of 0.5% levofloxacin ophthalmic solution for the treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2003. **87**(8): p. 1004-9.
- 541. Rietveld, R.P., et al., *The treatment of acute infectious conjunctivitis with fusidic acid: a randomised controlled trial.* Br J Gen Pract, 2005. **55**(521): p. 924-30.
- 542. Prajna, N.V., et al., Predictors of outcome in fungal keratitis. Eye (Lond), 2012. 26(9): p. 1226-31.
- 543. FlorCruz, N.V. and J.R. Evans, *Medical interventions for fungal keratitis*. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2015(4): p. CD004241.
- 544. Srinivasan, M., et al., *The steroids for corneal ulcers trial (SCUT): secondary 12-month clinical outcomes of a randomized controlled trial.* Am J Ophthalmol, 2014. **157**(2): p. 327-333 e3.
- 545. C., P., M. N., and A. B., *Ofloxacin monotherapy for the primary treatment of microbial keratitis: a doublemasked, randomized, controlled trial with conventional dual therapy. The Ofloxacin Study Group.* Ophthalmology, 1997. **104**(11): p. 1902-9.
- 546. N., K., T. P., and U. Reinprayoon, *The efficacy and safety of 0.5% Levofloxacin versus fortified Cefazolin and Amikacin ophthalmic solution for the treatment of suspected and culture-proven cases of infectious bacterial keratitis: a comparative study.* Asian Biomedicine, 2011. **5**(1): p. 7.
- 547. Booranapong, W., et al., *Comparison of topical lomefloxacin 0.3 per cent versus topical ciprofloxacin 0.3 per cent for the treatment of presumed bacterial corneal ulcers.* J Med Assoc Thai, 2004. **87**(3): p. 246-54.
- 548. Parmar, P., et al., *Comparison of topical gatifloxacin 0.3% and ciprofloxacin 0.3% for the treatment of bacterial keratitis.* Am J Ophthalmol, 2006. **141**(2): p. 282-286.
- 549. Constantinou, M., et al., *Clinical efficacy of moxifloxacin in the treatment of bacterial keratitis: a randomized clinical trial.* Ophthalmology, 2007. **114**(9): p. 1622-9.
- 550. Prajna, N.V., et al., *Bacteriologic and clinical efficacy of ofloxacin 0.3% versus ciprofloxacin 0.3% ophthalmic solutions in the treatment of patients with culture-positive bacterial keratitis.* Cornea, 2001. **20**(2): p. 175-8.
- 551. Khokhar, S., N. Sindhu, and B.R. Mirdha, *Comparison of topical 0.3% ofloxacin to fortified tobramycin-cefazolin in the therapy of bacterial keratitis.* Infection, 2000. **28**(3): p. 149-52.
- 552. Protzko, E., et al., *Phase 3 safety comparisons for 1.0% azithromycin in polymeric mucoadhesive eye drops versus 0.3% tobramycin eye drops for bacterial conjunctivitis.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2007. **48**(8): p. 3425-9.
- 553. Abelson, M.B., et al., *Clinical cure of bacterial conjunctivitis with azithromycin 1%: vehicle-controlled, doublemasked clinical trial.* Am J Ophthalmol, 2008. **145**(6): p. 959-65.
- 554. Denis, F., et al., *Microbiological efficacy of 3-day treatment with azithromycin 1.5% eye-drops for purulent bacterial conjunctivitis*. Eur J Ophthalmol, 2008. **18**(6): p. 858-68.
- 555. McDonald, M.B., et al., *Efficacy and safety of besifloxacin ophthalmic suspension 0.6% compared with moxifloxacin ophthalmic solution 0.5% for treating bacterial conjunctivitis.* Ophthalmology, 2009. **116**(9): p. 1615-1623 e1.
- 556. Tepedino, M.E., et al., *Phase III efficacy and safety study of besifloxacin ophthalmic suspension 0.6% in the treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis.* Curr Med Res Opin, 2009. **25**(5): p. 1159-69.
- 557. Hyndiuk, R.A., et al., *Comparison of ciprofloxacin ophthalmic solution 0.3% to fortified tobramycin-cefazolin in treating bacterial corneal ulcers. Ciprofloxacin Bacterial Keratitis Study Group.* Ophthalmology, 1996. **103**(11): p. 1854-62; discussion 1862-3.
- 558. Kosrirukvongs, P. and W. Buranapongs, *Topical ciprofloxacin for bacterial corneal ulcer*. J Med Assoc Thai, 2000. **83**(7): p. 776-82.

- 559. Weyenberg, W., et al., *Ocular bioerodible minitablets as strategy for the management of microbial keratitis.* Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 2004. **45**(9): p. 3229-33.
- 560. Shah, V.M., et al., *Randomized clinical study for comparative evaluation of fourth-generation fluoroquinolones* with the combination of fortified antibiotics in the treatment of bacterial corneal ulcers. Cornea, 2010. **29**(7): p. 751-7.
- 561. Blair, J., et al., *Comparison of antibiotic-only and antibiotic-steroid combination treatment in corneal ulcer patients: double-blinded randomized clinical trial.* Can J Ophthalmol, 2011. **46**(1): p. 40-5.
- 562. Price, M.O., F.W. Price, Jr., and D. Maclellan, *Effect of gatifloxacin 0.3% and moxifloxacin 0.5% ophthalmic solutions on human corneal epithelium following 2 dosing regimens*. J Cataract Refract Surg, 2005. **31**(11): p. 2137-41.
- 563. Yee, R.W., et al., A randomized, investigator- masked clinical trial comparing the efficacy and safety of gatifloxacin 0.3% administered BID versus QID for the treatment BID versus QID for the treatment of acute bacterial conjunctivitis of acute bacterial conjunctivitis. Curr Med Res Opin, 2005. **21**(3): p. 425-31.
- 564. Schwab, I.R., et al., A phase III clinical trial of 0.5% levofloxacin ophthalmic solution versus 0.3% ofloxacin ophthalmic solution for the treatment of bacterial conjunctivitis. Ophthalmology, 2003. **110**(3): p. 457-65.
- 565. Erjongmanee, S., et al., *Clinical evaluation of ophthalmic lomefloxacin 0.3% in comparison with fortified cefazolin and gentamicin ophthalmic solutions in the treatment of presumed bacterial keratitis.* J Med Assoc Thai, 2004. **87 Suppl 2**: p. S83-90.
- 566. Gallenga, P.E., et al., *Topical lomefloxacin 0.3% twice daily versus tobramycin 0.3% in acute bacterial conjunctivitis: A multicenter double-blind phase III study.* Ophthalmologica, 1999. **213**(4): p. 250-7.
- 567. Srinivasan, M., et al., *The steroids for corneal ulcers trial: study design and baseline characteristics*. Arch Ophthalmol, 2012. **130**(2): p. 151-7.
- 568. Sharma, N., et al., *Comparative evaluation of topical versus intrastromal voriconazole as an adjunct to natamycin in recalcitrant fungal keratitis.* Ophthalmology, 2013. **120**(4): p. 677-81.
- 569. Tauber, S., et al., *Microbiological efficacy of a new ophthalmic formulation of moxifloxacin dosed twice-daily for bacterial conjunctivitis.* Adv Ther, 2011. **28**(7): p. 566-74.
- 570. O'Brien, T.P., et al., *Efficacy of ofloxacin vs cefazolin and tobramycin in the therapy for bacterial keratitis. Report from the Bacterial Keratitis Study Research Group.* Arch Ophthalmol, 1995. **113**(10): p. 1257-65.
- 571. Panda, A., R. Ahuja, and S.S. Sastry, *Comparison of topical 0.3% ofloxacin with fortified tobramycin plus cefazolin in the treatment of bacterial keratitis*. Eye (Lond), 1999. **13 (Pt 6)**: p. 744-7.
- 572. Sharma, N., et al., *Evaluation of moxifloxacin 0.5% in treatment of nonperforated bacterial corneal ulcers: a randomized controlled trial.* Ophthalmology, 2013. **120**(6): p. 1173-8.
- 573. See, C.W., et al., *Prior elicitation and Bayesian analysis of the Steroids for Corneal Ulcers Trial*. Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 2012. **19**(6): p. 407-13.
- 574. Srinivasan, M., et al., *Corticosteroids for bacterial corneal ulcers*. Br J Ophthalmol, 2009. **93**(2): p. 198-202.
- 575. Srinivasan, M., et al., *Corticosteroids for bacterial keratitis: the Steroids for Corneal Ulcers Trial (SCUT).* Arch Ophthalmol, 2012. **130**(2): p. 143-50.
- 576. Lalitha, P., et al., *Nocardia keratitis: clinical course and effect of corticosteroids*. Am J Ophthalmol, 2012. **154**(6): p. 934-939 e1.
- 577. Lyra, A.F., et al., Artificial tears alone versus 0.45% ketorolac tromethamine with artificial tears for the treatment of acute viral conjunctivitis. Arq Bras Oftalmol, 2014. **77**(2): p. 99-102.
- 578. Shiuey, Y., B.K. Ambati, and A.P. Adamis, *A randomized, double-masked trial of topical ketorolac versus artificial tears for treatment of viral conjunctivitis*. Ophthalmology, 2000. **107**(8): p. 1512-7.
- 579. Wilkins, M.R., et al., *A randomised placebo-controlled trial of topical steroid in presumed viral conjunctivitis.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2011. **95**(9): p. 1299-303.
- 580. Rahman, M.R., et al., *Trial of chlorhexidine gluconate for fungal corneal ulcers*. Ophthalmic Epidemiol, 1997.
 4(3): p. 141-9.
- 581. Mahdy, R.A., W.M. Nada, and M.M. Wageh, *Topical amphotericin B and subconjunctival injection of fluconazole (combination therapy) versus topical amphotericin B (monotherapy) in treatment of keratomycosis.* J Ocul Pharmacol Ther, 2010. **26**(3): p. 281-5.
- 582. Prajna, N.V., et al., *A randomised clinical trial comparing 2% econazole and 5% natamycin for the treatment of fungal keratitis.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2003. **87**(10): p. 1235-7.
- 583. Arora, R., et al., *Voriconazole versus natamycin as primary treatment in fungal corneal ulcers*. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2011. **39**(5): p. 434-40.
- 584. Prajna, N.V., et al., *Comparison of natamycin and voriconazole for the treatment of fungal keratitis*. Arch Ophthalmol, 2010. **128**(6): p. 672-8.
- 585. Mahdy, R.A., et al., Assessment safety and efficacy of a combination therapy of topical amphotericin B and subconjunctival fluconazole for the treatment of fungal keratitis. Cutan Ocul Toxicol, 2010. **29**(3): p. 193-7.

- 586. Prajna, V.N., et al., *Natamycin and voriconazole in Fusarium and Aspergillus keratitis: subgroup analysis of a randomised controlled trial.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2012. **96**(11): p. 1440-1.
- 587. Aboshiha, J., A case of recalcitrant bacterial conjunctivitis. Practitioner, 2013. 257(1766): p. 25-8, 3.
- 588. Lindsley, K., et al., Interventions for chronic blepharitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2012(5): p. CD005556.
- 589. Korb, D.R., et al., *Effect of using a combination of lid wipes, eye drops, and omega-3 supplements on meibomian gland functionality in patients with lipid deficient/evaporative dry eye.* Cornea, 2015. **34**(4): p. 407-
- 12.
- 590. Finis, D., et al., *Evaluation of an automated thermodynamic treatment (LipiFlow(R)) system for meibomian gland dysfunction: a prospective, randomized, observer-masked trial.* Ocul Surf, 2014. **12**(2): p. 146-54.
- 591. Bielory, L. and M.H. Friedlaender, *Allergic conjunctivitis*. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am, 2008. **28**(1): p. 43-58, vi.
- 592. La Rosa, M., et al., *Allergic conjunctivitis: a comprehensive review of the literature.* Ital J Pediatr, 2013. **39**: p. 18.
- 593. O'Brien, T.P., *Allergic conjunctivitis: an update on diagnosis and management*. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol, 2013. **13**(5): p. 543-9.
- 594. Schmitz, R., K. Atzpodien, and M. Schlaud, *Prevalence and risk factors of atopic diseases in German children and adolescents.* Pediatr Allergy Immunol, 2012. **23**(8): p. 716-23.
- 595. Parsons, M.A., J. Beach, and A. Senthilselvan, *Association of living in a farming environment with asthma incidence in Canadian children*. J Asthma, 2016: p. 0.
- 596. Timm, S., et al., *The Urban-Rural Gradient In Asthma: A Population-Based Study in Northern Europe*. Int J Environ Res Public Health, 2016. **13**(1).
- 597. Schuijs, M.J., et al., *Farm dust and endotoxin protect against allergy through A20 induction in lung epithelial cells*. Science, 2015. **349**(6252): p. 1106-10.
- 598. Ege, M.J., et al., *Exposure to environmental microorganisms and childhood asthma*. N Engl J Med, 2011. **364**(8): p. 701-9.
- 599. Johnson, C.C. and D.R. Ownby, *The infant gut bacterial microbiota and risk of pediatric asthma and allergic diseases*. Transl Res, 2016.
- 600. Lowry, C.A., et al., *The Microbiota, Immunoregulation, and Mental Health: Implications for Public Health.* Curr Environ Health Rep, 2016. **3**(3): p. 270-86.
- 601. Hua, X., et al., Allergy associations with the adult fecal microbiota: Analysis of the American Gut Project. EBioMedicine, 2016. **3**: p. 172-9.
- 602. West, C.E., et al., *Probiotics for treatment and primary prevention of allergic diseases and asthma: looking back and moving forward.* Expert Rev Clin Immunol, 2016. **12**(6): p. 625-39.
- 603. McCoy, K.D. and Y. Koller, *New developments providing mechanistic insight into the impact of the microbiota on allergic disease*. Clin Immunol, 2015. **159**(2): p. 170-6.
- 604. Sanchez-Hernandez, M.C., et al., *Consensus document on allergic conjunctivitis (DECA)*. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol, 2015. **25**(2): p. 94-106.
- 605. Johansson, S.G., et al., *Revised nomenclature for allergy for global use: Report of the Nomenclature Review Committee of the World Allergy Organization, October 2003.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2004. **113**(5): p. 832-6.
- 606. de Groene, G., et al., *Workplace interventions for treatment of occupational asthma: a Cochrane systematic review*. Occup Environ Med, 2012. **69**(5): p. 373-4.
- 607. Nicholson, P.J., et al., *Evidence based guidelines for the prevention, identification, and management of occupational asthma*. Occup Environ Med, 2005. **62**(5): p. 290-9.
- 608. Tarlo, S.M., et al., *Diagnosis and management of work-related asthma: American College Of Chest Physicians Consensus Statement*. Chest, 2008. **134**(3 Suppl): p. 1S-41S.
- 609. Torkildsen, G.L., et al., *Bepotastine besilate ophthalmic solution for the relief of nonocular symptoms provoked by conjunctival allergen challenge.* Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol, 2010. **105**(1): p. 57-64.
- 610. Meier, E.J., et al., Integrated phase III trials of bepotastine besilate ophthalmic solution 1.5% for ocular itching associated with allergic conjunctivitis. Allergy Asthma Proc, 2012. **33**(3): p. 265-74.
- 611. Abelson, M.B., et al., *Time to onset and duration of action of the antihistamine bepotastine besilate* ophthalmic solutions 1.0% and 1.5% in allergic conjunctivitis: a phase III, single-center, prospective, randomized, double-masked, placebo-controlled, conjunctival allergen challenge assessment in adults and children. Clin Ther, 2009. **31**(9): p. 1908-21.
- 612. Macejko, T.T., et al., *Multicenter clinical evaluation of bepotastine besilate ophthalmic solutions 1.0% and 1.5% to treat allergic conjunctivitis.* Am J Ophthalmol, 2010. **150**(1): p. 122-127 e5.
- 613. Williams, J.I., et al., Prolonged effectiveness of bepotastine besilate ophthalmic solution for the treatment of ocular symptoms of allergic conjunctivitis. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther, 2011. **27**(4): p. 385-93.

- 614. Greiner, J.V., K. Edwards-Swanson, and A. Ingerman, *Evaluation of alcaftadine 0.25% ophthalmic solution in acute allergic conjunctivitis at 15 minutes and 16 hours after instillation versus placebo and olopatadine 0.1%*. Clin Ophthalmol, 2011. **5**: p. 87-93.
- 615. Torkildsen, G. and A. Shedden, *The safety and efficacy of alcaftadine 0.25% ophthalmic solution for the prevention of itching associated with allergic conjunctivitis.* Curr Med Res Opin, 2011. **27**(3): p. 623-31.
- 616. Torkildsen, G.L., G.W. Ousler, 3rd, and P. Gomes, *Ocular comfort and drying effects of three topical antihistamine/mast cell stabilizers in adults with allergic conjunctivitis: a randomized, double-masked crossover study.* Clin Ther, 2008. **30**(7): p. 1264-71.
- 617. Abelson, M.B., et al., *Efficacy and tolerability of ophthalmic epinastine assessed using the conjunctival antigen challenge model in patients with a history of allergic conjunctivitis.* Clin Ther, 2004. **26**(1): p. 35-47.
- 618. Whitcup, S.M., et al., *Efficacy and tolerability of ophthalmic epinastine: a randomized, double-masked, parallel-group, active- and vehicle-controlled environmental trial in patients with seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Clin Ther, 2004. **26**(1): p. 29-34.
- 619. Mah, F.S., et al., *Efficacy and comfort of olopatadine 0.2% versus epinastine 0.05% ophthalmic solution for treating itching and redness induced by conjunctival allergen challenge*. Curr Med Res Opin, 2007. **23**(6): p. 1445-52.
- 620. Ousler, G.W., 3rd, D.A. Workman, and G.L. Torkildsen, *An open-label, investigator-masked, crossover study of the ocular drying effects of two antihistamines, topical epinastine and systemic loratadine, in adult volunteers with seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Clin Ther, 2007. **29**(4): p. 611-6.
- 621. Borazan, M., et al., *Efficacy of olopatadine HCI 0.1%, ketotifen fumarate 0.025%, epinastine HCI 0.05%, emedastine 0.05% and fluorometholone acetate 0.1% ophthalmic solutions for seasonal allergic conjunctivitis: a placebo-controlled environmental trial.* Acta Ophthalmol, 2009. **87**(5): p. 549-54.
- 622. Horak, F., et al., Onset and duration of action of ketotifen 0.025% and emedastine 0.05% in seasonal allergic conjunctivitis : efficacy after repeated pollen challenges in the vienna challenge chamber. Clin Drug Investig, 2003. 23(5): p. 329-37.
- 623. Verin, P., et al., *Clinical evaluation of twice-daily emedastine 0.05% eye drops (Emadine eye drops) versus levocabastine 0.05% eye drops in patients with allergic conjunctivitis.* Am J Ophthalmol, 2001. **131**(6): p. 691-8.
- 624. Secchi, A., et al., An efficacy and tolerance comparison of emedastine difumarate 0.05% and levocabastine hydrochloride 0.05%: reducing chemosis and eyelid swelling in subjects with seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. Emadine Study Group. Acta Ophthalmol Scand Suppl, 2000(230): p. 48-51.
- 625. Orfeo, V., et al., *Comparison of emedastine 0.05% or nedocromil sodium 2% eye drops and placebo in controlling local reactions in subjects with allergic conjunctivitis.* Eur J Ophthalmol, 2002. **12**(4): p. 262-6.
- 626. Discepola, M., J. Deschenes, and M. Abelson, *Comparison of the topical ocular antiallergic efficacy of emedastine 0.05% ophthalmic solution to ketorolac 0.5% ophthalmic solution in a clinical model of allergic conjunctivitis.* Acta Ophthalmol Scand Suppl, 1999(228): p. 43-6.
- 627. Torkildsen, G.L., M.B. Abelson, and P.J. Gomes, *Bioequivalence of two formulations of ketotifen fumarate ophthalmic solution: a single-center, randomized, double-masked conjunctival allergen challenge investigation in allergic conjunctivitis.* Clin Ther, 2008. **30**(7): p. 1272-82.
- 628. Abelson, M.B., et al., One-visit, randomized, placebo-controlled, conjunctival allergen challenge study of scanning and imaging technology for objective quantification of eyelid swelling in the allergic reaction with contralateral use of olopatadine and artificial tears. Clin Ther, 2003. **25**(7): p. 2070-84.
- 629. Greiner, J.V. and G. Minno, A placebo-controlled comparison of ketotifen fumarate and nedocromil sodium ophthalmic solutions for the prevention of ocular itching with the conjunctival allergen challenge model. Clin Ther, 2003. **25**(7): p. 1988-2005.
- 630. Kidd, M., et al., *Efficacy and safety of ketotifen eye drops in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2003. **87**(10): p. 1206-11.
- 631. Avunduk, A.M., et al., *Comparison of the effects of ketotifen fumarate 0.025% and olopatadine HCl 0.1%* ophthalmic solutions in seasonal allergic conjunctivities: a 30-day, randomized, double-masked, artificial tear substitute-controlled trial. Clin Ther, 2005. **27**(9): p. 1392-402.
- 632. Ganz, M., et al., *Ketotifen fumarate and olopatadine hydrochloride in the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis: a real-world comparison of efficacy and ocular comfort.* Adv Ther, 2003. **20**(2): p. 79-91.
- 633. Greiner, J.V., et al., *Single dose of ketotifen fumarate .025% vs 2 weeks of cromolyn sodium 4% for allergic conjunctivitis*. Adv Ther, 2002. **19**(4): p. 185-93.
- 634. Berdy, G.J., et al., A comparison of the relative efficacy and clinical performance of olopatadine hydrochloride 0.1% ophthalmic solution and ketotifen fumarate 0.025% ophthalmic solution in the conjunctival antigen challenge model. Clin Ther, 2000. **22**(7): p. 826-33.

- 635. Horak, F., et al., *Dose-dependent protection by azelastine eye drops against pollen-induced allergic conjunctivitis. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study.* Arzneimittelforschung, 1998. **48**(4): p. 379-84.
- 636. Friedlaender, M.H., et al., *Evaluation of the onset and duration of effect of azelastine eye drops (0.05%) versus* placebo in patients with allergic conjunctivitis using an allergen challenge model. Ophthalmology, 2000. **107**(12): p. 2152-7.
- 637. Sabbah, A. and M. Marzetto, *Azelastine eye drops in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis or rhinoconjunctivitis in young children*. Curr Med Res Opin, 1998. **14**(3): p. 161-70.
- 638. James, I.G., et al., *Comparison of the efficacy and tolerability of topically administered azelastine, sodium cromoglycate and placebo in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis and rhino-conjunctivitis*. Curr Med Res Opin, 2003. **19**(4): p. 313-20.
- 639. Nazarov, O., et al., *Azelastine eye drops in the treatment of perennial allergic conjunctivitis.* Arzneimittelforschung, 2003. **53**(3): p. 167-73.
- 640. Lenhard, G., et al., *Double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled study of two concentrations of azelastine eye drops in seasonal allergic conjunctivitis or rhinoconjunctivitis.* Curr Med Res Opin, 1997. **14**(1): p. 21-8.
- 641. Giede-Tuch, C., M. Westhoff, and A. Zarth, *Azelastine eye-drops in seasonal allergic conjunctivitis or rhinoconjunctivitis. A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study.* Allergy, 1998. **53**(9): p. 857-62.
- 642. Giede, C., et al., *Comparison of azelastine eye drops with levocabastine eye drops in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Curr Med Res Opin, 2000. **16**(3): p. 153-63.
- 643. Sodhi, P.K., R.M. Pandey, and S.K. Ratan, *Efficacy and safety of topical azelastine compared with topical mitomycin C in patients with allergic conjunctivitis.* Cornea, 2003. **22**(3): p. 210-3.
- 644. Mah, F.S., et al., *Evaluation of the effects of olopatadine ophthalmic solution, 0.2% on the ocular surface of patients with allergic conjunctivitis and dry eye.* Curr Med Res Opin, 2008. **24**(2): p. 441-7.
- 645. Leonardi, A. and M.B. Abelson, *Double-masked, randomized, placebo-controlled clinical study of the mast cell*stabilizing effects of treatment with olopatadine in the conjunctival allergen challenge model in humans. Clin Ther, 2003. **25**(10): p. 2539-52.
- 646. Abelson, M.B. and L. Spitalny, *Combined analysis of two studies using the conjunctival allergen challenge* model to evaluate olopatadine hydrochloride, a new ophthalmic antiallergic agent with dual activity. Am J Ophthalmol, 1998. **125**(6): p. 797-804.
- 647. Abelson, M.B., et al., *Efficacy of once-daily olopatadine 0.2% ophthalmic solution compared to twice-daily olopatadine 0.1% ophthalmic solution for the treatment of ocular itching induced by conjunctival allergen challenge*. Curr Eye Res, 2007. **32**(12): p. 1017-22.
- 648. Katelaris, C.H., et al., *A comparison of the efficacy and tolerability of olopatadine hydrochloride 0.1%* ophthalmic solution and cromolyn sodium 2% ophthalmic solution in seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. Clin Ther, 2002. **24**(10): p. 1561-75.
- 649. Ciprandi, G., D. Turner, and R.D. Gross, *Double-masked, randomized, parallel-group study comparing* olopatadine 0.1% ophthalmic solution with cromolyn sodium 2% and levocabastine 0.05% ophthalmic preparations in children with seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp, 2004. **65**(2): p. 186-99.
- 650. Butrus, S., et al., Comparison of the clinical efficacy and comfort of olopatadine hydrochloride 0.1% ophthalmic solution and nedocromil sodium 2% ophthalmic solution in the human conjunctival allergen challenge model. Clin Ther, 2000. **22**(12): p. 1462-72.
- 651. Deschenes, J., M. Discepola, and M. Abelson, *Comparative evaluation of olopatadine ophthalmic solution* (0.1%) versus ketorolac ophthalmic solution (0.5%) using the provocative antigen challenge model. Acta Ophthalmol Scand Suppl, 1999(228): p. 47-52.
- 652. Berdy, G.J., J.O. Stoppel, and A.B. Epstein, *Comparison of the clinical efficacy and tolerability of olopatadine hydrochloride 0.1% ophthalmic solution and loteprednol etabonate 0.2% ophthalmic suspension in the conjunctival allergen challenge model.* Clin Ther, 2002. **24**(6): p. 918-29.
- 653. Brodsky, M., et al., Evaluation of comfort using olopatadine hydrochloride 0.1% ophthalmic solution in the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis in contact lens wearers compared to placebo using the conjunctival allergen-challenge model. Eye Contact Lens, 2003. **29**(2): p. 113-6.
- 654. Yaylali, V., et al., *Comparative study of 0.1% olopatadine hydrochloride and 0.5% ketorolac tromethamine in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Acta Ophthalmol Scand, 2003. **81**(4): p. 378-82.
- 655. Lanier, B.Q., et al., Olopatadine ophthalmic solution adjunctive to loratadine compared with loratadine alone in patients with active seasonal allergic conjunctivitis symptoms. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol, 2001. **86**(6): p. 641-8.
- 656. Celik, T. and E.B. Turkoglu, *Comparative evaluation of olopatadine 0.01% combined fluorometholone 0.1% treatment versus olopatadine 0.01% combined ketorolac 0.4% treatment in patients with acute seasonal allergic conjunctivitis*. Curr Eye Res, 2014. **39**(1): p. 42-6.

- 657. Li, Z., et al., *Comparative evaluation of topical pranoprofen and fluorometholone in cases with chronic allergic conjunctivitis*. Cornea, 2013. **32**(5): p. 579-82.
- 658. Davies, B.H. and J. Mullins, *Topical levocabastine is more effective than sodium cromoglycate for the prophylaxis and treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Allergy, 1993. **48**(7): p. 519-24.
- 659. Verin, P., et al., *Comparison of Iodoxamide 0.1% ophthalmic solution and levocabastine 0.05% ophthalmic suspension in vernal keratoconjunctivitis*. Eur J Ophthalmol, 2001. **11**(2): p. 120-5.
- 660. Azevedo, M., et al., *Double-blind comparison of levocabastine eye drops with sodium cromoglycate and placebo in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Clin Exp Allergy, 1991. **21**(6): p. 689-94.
- 661. Hammann, C., et al., *Comparison of effects of topical levocabastine and nedocromil sodium on the early* response in a conjunctival provocation test with allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1996. **98**(6 Pt 1): p. 1045-50.
- 662. Liu, Y.L., et al., A double-masked study to compare the efficacy and safety of topical cromolyn for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis. J Formos Med Assoc, 2011. **110**(11): p. 690-4.
- 663. Nizami, R.M., *Treatment of ragweed allergic conjunctivitis with 2% cromolyn solution in unit doses.* Ann Allergy, 1981. **47**(1): p. 5-7.
- 664. Abelson, M.B., M.A. George, and L.M. Smith, *Evaluation of 0.05% levocabastine versus 4% sodium cromolyn in the allergen challenge model.* Ophthalmology, 1995. **102**(2): p. 310-6.
- 665. Leino, M., et al., Double-blind group comparative study of 2% nedocromil sodium eye drops with 2% sodium cromoglycate and placebo eye drops in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. Clin Exp Allergy, 1992.
 22(10): p. 929-32.
- 666. Fujishima, H., et al., *Comparison of efficacy of bromfenac sodium 0.1% ophthalmic solution and fluorometholone 0.02% ophthalmic suspension for the treatment of allergic conjunctivitis.* J Ocul Pharmacol Ther, 2009. **25**(3): p. 265-70.
- 667. Ciprandi, G., et al., *Non-steroidal treatment of pollen-induced conjunctivitis: comparison of different pharmacological protocols*. Allergy, 1991. **46**(5): p. 393-5.
- 668. Lindsay-Miller, A.C., *Group comparative trial of 2% sodium cromoglycate (Opticrom) with placebo in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Clin Allergy, 1979. **9**(3): p. 271-5.
- 669. Alexander, M., L.J. Rosen, and W.H. Yang, *Comparison of topical nedocromil sodium and oral terfenadine for the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Clin Ther, 1999. **21**(11): p. 1900-7.
- 670. Melamed, J., et al., *Efficacy and safety of nedocromil sodium 2% ophthalmic solution b.i.d. in the treatment of ragweed seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Allergy Asthma Proc, 2000. **21**(4): p. 235-9.
- 671. Blumenthal, M., et al., *Efficacy and safety of nedocromil sodium ophthalmic solution in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Am J Ophthalmol, 1992. **113**(1): p. 56-63.
- 672. Leino, M., et al., Double-blind group comparative study of 2% nedocromil sodium eye drops with placebo eye drops in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. Ann Allergy, 1990. **64**(4): p. 398-402.
- 673. Shulman, D.G., *Two mast cell stabilizers, pemirolast potassium 0.1% and nedocromil sodium 2%, in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis: a comparative study.* Adv Ther, 2003. **20**(1): p. 31-40.
- 674. Miglior, M., et al., *Nedocromil sodium and astemizole, alone or combined, in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. A multicentre double blind clinical trial.* Acta Ophthalmol (Copenh), 1993. **71**(1): p. 73-8.
- 675. Stockwell, A. and D.L. Eastγ, *Group comparative trial of 2% nedocromil sodium with placebo in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis*. Eur J Ophthalmol, 1994. **4**(1): p. 19-23.
- 676. Donshik, P.C., et al., *Efficacy and safety of ketorolac tromethamine 0.5% and levocabastine 0.05%: a multicenter comparison in patients with seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Adv Ther, 2000. **17**(2): p. 94-102.
- 677. Tauber, J., et al., A multicenter comparison of the ocular efficacy and safety of diclofenac 0.1% solution with that of ketorolac 0.5% solution in patients with acute seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther, 1998. **14**(2): p. 137-45.
- 678. Tinkelman, D.G., et al., *Double-masked, paired-comparison clinical study of ketorolac tromethamine 0.5%* ophthalmic solution compared with placebo eyedrops in the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. Surv Ophthalmol, 1993. **38 Suppl**: p. 133-40.
- 679. Ballas, Z., et al., *Clinical evaluation of ketorolac tromethamine 0.5% ophthalmic solution for the treatment of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* Surv Ophthalmol, 1993. **38 Suppl**: p. 141-8.
- 680. Laibovitz, R.A., et al., *Safety and efficacy of diclofenac sodium 0.1% ophthalmic solution in acute seasonal allergic conjunctivitis.* J Ocul Pharmacol Ther, 1995. **11**(3): p. 361-8.
- 681. Dell, S.J., et al., A randomized, double-masked, placebo-controlled parallel study of 0.2% loteprednol etabonate in patients with seasonal allergic conjunctivitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1998. **102**(2): p. 251-5.
- 682. Kalpaxis, J.G. and T.O. Thayer, *Double-blind trial of pentigetide ophthalmic solution*, 0.5%, compared with cromolyn sodium, 4%, ophthalmic solution for allergic conjunctivitis. Ann Allergy, 1991. **66**(5): p. 393-8.
- 683. Duzman, E., A. Warman, and R. Warman, *Efficacy and safety of topical oxymetazoline in treating allergic and environmental conjunctivitis.* Ann Ophthalmol, 1986. **18**(1): p. 28-31.

- 684. Persi, L., et al., *Efficacy of mequitazine in comparison with placebo assessed by ocular challenge with allergen in allergic conjunctivitis.* Allergy, 1997. **52**(4): p. 451-4.
- 685. Torkildsen, G.L., et al., *Evaluation of desloratadine on conjunctival allergen challenge-induced ocular symptoms*. Clin Exp Allergy, 2009. **39**(7): p. 1052-9.
- 686. Daniell, M., et al., *Randomised controlled trial of topical ciclosporin A in steroid dependent allergic conjunctivitis.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2006. **90**(4): p. 461-4.
- 687. Abelson, M.B., et al., *Clinical efficacy of olopatadine hydrochloride ophthalmic solution 0.2% compared with placebo in patients with allergic conjunctivitis or rhinoconjunctivitis: a randomized, double-masked environmental study.* Clin Ther, 2004. **26**(8): p. 1237-48.
- 688. Abelson, M.B. and D. Turner, *A randomized, double-blind, parallel-group comparison of olopatadine 0.1%* ophthalmic solution versus placebo for controlling the signs and symptoms of seasonal allergic conjunctivitis and rhinoconjunctivitis. Clin Ther, 2003. **25**(3): p. 931-47.
- 689. Leonardi, A., et al., *Ocular allergy: recognizing and diagnosing hypersensitivity disorders of the ocular surface.* Allergy, 2012. **67**(11): p. 1327-37.
- 690. Morgan, S.J., *Chemical burns of the eye: causes and management*. Br J Ophthalmol, 1987. **71**(11): p. 854-7.
- 691. Pfister, R.R. and J. Koski, Alkali burns of the eye: pathophysiology and treatment. South Med J, 1982. **75**(4): p. 417-22.
- 692. Brodovsky, S.C., et al., *Management of alkali burns : an 11-year retrospective review*. Ophthalmology, 2000. **107**(10): p. 1829-35.
- 693. Wagoner, M.D., *Chemical injuries of the eye: current concepts in pathophysiology and therapy*. Surv Ophthalmol, 1997. **41**(4): p. 275-313.
- 694. Pfister, R.R., *Chemical injuries of the eye*. Ophthalmology, 1983. **90**(10): p. 1246-53.
- 695. Sykes, R.A., M.M. Mani, and J.M. Hiebert, *Chemical burns: retrospective review.* J Burn Care Rehabil, 1986. **7**(4): p. 343-7.
- 696. Kuckelkorn, R., et al., *Poor prognosis of severe chemical and thermal eye burns: the need for adequate emergency care and primary prevention.* Int Arch Occup Environ Health, 1995. **67**(4): p. 281-4.
- 697. Kuckelkorn, R., et al., *Emergency treatment of chemical and thermal eye burns*. Acta Ophthalmol Scand, 2002. **80**(1): p. 4-10.
- 698. Hall, A.H. and H.I. Maibach, *Water decontamination of chemical skin/eye splashes: a critical review*. Cutan Ocul Toxicol, 2006. **25**(2): p. 67-83.
- 699. Saari, K.M., J. Leinonen, and E. Aine, *Management of chemical eye injuries with prolonged irrigation*. Acta Ophthalmol Suppl, 1984. **161**: p. 52-9.
- 700. Kompa, S., et al., *Comparison of emergency eye-wash products in burned porcine eyes*. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol, 2002. **240**(4): p. 308-13.
- 701. Davis, A.R., et al., *Topical steroid use in the treatment of ocular alkali burns*. Br J Ophthalmol, 1997. **81**(9): p. 732-4.
- 702. Lopez-Garcia, J.S., et al., *Analysis of corneal surface evolution after moderate alkaline burns by using impression cytology*. Cornea, 2006. **25**(8): p. 908-13.
- 703. Meller, D., et al., *Amniotic membrane transplantation for acute chemical or thermal burns*. Ophthalmology, 2000. **107**(5): p. 980-9; discussion 990.
- 704. Donshik, P.C., et al., *Effect of topical corticosteroids on ulceration in alkali-burned corneas*. Arch Ophthalmol, 1978. **96**(11): p. 2117-20.
- 705. Brent, B.D. and Z.A. Karcioglu, *Effect of topical corticosteroids on goblet-cell density in an alkali-burn model.* Ann Ophthalmol, 1991. **23**(6): p. 221-3.
- Hoffart, L., et al., *Inhibition of corneal neovascularization after alkali burn: comparison of different doses of bevacizumab in monotherapy or associated with dexamethasone.* Clin Experiment Ophthalmol, 2010. 38(4): p. 346-52.
- 707. Arora, R., D. Mehta, and V. Jain, *Amniotic membrane transplantation in acute chemical burns*. Eye (Lond), 2005. **19**(3): p. 273-8.
- Kobayashi, A., et al., *Temporary amniotic membrane patching for acute chemical burns*. Eye (Lond), 2003.
 17(2): p. 149-58.
- 709. Clare, G., et al., *Amniotic membrane transplantation for acute ocular burns.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev, 2012. **9**: p. CD009379.
- 710. Prabhasawat, P., et al., *Efficacy of amniotic membrane patching for acute chemical and thermal ocular burns.* J Med Assoc Thai, 2007. **90**(2): p. 319-26.
- 711. Barreiro, T.P., et al., *Comparative study of conjunctival limbal transplantation not associated with the use of amniotic membrane transplantation for treatment of total limbal deficiency secondary to chemical injury.* Cornea, 2014. **33**(7): p. 716-20.

- 712. Tamhane, A., et al., *Evaluation of amniotic membrane transplantation as an adjunct to medical therapy as compared with medical therapy alone in acute ocular burns.* Ophthalmology, 2005. **112**(11): p. 1963-9.
- 713. Tandon, R., et al., *Amniotic membrane transplantation as an adjunct to medical therapy in acute ocular burns.* Br J Ophthalmol, 2011. **95**(2): p. 199-204.
- 714. Schrage, N.F., et al., *Eye burns: an emergency and continuing problem.* Burns, 2000. 26(8): p. 689-99.
- 715. Golu, T., et al., *Pterygium: histological and immunohistochemical aspects*. Rom J Morphol Embryol, 2011. **52**(1): p. 153-8.
- 716. Talghini, S. and A. Shenasi, *Concomitant examination of inflammation and angiogenesis in the pathogenesis of primary moderate pterygium in a well-designed case-control study*. Pak J Biol Sci, 2013. **16**(19): p. 1046-50.
- 717. Wong, R., et al., *The ChromaTest, a digital color contrast sensitivity analyzer, for diabetic maculopathy: a pilot study.* BMC Ophthalmol, 2008. **8**: p. 15.
- 718. Frucht-Pery, J., S. Levinger, and H. Zauberman, *The effect of topical administration of indomethacin on symptoms in corneal scars and edema*. Am J Ophthalmol, 1991. **112**(2): p. 186-90.
- 719. Frucht-Pery, J., et al., *Topical indomethacin solution versus dexamethasone solution for treatment of inflamed pterygium and pinguecula: a prospective randomized clinical study.* Am J Ophthalmol, 1999. **127**(2): p. 148-52.
- 720. Ozgurhan, E.B., et al., *Topical application of bevacizumab as an adjunct to recurrent pterygium surgery*. Cornea, 2013. **32**(6): p. 835-8.
- 721. Global Initiative for Asthma, *Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention. Available at:* <u>http://www.ginasthma.org/local/uploads/files/GINA_Report_2014.pdf</u>. 2014.
- 722. Pereira, C., et al., *Specific immunotherapy for severe latex allergy*. Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol, 2003. **35**(6): p. 217-25.
- 723. Pereira, C., et al., Specific immunotherapy for occupational latex allergy. Allergy, 1999. 54(3): p. 291-3.
- 724. Golden, D.B., et al., *Discontinuing venom immunotherapy: extended observations*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 1998. **101**(3): p. 298-305.
- 725. Moffitt, J.E., et al., *Stinging insect hypersensitivity: a practice parameter update.* J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2004. **114**(4): p. 869-86.
- 726. de Jong, N., A. Vermeulen, and H. De Groot, Allergy to bumblebee venom: III. Immunotherapy follow-up study (safety and efficacy) in patients with occupational bumblebee venom anaphylaxis. Allergy, 1999. **54:**: p. 980-4.
- 727. Stern, A., B. Wuthrich, and G. Mullner, *Successful treatment of occupational allergy to bumblebee venom after failure with honeybee venom extract.* Allergy, 2000. **55**(1): p. 88-91.
- 728. Muller, U.R., *Bee venom allergy in beekeepers and their family members*. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol, 2005. **5**(4): p. 343-7.
- 729. Armentia, A., et al., *Evaluation of immune complexes after immunotherapy with wheat flour in bakers' asthma*. Ann Allergy, 1992. **69**(5): p. 441-4.
- 730. Armentia, A., et al., *Bakers' asthma: prevalence and evaluation of immunotherapy with a wheat flour extract.* Ann Allergy, 1990. **65**(4): p. 265-72.
- 731. Cirla, A.M., R.A. Lorenzini, and P.E. Cirla, *Specific immunotherapy and relocation in occupational allergic bakers*. G Ital Med Lav Ergon, 2007. **29**(3 Suppl): p. 443-5.
- 732. Cox, L. and J.R. Cohn, *Duration of allergen immunotherapy in respiratory allergy: when is enough, enough?* Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol, 2007. **98**(5): p. 416-26.
- 733. Beach, J., et al., *Diagnosis and management of work-related asthma*. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Summ), 2005(129): p. 1-8.